

October 2011

FEDERAL RESERVE BANK GOVERNANCE

Opportunities Exist to Broaden Director Recruitment Efforts and Increase Transparency

-U.S. Government Accountability Office





Highlights of GAO-12-18, a report to congressional addressees

Why GAO Did This Study

Events surrounding the 2007 financial crisis raised questions about the governance of the 12 Federal Reserve Banks (Reserve Banks), particularly the boards of directors' roles in activities related to supervision and regulation. The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act required GAO to review the governance of the Reserve Banks. This report (1) analyzes the level of diversity on the boards of directors and assesses the extent to which the process of identifying possible directors and appointing them results in diversity on the boards, (2) evaluates the effectiveness of policies and practices for identifying and managing conflicts of interest for Reserve Bank directors, and (3) compares Reserve Bank governance practices with the practices of selected organizations. To conduct this work, GAO reviewed bylaws, policies, and board minutes for each Reserve Bank, conducted a survey of directors who served in 2010, reviewed governance policies at comparable institutions, and interviewed officials from the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (Federal Reserve Board) and Reserve Banks, directors from each bank, and selected academics.

What GAO Recommends

GAO makes four recommendations to the Federal Reserve Board aimed at enhancing the diversity of the Reserve Bank boards, strengthening policies for managing conflicts of interest, and enhancing transparency related to board governance. The Federal Reserve Board agreed with GAO's recommendations and said that it believes all have merit and will work to implement them. The Reserve Banks also said that they will give serious consideration to implementing the recommendations.

View GAO-12-18 or key components. For more information, contact Orice Williams Brown at (202) 512-8678 or williamsO@gao.gov.

FEDERAL RESERVE BANK GOVERNANCE

Opportunities Exist to Broaden Director Recruitment Efforts and Increase Transparency

What GAO Found

The Federal Reserve Act requires each Reserve Bank to be governed by a nine-member board-three Class A directors elected by member banks to represent their interests, three Class B directors elected by member banks to represent the public, and three Class C directors that are appointed by the Federal Reserve Board to represent the public. The diversity of Reserve Bank boards was limited from 2006 to 2010. For example, in 2006 minorities accounted for 13 of 108 director positions, and in 2010 they accounted for 15 of 108 director positions. Specifically, in 2010 Reserve Bank directors included 78 white men, 15 white women, 12 minority men, and 3 minority women. According to the Federal Reserve Act, Class B and C directors are to be elected with due but not exclusive consideration to the interests of agriculture, commerce, industry, services, labor, and consumer representation. During this period, labor and consumer groups had less representation than other industries. In 2010, 56 of the 91 directors that responded to GAO's survey had financial markets experience. Reserve Banks generally review the current demographics of their boards and use a combination of personal networking and community outreach efforts to identify potential candidates for directors. Reserve Bank officials said that they generally limit their director search efforts to senior executives. GAO's analysis of Equal Employment Opportunity Commission data found that diversity among senior executives is generally limited. While some Reserve Banks recruit more broadly, GAO recommends that the Federal Reserve Board encourage all Reserve Banks to consider ways to help enhance the economic and demographic diversity of perspectives on the boards, including by broadening their potential candidate pool.

The Federal Reserve System mitigates and manages the actual and potential conflicts of interest by, among other things, defining the directors' roles and responsibilities, monitoring adherence to conflict-of-interest policies, and establishing internal controls to identify and manage potential conflicts. Reserve Bank directors are often affiliated with a variety of financial firms, nonprofits, and private and public companies. As the financial services industry evolves, more companies are becoming involved in financial services or interconnected with financial institutions. As a result, directors of all three classes can have ties to the financial sector. While these relationships may not give rise to actual conflicts of interest, they can create the appearance of a conflict as illustrated by the participation of director-affiliated institutions in the Federal Reserve System's emergency programs. Moreover, some critics question the Reserve Bank boards' involvement in supervision and regulation activities. GAO found that directors have a limited role in these activities, including voting on certain budget and personnel actions. Moreover, some Reserve Banks have further restricted the responsibilities of Class A directors, prohibiting their involvement in any personnel or budget decisions for this function. However, most Reserve Banks' bylaws do not document the role of the board in supervision and regulation. To increase transparency, GAO recommends that all Reserve Banks clearly document the directors' role in supervision and regulation activities in their bylaws. One option for addressing directors' conflicts of interest is for the Reserve Bank to request a waiver from the Federal Reserve Board, which, according to officials, is rare. Most Reserve Banks do not have a process for formally requesting such waivers. To strengthen governance practices and increase transparency, GAO recommends that the Reserve Banks develop and document a process for requesting conflict waivers for directors. Further, GAO recommends that the Reserve Banks publicly disclose when a waiver is granted, as appropriate.

The Federal Reserve System's governance practices are generally similar to those of selected central banks and comparable institutions such as bank holding companies and have similar selection procedures for directors. Further, most have similar accountability measures such as annual performance reviews. However, Reserve Bank governance practices tend to be less transparent than those of these institutions. For instance, comparable organizations make information on their board committees and ethics policies available on their websites; most Reserve banks do not. To further enhance transparency of Reserve Bank governance, GAO recommends that Reserve Banks make public key governance documents, such as bylaws, ethics policies, and committee assignments, by posting them to their websites.

Contents

Letter		1
	Scope and Methodology	2
	Background	6
	Federal Reserve Bank Board Economic and Demographic Diversity Is Limited, and More Could Be Done to Identify Diverse	
	Candidates	17
	Additional Steps Needed to Manage Directors' Actual or Potential	
	Conflicts of Interest and Outside Affiliations	32
	Although Most Federal Reserve Banks' Governance Practices Are Consistent with Those of Other Organizations, Board	
	Governance Could Be More Transparent	58
	Conclusions	69
	Recommendations for Executive Action	71
	Agency Comments and Our Evaluation	72
Appendix I	Federal Reserve Emergency Programs and Reserve Bank Involvement	75
Appendix II	Federal Reserve Bank Director Survey Methodology and Results	100
Appendix III	Federal Reserve Banks Board Committees	108
Appendix IV	Ten Largest Domestic Bank Holding Companies by	
	Total Asset Size as of December 31, 2010	113
Appendix V	Comments from the Board of Governors of the	
	Federal Reserve System	114
Appendix VI	Comments from the Federal Reserve Banks	118
Appendix VII	GAO Contact and Staff Acknowledgments	120

Tables

Table 1: Requirements for Selection of Directors, after the	
Enactment of the Dodd-Frank Act	13
Table 2: Comparison of Key Ethics Policies for Board Members at	
Selected Central Banks and the U.S. Federal Reserve	
Banks, as of July 2011	47
Table 3: Comparison of Key Ethics Policies for FINRA, FHLBanks,	
Large Bank Holding Companies, and the U.S. Federal	
Reserve Banks, as of July 2011	49
Table 4: Size and Composition of Boards of Directors of Federal	
Reserve Banks Compared with Those of Selected Entities,	
as of August 2011	59
Table 5: List of Federal Reserve Emergency Programs and Reserve	
Banks That Conducted the Operations	76
Table 6: Summary of Extensions for Broad-Based Emergency	
Programs	98
Table 7: Federal Reserve Banks Board Committees	108

Figures

Figure 1: Federal Reserve Districts, Reserve Banks, and Their	
Branch Locations	8
Figure 2: Election and Appointment of Reserve Bank President and	
Directors	11
Figure 3: Selection of Federal Open Market Committee Members	15
Figure 4: Trends in Federal Reserve Bank Head Office Directors by	
Gender, Race and Ethnicity, and Industry, 2006-2010	19
Figure 5: Trends in Federal Reserve Bank Branch Director	
Diversity by Gender, Race and Ethnicity, and Industry,	
2006-2010	21
Figure 6: Federal Reserve Data on Head Office Directors' Gender	
and Race and Ethnicity by Federal Reserve District, 2006-	
2010	22
Figure 7: Comparison of EEO-1 and Head Office Federal Reserve	
Diversity Data by Gender and Race and Ethnicity, 2007-	
2009	24
Figure 8: Trends in EEO-1 Data by Gender and Race and Ethnicity	
for Banking Compared with Other Industries at the Senior	
Management Level by Banking and Nonbanking Sectors,	
2007 through 2009	25

Figure 9: EEO-1 Data by Gender, Race and Ethnicity for all	
Industries at the Senior-Management Level by Federal	
Reserve District Territories, 2009	27
Figure 10: Effect of Goldman-Sachs's Transition to a Bank Holding	
Company on FRBNY Board, from January 1, 2008, through	
May 7, 2009	35
Figure 11: Timeline of Federal Reserve Emergency Actions,	
December 2007–June 2010	78

Abbreviations

ABCP ABS AIG AIGFP AMLF	asset-backed commercial paper asset-backed security American International Group, Inc. AIG Financial Products Corp. Asset-Backed Commercial Paper Money Market Mutual Fund Liquidity Facility
CDO	collateralized debt obligation
CEO	chief executive officer
CFPB	Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection
CPFF	Commercial Paper Funding Facility
DMLF	Direct Money Market Mutual Fund Lending Facility
ECB EEO-1	European Central Bank Employer Information Report
EEOC	Equal Employment Opportunity Commission
FINRA	Financial Industry Regulation Authority
FOMC	Federal Open Market Committee
FRAM	Federal Reserve Administrative Manual
FRBNY	Federal Reserve Bank of New York
FRBR	Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond
FSOC	Financial Stability Oversight Council
JPMC	JP Morgan Chase & Co.
MBS	mortgage-backed security
MMMF	money market mutual funds
MMIFF	Money Market Investor Funding Facility
NAICS	North American Industrial Classification System
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
RBA	Reserve Bank of Australia
RBOPS RCF	Division of Reserve Bank Operations and Payment Systems revolving credit facility
RMBS	residential mortgage-backed security
SEC	Securities and Exchange Commission
SPF	securities borrowing facility
SPV	special-purpose vehicle
TAF	Term Action Facility
TALF	Term Asset-Backed Securities Loan Facility

This is a work of the U.S. government and is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. The published product may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without further permission from GAO. However, because this work may contain copyrighted images or other material, permission from the copyright holder may be necessary if you wish to reproduce this material separately.



United States Government Accountability Office Washington, DC 20548

October 19, 2011

Congressional Addressees

The Federal Reserve System, which consists of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (Federal Reserve Board), 12 regional Reserve Banks, and the Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC), played a key role in the U.S. government's policy responses to the financial crisis that began in the summer of 2007.¹ From late 2007 through mid-2010, Reserve Banks provided more than a trillion dollars in emergency loans to the financial sector to address strains in credit markets and to avert failures of individual institutions believed to be a threat to the stability of the financial system. The scale and nature of this assistance amounted to a rare and significant exercise of the Federal Reserve System's emergency powers as a lender of last resort.

Unlike the Federal Reserve Board, the Reserve Banks are not federal agencies. Each Reserve Bank is a federally chartered corporation with a board of directors. The membership of each Reserve Bank board includes three directors who represent commercial banks that are members of the Federal Reserve System and six directors who represent the public. During the crisis, the Federal Reserve System came under scrutiny when it became known that several institutions that borrowed from the emergency programs were affiliated with Reserve Bank directors. Some Members of Congress and others raised concerns about actual or potential conflicts of interest that may have been created by these affiliations and the possibility that some directors had exerted influence on the emergency lending activities of the Reserve Banks. More broadly, the Reserve Bank board structure that includes three directors who represent banks supervised by the Reserve Banks caused public concern about the governance of the banks, including the selection and roles of directors and the extent to which directors elected to represent the public do so. For example, questions were raised as to whether the directors representing member banks had any involvement in the Reserve Banks' role in supervising member banks.

¹For this report, we use Federal Reserve Board to refer to the federal agency and Federal Reserve System to refer collectively to the federal agency and the Reserve Banks.

Title XI of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank Act) contains provisions intended to enhance transparency and accountability related to the Federal Reserve System's emergency lending activities as well as a change to the elections of Reserve Bank presidents. As part of this title, the Dodd-Frank Act directed us to review various issues related to the governance of the Federal Reserve Banks.² Accordingly, the objectives of this report are to (1) analyze the level of diversity on the boards of directors and assess the extent to which the process of identifying possible directors and appointing them results in diversity on the boards of directors, (2) evaluate the effectiveness of policies and practices for identifying and managing conflicts of interest for Reserve bank directors, and (3) compare Federal Reserve bank governance practices with the practices of selected organizations.³ Appendix I reports on the Reserve Banks' involvement in the establishment and implementation of the emergency programs.

Scope and Methodology To determine the extent to which the current system of appointing Reserve Bank directors effectively ensures that they are elected without discrimination on the basis of race, creed, color, sex, or national origin, and that, for some directors, they are elected with due but not exclusive consideration to the interests of agriculture, commerce, industry, services, labor, and consumers, as required by section 4 of the Federal Reserve Act, we reviewed the Reserve Banks' processes for identification, nomination, and selection of directors. We created a descriptive profile of the demographic characteristics, including race, gender, and industry, of Reserve Bank directors from 2006 through 2010. We used (1) the demographic characteristics of directors obtained from the Federal Reserve Board, and (2) the demographic characteristics of executives who would likely meet the criteria for potential directors using Equal

²Pub. L. No. 111-203, Title XI, § 1109(b), 121 Stat. 1376, 2127 (2010).

³This report addresses the governance practices involving Reserve Bank directors. The governance structure of the Federal Reserve System, that is, the structure of a central, governmental agency, with 12 regional Reserve Banks, is not within the scope of this report.

Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) data.⁴ We determined whether the diversity trends of Reserve Bank directors are generally consistent with the trends illustrated by the Employer Information Report (EEO-1) data.⁵ The EEO-1 data represent the pool of potential candidates with the requisite skills and experience from which the Federal Reserve generally selects directors. To assess the reliability of the Federal Reserve Board data, we interviewed Federal Reserve Board staff about steps they took to maintain the integrity and reliability of the database. To assess the reliability of the EEO-1 data, we reviewed documentation related to the data and interviewed EEOC officials on the methods used to collect data and checks performed to ensure data reliability. We believe that these data are sufficiently reliable for the purpose of our analysis. Also, to obtain baseline information from all current directors on a cross section of high-level issues, we conducted a web-based survey of the 105 Reserve Bank directors that served for the full year during 2010. Of the 105 directors surveyed, 91 responded to the survey overall. However, the number of responses to individual questions varied. We collected and summarized additional information from these directors, such as their other board positions, prior employment, and education. For a full description of the methodology of the survey, see appendix II. To assess the extent to which Federal Reserve Banks' processes for identification, nomination, and selection of directors result in diversity, we reviewed documentation on the process and interviewed officials from Federal Reserve Board and Reserve Banks.

To examine whether there are actual or potential conflicts of interests created when certain directors of Reserve Banks are elected by member banks, we reviewed and summarized the selection procedures for

⁵Generally, private employers with fewer than 100 employees and certain federal contractors who employ fewer than 50 employees are not required to submit EEO-1 reports to EEOC. Although the EEO-1 data do not include these smaller firms, the data do allow for the characterization of workforce diversity for firms with 100 or more employees because of EEOC's annual reporting requirement.

⁴Beginning in 2007, EEOC divided the "officials and managers" category into two subcategories. The first one, "executive/senior level officials and managers," includes individuals who reside in the highest levels of organizations and plan, direct and formulate policies, set strategy, and provide the overall direction of enterprises/organizations for the development and delivery of products or services, within the parameters approved by boards of directors or other governing bodies. The second category, "first/mid-level officials and managers," includes individuals who receive directions from executive/senior level management, and oversee and direct the delivery of products, services, or functions at group, regional, or divisional levels of organizations.

Reserve Bank directors, and their roles and responsibilities identified in current Federal Reserve System documents and those included in the Federal Reserve Act. We surveyed all Reserve Bank directors who served for the full year during 2010 to collect their perception of their roles and responsibilities and to determine whether they are aware of any past or present conflict of interest. Also, we interviewed selected Reserve Bank directors and Reserve Bank officials from each Reserve Bank to collect information on directors' roles and responsibilities, any conflict of interest concerns and procedures for addressing the appearance of or actual conflicts, and potential changes to Reserve Bank governance. Specifically, at each of the 12 Reserve Banks, we interviewed at least one director from each class (A, B, and C), all board and audit committee chairs, the president, general counsel or ethics officer, and corporate secretary. In addition, to identify any discussions on instances of potential or actual conflicts of interest during board meetings, we reviewed board minutes for each of the 12 Reserve Banks for the period of November 2007 to October 2010. To address the Reserve Bank directors' involvement in the establishment and operations of the Federal Reserve emergency programs, we leveraged our work from the recent Federal Reserve Emergency Program review, which conducted related work under the Dodd-Frank Act.⁶ We reviewed relevant documents from each of the 12 Reserve Banks, including bylaws, procurement policies and any policies for waivers to the Federal Reserve Board's policies on director eligibility, gualifications, and rotation. We also reviewed Reserve Bank board minutes to help determine the extent of the directors' involvement in any activities associated with the emergency programs and supervision and regulation matters. In addition, we interviewed a sample of directors and relevant Reserve Bank officials as noted earlier to determine the directors' involvement in the implementation and operation of the programs.

To compare Reserve Bank governance practices with the practices of selected organizations, we reviewed literature on current best practices for governance within major financial institutions, analyzed similar institutions in other countries or the United States to evaluate best practices or alternative structures, and relied on the results of our work

⁶The Dodd-Frank Act also required us to report on issues related to the Federal Reserve emergency programs. See GAO, *Federal Reserve System: Opportunities Exist to Strengthen Policies and Processes for Managing Emergency Assistance*, GAO-11-696 (Washington, D.C.: July 21, 2011).

done for our other objectives. We examined how the Federal Reserve System's governance practices compare with relevant practices at selected foreign central banks, a self-regulatory organization, a government-sponsored enterprise, and several large bank holding companies. For the foreign central banks, we contacted officials at foreign central banks in Australia, Canada, the European Union, and the United Kingdom to obtain governance documents and we analyzed governance policies and practices in order to compare governance of the Reserve Banks with governance of other foreign central banks. We spoke to academic researchers knowledgeable about central bank governance. We verified the accuracy of our analysis and interpretations of governance documents by requesting comments on the relevant draft sections from each of the central banks included in our review. We incorporated their comments as appropriate. For the self-regulatory organization and the government-sponsored entity, we identified and analyzed the relevant governance policies and practices of the Financial Industry Regulation Authority (FINRA) and for the cooperative system, the Federal Home Loan Banks (FHLBanks). To verify the accuracy of our analysis, we spoke with officials from these entities and obtained comments on the relevant sections of a draft of this report. Finally, for private corporations, we interviewed an industry group and some academic researchers knowledgeable about corporate governance and analyzed the governance practices of the 10 largest bank holding companies and compared them with the governance policies and practices of the previously discussed organizations.

We conducted this performance audit from July 2010 to July 2011 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

Background

Overview of the Federal Reserve System	The Federal Reserve Act of 1913 established the Federal Reserve System as the country's central bank. ⁷ The Federal Reserve Act made the Federal Reserve System an independent, decentralized bank to better ensure that monetary policy would be based on a broad economic perspective from all regions of the country. The Federal Reserve Board has defined the term "monetary policy" as the actions undertaken by a central bank, such as the Federal Reserve System, to influence the availability and cost of money and credit to help promote national economic goals. The Federal Reserve Act of 1913, as amended, gave the Federal Reserve System responsibility for setting monetary policy. The Federal Reserve System consists of three parts: the Federal Reserve
	Board, Reserve Banks, and the FOMC. The Federal Reserve Board is a federal agency located in Washington, D.C., that is responsible for maintaining the stability of financial markets; supervising financial, bank, and thrift holding companies, state-chartered banks that are members of the Federal Reserve System, and the U.S. operations of foreign banking organizations; establishing monetary policy; and providing general supervision over the operations of the Reserve Banks. ⁸ The top officials of the Federal Reserve Board are the seven members of the Board of Governors who are appointed by the President and confirmed by the U.S. Senate. Although the Federal Reserve Board is required to report to Congress on its activities, its decisions do not have to be approved by either the President or Congress.

⁷Federal Reserve Act of 1913, Pub. L. No. 63-43, 38 Stat. 251 (1913).

⁸The Dodd-Frank Act includes provisions that expand the roles and responsibilities of the Federal Reserve System. First, the act authorizes the Federal Reserve Board to regulate nonbank financial companies designated as systemically significant by a newly created Financial Stability Oversight Council (FSOC) and to regulate savings and loan holding companies (thrift holding companies). FSOC is chaired by the Secretary of the Treasury, and its membership includes the Chairman of the Federal Reserve Board and the heads of the other federal financial regulators. In addition, the act consolidated many federal consumer protection responsibilities into a new independent Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection within the Federal Reserve System. The bureau is commonly known as CFPB. However, CFPB is an independent agency not under the supervision or direction of the Federal Reserve Board.

The Federal Reserve System is divided into 12 districts. Each district is served by a regional Reserve Bank. Most Reserve Banks have one or more branches, adding to a total of 24 branches (see fig. 1). Unlike the Federal Reserve Board, the Reserve Banks are not federal agencies. Each Reserve Bank is a federally chartered corporation with a board of directors and member banks who are stockholders in the Reserve Banks. The membership of each Reserve Bank board of directors is determined by a process established by statute that is intended to ensure that each bank board represents both the public and member banks in its district. Under the Federal Reserve Act, Reserve Banks are subject to the general supervision of the Federal Reserve Board. The Federal Reserve Board has delegated some of its supervisory responsibilities to the Reserve Banks, such as responsibility for examining bank and thrift holding companies and state member banks under rules, regulations and policies established by the Federal Reserve Board. The Federal Reserve Act authorizes the Reserve Banks to make discount window loans, in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed by the Federal Reserve Board, and to execute monetary policy operations at the direction of the FOMC.⁹ The Reserve Banks also provide payment services, such as check clearing and wire transfers, to depository institutions, the Treasury, and government agencies. The provision of these payment services to depository institutions is subject to the full cost recovery provisions of the Monetary Control Act of 1980. Reserve Banks also provide cash services to financial institutions and serve as the Treasury's Fiscal Agent.

⁹The FOMC has directed the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (FRBNY) to execute monetary policy operations.



Figure 1: Federal Reserve Districts, Reserve Banks, and Their Branch Locations

Sources: Federal Reserve Board (data); MapInfo (map).

The FOMC plays a central role in the execution of the Federal Reserve System's monetary policy mandate to promote price stability and maximum employment. The FOMC consists of the seven members of the Board of Governors, the President of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, and four other Reserve Bank presidents who serve on a rotating basis. All presidents participate in FOMC deliberations even though not all vote. The FOMC is responsible for directing open market operations to influence the total amount of money and credit available in the economy. The Federal Reserve Bank of New York (FRBNY) carries out FOMC directives on open market operations by engaging in purchases or sales of certain securities, typically U.S. government securities, in the secondary market.

	The Federal Reserve Board and the Reserve Banks are subject to an annual independent audit of their financial statements by a public accounting firm. ¹⁰ In addition, each Reserve Bank has an internal auditor who is responsible to the Reserve Bank's board of directors. The Federal Reserve Board's Division of Reserve Bank Operations and Payment Systems (RBOPS) performs periodic examinations on 4 of 12 Reserve Banks each year on a range of oversight activities and assesses compliance with Federal Reserve Board policies. The Federal Reserve Board's Office of Inspector General also conducts audits, reviews, and investigations related to the Federal Reserve Board's programs and operations, including those programs and operations that have been delegated to the Reserve Banks by the Federal Reserve Board. Finally, we may conduct a number of reviews each year to look at specific aspects of the Federal Reserve System's activities.
	All national banks—U.S. commercial banks that are chartered by the federal government through the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency—are required to be members of the Federal Reserve System. Banks chartered by the states may elect to become members of the Federal Reserve System if they meet certain requirements set by the Federal Reserve Board. Member banks must subscribe to stock in their Reserve Bank in an amount that is related to the size of the member bank. Holding of the stock does not confer any rights of ownership and the member bank may not sell or trade the Federal Reserve district bank stock. Member banks receive a statutory fixed annual dividend of 6 percent on their stock and may vote for six of the nine members of the board of directors of the Reserve Bank.
Reserve Bank and Branch Structure	Governance can be broadly described as the process of providing leadership, direction, and accountability in fulfilling an organization's mission, meeting objectives, and providing stewardship of an organization's resources. Because the Reserve Bank boards are supervised by the Federal Reserve Board and their authority is constrained by both provisions of the Federal Reserve Act and guidelines

¹⁰Section 11B of the Federal Reserve Act, codified at 12 U.S.C. § 248b.

of the Federal Reserve Board, among other things, they are not typical corporate boards of directors. However, Reserve Bank boards are the focal points of the Reserve Banks' governance framework that also includes the broad oversight of the Federal Reserve Board.

The Federal Reserve Act established nine-member boards of directors to govern each of the 12 Reserve Banks. Each board is split equally into three classes. Class A directors represent the member banks, while Class B and C directors represent the public with, as required by the Federal Reserve Act, "due but not exclusive consideration to the interests of agriculture, commerce, industry, services, labor, and consumers." As required by the Federal Reserve Act, six of the nine directors, Class A and Class B, are elected by the member banks, and the remaining three, the Class C directors, are appointed by the Federal Reserve Board. Figure 2 illustrates how the directors of the Reserve Banks are chosen and their roles in appointing Reserve Bank presidents.¹¹

¹¹Until recently, the Federal Reserve Act provided that Reserve Bank presidents were to be appointed by their boards of directors, with Federal Reserve Board approval. Pursuant to section 1107 of the Dodd-Frank Act, however, only Class B and Class C directors are authorized to appoint Reserve Bank presidents, again with the approval of the Federal Reserve Board. Because section 4(4) of the Federal Reserve Act requires the first vice president to be appointed in the same manner as the president, this requirements also applies to first vice presidents.



Figure 2: Election and Appointment of Reserve Bank President and Directors

Source: GAO presentation of Federal Reserve Board information.

The process for selecting the boards of directors of the Reserve Banks is outlined in the Federal Reserve Act. The Federal Reserve Act requires that the member banks of each Reserve Bank District be classified into three groups consisting of banks of similar capitalization—small, medium, and large.¹² Each group is responsible for one of the three Class A directorships and one of the three Class B directorships. Each member bank in the group may nominate a candidate for an open directorship within its group. Once nominations close, each member bank in the group receives the list of nominees and a ballot to vote in the election. Directors serve 3-year terms, and the terms are staggered so that one position in each class becomes vacant every year. Although directors can be reelected to an indefinite number of terms, the Federal Reserve Board

¹²The groups' capitalization ranges are determined by each Reserve Bank and vary among Reserve Banks.

recommends that the Reserve Banks follow a limit of two consecutive appointments for a given director.

The Federal Reserve Act does not prescribe how the Federal Reserve Board is to identify and appoint the candidates for Class C directors. Pursuant to the Federal Reserve Act, one Class C director, who must be a person of "tested banking experience," is designated by the Federal Reserve Board as chairman of the Reserve Bank board of directors, and the Federal Reserve Board also designates another Class C director as deputy chairman. The Federal Reserve Act provides that the chairman of the board, like all Class C directors, cannot be an officer, director, employee, or stockholder of any bank. The Federal Reserve Board policy extends this limitation to prevent affiliations by Class B and Class C directors with any thrift, credit union, bank holding company, foreign bank, and other similar institutions and affiliates. Additionally, the Federal Reserve Act states that Class C directors must have been residents of the district of their Reserve Bank for 2 years prior to appointment. As with the election of Class A and B directors, the appointment of Class C directors is staggered so that one director position becomes vacant every year. The Federal Reserve Board has established a policy of appointing a given Class C director to no more than two terms. See table 1 for a detailed description of the requirements for selection of all three classes of directors.

Table 1: Requirements for Selection of Directors, after the Enactment of the Dodd-
Frank Act

Director class	De	scription of the requirements for selection
A	•	Elected by member banks
	•	Elected, without discrimination on the basis of race, creed, color, sex or national origin, to represent the stockholding banks
	•	May be an officer, director, or employee of a member bank
В	•	Elected by member banks
	•	Elected, without discrimination on the basis of race, creed, color, sex, or national origin, to represent the public
	•	Chosen with due but not exclusive consideration to the interests of agriculture, commerce, industry, services, labor, and consumers
	•	Cannot be officers, directors, or employees of any bank
С	•	Appointed by the Federal Reserve Board
	•	Chosen, without discrimination on the basis of race, creed, color, sex, or national origin, to represent the public
	•	Chosen with due but not exclusive consideration to the interests of agriculture, commerce, industry, services, labor and consumers
	•	Cannot be officers, directors, employees, or stockholders of any bank or bank, financial, or thrift holding company, although the chair must be a person of "tested banking experience ^a
	•	Must have been residents of the district of their Reserve Bank for 2 years prior to appointment

Source: GAO summary of Federal Reserve System information.

Notes: Section 4(13) of the Federal Reserve Act provides that no Members of Congress shall be directors of Reserve Bank boards.

^aThe chairs and deputy chairs of the Reserve Bank boards are appointed from this class by the Federal Reserve Board.

Nine of the 12 Reserve Banks also have branch offices, which provide banking services, and in some cases house supervision employees. The branches are subject to the governance of the Reserve Banks and their boards of directors, as well as to oversight from the Federal Reserve Board. Twenty-three of the 24 branches have boards of seven directors, four of which are appointed by the Reserve Bank and three of which are appointed by the Federal Reserve Board. One branch (Helena) comprised five directors, three of which are appointed by the Reserve Bank, and two of which are appointed by the Federal Reserve Board. The chair of the branch office board is selected from the members appointed by the Federal Reserve Board. This report focuses primarily on the governance practices at the Reserve Banks and not branch offices.

Roles and Responsibilities of Reserve Bank Directors	The three principal functions of Reserve Bank directors are to (1) participate in the formulation of national monetary and credit policies; (2) oversee the general management of the Reserve Bank, including its branches; and (3) act as a link between the Federal Reserve Bank and the community.
	The Reserve Bank boards have the ability to influence the nation's monetary policy in three primary ways (1) by providing input on economic conditions to the Reserve Bank president, which is used by some presidents in their reports to the FOMC about regional economic conditions; (2) by participating in the establishment every 2 weeks of a discount rate recommendation sent to the Federal Reserve Board for its consideration; and (3) for the Class B and C directors, by appointing the Reserve Bank president and first vice president.
	• Beige Books: The Reserve Banks publish a <i>Summary of</i> <i>Commentary on Current Economic Conditions</i> , informally known as the Beige Book, eight times per year. The Beige Book is a compilation of reports on current district economic conditions filed by each Reserve Bank drawing on its network of district contacts. Reserve Banks' directors' observations on the economy may be included in the Reserve Bank's Beige Book report. The Reserve Banks take turns summarizing economic information for the Beige Book and writing the report's summary. The FOMC and the Federal Reserve Board use the Beige Books—which are published 2 weeks before each FOMC meeting—to inform their decisions on discount rates and the Federal Funds Rate target. ¹³
	• Discount rate: The Federal Reserve Act authorizes each Reserve Bank to establish, subject to review and determination by the Federal Reserve Board, discount rates. ¹⁴ The statute provides that each Reserve Bank shall establish such rates every 14 days or more often if deemed necessary by the Federal Reserve Board. Reserve Bank directors typically conduct a conference call every 14 days, unless they are holding an in-person meeting, to vote on the discount rate.

¹³The Federal Funds Rate is the interest rate at which depository institutions lend balances to each other overnight.

¹⁴The discount rate is the interest rate charged to commercial banks and other depository institutions on loans they receive from their regional Reserve Bank's discount window.

The rate established by the Reserve Bank must be approved by the Federal Reserve Board.

• Reserve Bank president: Each Reserve Bank board's Class B and Class C directors appoint, with the approval of the Federal Reserve Board, the president of their Reserve Bank. The president of the Reserve Bank uses the information (s)he gathers from the Reserve Bank's board of directors, research department, and a variety of other sources to influence monetary policy through (her)his position on the FOMC. The FOMC sets the Federal Funds Rate target and monitors and directs the Open Market Operations necessary to achieve that rate. All of the 12 Reserve Bank presidents attend and participate in deliberations at each meeting of the FOMC. As noted earlier, the president of FRBNY has a permanent voting position and the other 11 presidents rotate, on an annual basis, among four voting positions on the FOMC. Figure 3 illustrates how the members of the FOMC are selected.

Figure 3: Selection of Federal Open Market Committee Members



Source: GAO presentation of Federal Reserve Board information.

Pursuant to the Federal Reserve Act, the operations of each Reserve Bank are to be conducted under the supervision and control of its board of directors. The Reserve Bank directors have similar operational roles

and responsibilities of directors of most private corporations, subject to some limitations imposed by the Federal Reserve Act or the Federal Reserve System. Reserve Bank boards of directors are authorized to appoint officers and to define their duties, and to prescribe bylaws under which the Reserve Banks' general business may be conducted.¹⁵ The Federal Reserve Act charges each board of directors with administering the affairs of the Reserve Bank "fairly and impartially and without discrimination in favor of or against any member bank or banks." The directors approve the bank and bank branches' budgets and evaluate the performance of key leadership.¹⁶ Except for Class A directors, the directors also choose the president and first vice president.¹⁷ The boards of directors also supervise both the internal and external audits of their Reserve Bank. For the external audit, the Federal Reserve Board appoints, sets compensation for, and evaluates the bank's external auditor. The directors do not oversee the Reserve Banks' supervisory activities of their member banks. The Reserve Banks' boards of directors use committees to help oversee the operations of the Reserve Banks and their branches. The Federal Reserve Board requires all Reserve Banks to have a standing audit committee and also, as needed, a search committee for the selection and appointment of a president. Various other committees are used by the Reserve Banks including budget and governance committees (app. III provides additional information on the committees at each of the Reserve Banks). Finally, directors serve as a link between the Federal Reserve System and private sector and the community. According to Federal Reserve Board documents, this link is intended, in part, to provide the viewpoints of people with diverse backgrounds and experience that is useful in the formulation of national monetary policies and the oversight of Reserve Bank operations.

¹⁵The Federal Reserve Act also authorizes the Federal Reserve Board to remove any officer or director of a Reserve Bank.

¹⁶The Federal Reserve Board must also approve the budget of each Reserve Bank pursuant to the requirement that it exercise general supervision over each Reserve Bank.

¹⁷Until recently, the Federal Reserve Act provided that Reserve Bank presidents were to be appointed by their boards of directors, with Federal Reserve Board approval. However, pursuant to section 1107 of the Dodd-Frank Act, only Class B and Class C directors are authorized to appoint Reserve Bank presidents, again with the approval of the Federal Reserve Board.

Financial Crisis and Federal Reserve Emergency Programs	The recent financial crisis that began around mid-2007 was the most severe that the United States has experienced since the Great Depression. A number of financial institutions were threatened with failure and some failed. The crisis also affected businesses and individuals, who found it increasingly difficult to obtain credit as cash-strapped banks held on to their assets. By late summer of 2008, the potential ramifications of the financial crisis included the continued failure of financial institutions, increased losses of individual wealth, reduced corporate investments, and further tightening of credit that would exacerbate the emerging global economic slowdown that was beginning to take shape.
	Between late 2007 and early 2009, the Federal Reserve Board created more than a dozen new emergency programs to stabilize financial markets and authorized the Reserve Banks to provide financial assistance to avert the failures of a few individual institutions. In many cases, the decisions by the Federal Reserve Board, the FOMC, and the Reserve Banks about the authorization of, the initial terms of, and implementation of the Federal Reserve System's emergency assistance were made over the course of only days or weeks as the Federal Reserve Board sought to act quickly to address rapidly deteriorating market conditions. FRBNY implemented most of these emergency activities under authorization from the Federal Reserve Board. (See app. I for more information on the emergency programs and the Reserve Banks' involvement in their implementation).
Federal Reserve Bank Board Economic and Demographic Diversity Is Limited, and More Could Be Done to Identify Diverse Candidates	According to the U.S. Census Bureau, the U.S. population has become more racially and ethnically diverse in the last 10 years. Between 2000 and 2010, the Asian population experienced the fastest rate of growth and the white population experienced the slowest rate of growth. In the 2010 Census, 97 percent of all respondents (299.7 million) reported only one race. ¹⁸ The largest group reported was white (223.6 million), accounting for 72 percent of all people living in the United States. The African-American population was 38.9 million and represented 13 percent of the total population. There were 2.9 million respondents who indicated American Indian and Alaska Native (0.9 percent). Approximately 14.7 million (about 5 percent of all respondents) identified their race as Asian. In 2010, there were 50.5 million Hispanics in the United States,

¹⁸Individuals who responded to the question on race by indicating only one race are included in the race-alone population or the groups that reported only one race category.

composing 16 percent of the total population. Between 2000 and 2010, the Hispanic population grew by 43 percent—rising from 35.3 million in 2000, when this group made up 13 percent of the total population. The non-Hispanic population grew relatively slower over the decade, about 5 percent.

The Federal Reserve Act of 1913 as enacted did not include demographic diversity requirements. The act specified that the three Class A directors were to be chosen by and be representative of the stockholding banks. Further, the three Class B directors were to be actively engaged in their district in commerce, agriculture, or some other industrial pursuit, and the three Class C directors were appointed by the Federal Reserve Board. The Federal Reserve Reform Act of 1977 amended the Federal Reserve Act to add the present antidiscrimination requirements and to expand the economic diversity provisions to agriculture, commerce, industry, services, labor, and consumer representation for Class B and C directors.¹⁹ According to the legislative history of the Reform Act, these changes were made to help broaden Reserve Bank board representation to include women and minorities, as well as industries and other interest groups.

The Federal Reserve Board maintains a database of current and past directors that is used to track demographic information voluntarily provided by directors. Information in this database is entered by the individual Reserve Banks and managed by the Federal Reserve Board. We analyzed demographic characteristics of bank (head office) and branch directors who served at some time during 2006 through 2010 to present a profile of director demographic characteristics.²⁰

Figure 4 shows the representation of head office directors from 2006 through 2010 using Federal Reserve Board data. Over the 5-year period, we found that generally the representation of women and minority head office directors has remained limited. For example, in 2006, minorities accounted for 13 of 108 director positions; and in 2010 they accounted for 15 of 108 director positions. More specifically, in 2010, head office

¹⁹Pub. L. No. 95-188, §202, 91 Stat. 1387 (1977).

²⁰We removed duplicate observations for directors that served for more than one year during this time frame to create a dataset of unique directors for the purposes of this analysis.

directors comprised 78 white men, 15 white women, 12 minority men, and 3 minority women.



Figure 4: Trends in Federal Reserve Bank Head Office Directors by Gender, Race and Ethnicity, and Industry, 2006-2010

Source: Federal Reserve Board.

Note: The figure includes all directors that served during the calendar year. Directors who served multiple years during this time frame were removed to create a dataset of unique directors for the purposes of this analysis.

We also analyzed the total number of female and minority directors serving from 2006 through 2010 by class.²¹ As shown in figure 4, Class B and Class C directors were more diverse in gender, race, and ethnicity than Class A directors. For example, of the 202 directors serving from 2006 through 2010, 7 Class A directors were female, while there were approximately twice that number of female Class B and C directors, respectively—16 Class B and 16 Class C female directors. Furthermore, there were 3 minority Class A directors, while there were 14 minority Class B and 9 minority Class C directors. Several Reserve Bank officials we spoke with told us that Class B and Class C directors are a source of both economic and demographic diversity on Reserve Bank boards.

Figure 5 shows the representation of branch directors from 2006 through 2010. Over the 5-year period we also found that generally, the representation of women and minority branch directors has also remained limited. For example, in 2006, minorities accounted for 40 of 182 director positions; and in 2010, they accounted for 30 of the 164 positions.²² More specifically, in 2010, branch directors comprised 97 white men, 37 white women, 22 minority men, and 8 minority women.

²¹Although there is no legal limit on the number of terms a director can serve, the Federal Reserve Board recommends that the Reserve Banks follow a limit of two consecutive appointments for a given director. For this analysis, we counted directors serving multiple years only once.

²²One branch (Buffalo) closed during this period, which decreased the number of branch directors.



Figure 5: Trends in Federal Reserve Bank Branch Director Diversity by Gender, Race and Ethnicity, and Industry, 2006-2010

Source: Federal Reserve Board.

Note: The figure includes all directors that served during the calendar year. Directors who served multiple years during this time frame were removed to create a dataset of unique directors for the purposes of this analysis.

The data show that labor and consumer groups are less represented than other industry groups on both head office and branch boards. As shown in figure 4, from 2006 through 2010, 5 of the 202 head office directors served as consumer representatives and 6 of the 202 head office directors served as labor representatives. As shown in figure 5, from 2006 through 2010, 11 of the 309 branch directors served as consumer representatives and 4 of the 309 branch directors served as labor representatives. The Federal Reserve Board has encouraged Reserve Banks to recruit directors from consumer and labor organizations. For example, in a February 2010 memo to Reserve Bank presidents on director recruitment, the Federal Reserve Board listed recruiting leaders from these two industry groups as a "high priority." Despite these efforts, two Reserve Bank officials we spoke with said recruiting consumer and labor representatives is a challenge because many of them are politically active and the Federal Reserve Board policy, which restricts a director's political activity, would generally require them to give up such activities while serving on the board.

As shown in figure 6, Federal Reserve Board data show that generally, representation of minority and female directors varied somewhat across districts. For example, of the 16 head office directors serving from 2006 through 2010 at both Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas and Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City, 2 were women; and of the 18 head office directors serving from 2006 through 2010 at Federal Reserve Bank of Boston, 5 were women. One Reserve Bank corporate secretary we spoke with said that it was difficult to recruit diverse candidates within his district because of a lack of overall diversity in the region.

Gender (percentage)		Race and ethnicity		White		Asian	С	ispanic	African	-American
Men	Women	(percentage)	%	Number	%	Number	%	 Number 		Number
Boston 72.2	27.8		88.9	16	0	0	0	0	11.1	2
New York 81.3	18.8		87.5	14	6.3	1	6.3	1	0	0
Philadelphia 82.4	<mark>1</mark> 7.6		88.2	15	0	0	0	0	11.8	2
Cleveland 75.0	25.0		87.5	14	0	0	0	0	12.5	2
Richmond 76.5	23.5		88.2	15	0	0	0	0	11.8	2
Atlanta 77.8	22.2		83.3	15	0	0	0	0	16.7	3
Chicago 84.2	<mark>1</mark> 5.8		89.5	17	0	0	0	0	10.5	2
St. Louis 81.3	18.8		93.8	15	0	0	0	0	6.3	1
Minneapolis 88.9	11.1		88.9	16	0	0	0	0	11.1	2
Kansas City 87.5	12.5		93.8	15	0	0	6.3	1	0	0
Dallas 87.5	12.5	(N)	81.3	13	0	0	6.3	1	12.5	2
San Francisco 73.3	26.7		73.3	11	6.7	1	0	0	20.0	3

Figure 6: Federal Reserve Data on Head Office Directors' Gender and Race and Ethnicity by Federal Reserve District, 2006-2010

Source: Federal Reserve Board.

Note: The figure includes all directors that served during the calendar year. Directors who served multiple years during this time frame were removed to create a dataset of unique directors for the purposes of this analysis.

Survey of Directors Shows That More than Half Have Financial Experience	To obtain information from all current directors on a cross section of high- level issues, we conducted a web-based survey of the 105 Reserve Bank directors that served for the full year during 2010. ²³ We collected and summarized additional demographic information for 2010 directors, such as their prior work experience, education, and other board positions. Many Reserve Bank directors responding to the survey typically had experience in the finance industry and almost all currently serve on a variety of other boards. At least 56 have had some financial industry experience. ²⁴ After the financial industry, the next most reported work experiences by industry were manufacturing; professional, scientific, and technical services; retail trade; and real estate and rental leasing. ²⁵ The vast majority of the directors who responded to the survey reported that they had completed a bachelor's degree. More specifically, over half of the directors responding to the survey (55) reported that they had completed some type of advanced degree, such as a master's, juris doctor, or doctorate. In 2010, 86 of 91 Reserve Bank directors responding to our survey served on a variety of nonprofit, private, and public company boards. For example, directors held board positions at public and private universities; for-profit companies such as Loews Corporation, Safeway, Inc., and Energizer Holdings; and nonprofit organizations such as the Ford Foundation and Ronald McDonald House Charities.
Reserve Bank Directors Are Generally Senior Executives, a Subset of Management That Is Less Diverse	We analyzed EEOC's EEO-1 data for employers with 100 or more employees from 2007 through 2009. The EEO-1 data provide information on racial/ethnic and gender representation for various occupations within a broad range of industries. We used the EEO-1 "executive and senior level officials and managers" job category as the basis for our analysis because this is the category of employees from which Reserve Banks would most likely recruit directors. EEOC defines the job category of executive and senior level officials and managers as individuals residing

²³Of the 105 surveyed, 91 responded to the survey overall. However, the number of respondents varied by question.

²⁵The industry list used in the survey was based on the 2007 North American Industry Classification System (NAICS).

²⁴Under Federal Reserve Board policy, Class B and Class C directors are prohibited from having a current affiliation with certain institutions, including among other things, banks or bank holding companies, branches or agencies of foreign banks, thrift institutions, credit unions or subsidiaries of any such company or entity.

in the highest levels of organizations who plan, direct, and formulate policies, and provide overall direction for the development and delivery of products and services. Figure 7 provides EEO-1 data for individual minority groups and illustrates their trend in representation at the management level, which varied by group.

Figure 7: Comparison of EEO-1 and Head Office Federal Reserve Diversity Data by Gender and Race and Ethnicity, 2007-2009

Gend	ler (percentage)		Race and ethnicity		White		Asian	D.	Hispanio	Afric	an-American		Other ^a
	Men	Women	(percentage)	%	Number	%	Number	%	7. Number	%	Number	%	Number
2007	Directors 82.6% EEO 71.4	1 <u>7.4</u> 28.6		89.0 87.4	97 788,107	1.8 3.7	2 33,368	1.8 4.5		7.3 3.6	8 32,146	1	NA 7,661
2008	Directors 83.6 EEO 71.0	16.4 29.0		85.5 88.0	94 767,735	1.8 3.9	2 34,139	2.7 3.8		10.0 3.4	11 29,627	NA 0.9	NA 7,922
2009	Directors 82.3 EEO 71.7	17.7 28.3		87.6 88.6	99 711,504	0.9 4.0	1 32,296	2.7 3.5		8.9 3.0		NA 0.9	NA 7,055

Source: Federal Reserve Board and Equal Employment Opportunity Commission.

Notes: Beginning in 2007, EEOC started to collect separate data on "executive/senior level officials and managers," which includes individuals who reside in the highest levels of organizations and plan, direct, and formulate policies, set strategy; and provide the overall direction of enterprises/organizations for the development and delivery of products or services, within the parameters approved by boards of directors or other governing bodies. For the Reserve Banks, data include all directors that served during the calendar year. Directors who served multiple years during this time frame were removed to create a dataset of unique directors for the purposes of this analysis.

^a"Other" is defined as anyone who selected "American Indian," "Hawaiian or Pacific Islander," or "Two or more races."

As shown in figure 7, among all EEO-1 reporters, senior management representation by whites and Asians increased from 2007 through 2009. For example, whites accounted for 87.4 percent of all industry senior management positions in 2007; and they accounted for 88.6 percent of senior managers in 2009. Moreover, while representation by Asians also increased during this period, African Americans and Hispanics in senior management decreased steadily. For example, Hispanics accounted for 4.5 percent of all industry senior management positions in 2007; and they accounted for 3.5 percent in 2009. Representation for "Other" races remained constant from 2007 through 2009.

Figure 7 also compares race and ethnicity and gender between the EEO-1 and Federal Reserve Board datasets. EEO-1 data show that the pool of senior managers—a possible pipeline for potential Federal Reserve directors—has limited diversity. For example, minorities accounted for 12.6 percent of all senior management positions in 2007 and 11.4 percent in 2009. Similarly, minorities accounted for 12.4 percent of Federal Reserve directors in 2009. As shown in figure 8, diversity was limited among senior-level management in the commercial banking industry. Because Class A directors are nominated and elected by the member banks in each Federal Reserve district to represent the stockholding banks, they are generally officers or directors of a member commercial bank.²⁶ EEO-1 data show that, on average, the pool of senior managers in the commercial banking industry, a source that provides the pool of candidates for Class A directors, is less diverse than senior management in terms of race and ethnicity in all other industries combined. In 2009, the percentage of senior management positions held by minorities ranged from an average of 9.6 percent for commercial banking institutions to an average percentage of positions held by women was relatively consistent between commercial banking institutions and all other industries, 29.0 percent and 28.3 percent, respectively.

Figure 8: Trends in EEO-1 Data by Gender and Race and Ethnicity for Banking Compared with Other Industries at the Senior Management Level by Banking and Nonbanking Sectors, 2007 through 2009

Gend	ler (percentage) Men	Women	Race and ethnicity (percentage)	White	Asian	Hispanic	African-American	Other ^a
2007	Other 71.5 Banking 69.1	28.5 30.9		87.4 89.7	3.7 3.7	4.5 3.3	3.6 2.8	0.9 0.5
2008	Other 71.1 Banking 70.0	<u>28.9</u> 30.0		87.9 90.4	3.9 3.3	3.8 3.1	3.4 2.6	0.9 0.7
2009	Other 71.7 Banking 71.1	28.3 29.0		88.5 90.4	4.0 3.3	3.5 3.1	3.1 2.6	0.9 0.7

Source: Equal Employment Opportunity Commission.

Note: Prior to 2007 the two job categories "executive/senior level officials and managers" and "first/mid-level officials and managers" were grouped together.

Reserve Bank officials said they generally focus their search on senior executives. To explore whether Reserve Banks expanding their search to include nonexecutives would increase diversity, we spoke with officials and directors about their views on this matter. Several Reserve Bank executives and directors told us that having senior executives on the board of directors helps elevate the stature of the board. In addition, they said that individuals working at the top of their organization may have a

²⁶According to the Federal Reserve Board, only member banks vote for directors, so it almost never happens that a nonmember bank representative becomes a director.

broader view of how their industry is being affected by the economy. On the other hand, one Reserve Bank official told us that he felt looking below the executive level for potential directors was important. Further, at one Reserve Bank, the corporate secretary told us the bank actively looks for directors who may not be senior-level executives in an attempt to increase diversity. At another Reserve Bank, the corporate secretary stated that the bank has had nonexecutives serve on the board both currently and in the past.

In previous work on diversity in the financial services industry, we found that individuals holding positions one level below senior management were more diverse than senior management.²⁷ According to this work, EEOC data showed that generally, management-level representation by minority women and men increased from 11.1 percent to 17.4 percent from 1993 through 2008. However, these EEOC data overstated minority representation at senior management levels, because the category included midlevel management positions, such as assistant branch manager, that may have greater minority representation. In 2008, EEOC reported revised data for senior-level positions only, which showed that minorities held 10 percent of such positions compared with 17.4 percent of all management positions. This suggests that by broadening its pool of potential candidates below the executive level, Reserve Banks may be able to attract more diverse director candidates with potentially more diverse backgrounds and perspectives on the economy.

We also analyzed EEO-1 data by Federal Reserve district to determine district-level trends in senior management across all industries. This analysis demonstrates that diversity of senior managers in the Federal Reserve districts varies. As shown in figure 9, certain Federal Reserve districts' territories are somewhat more diverse than others at the senior management level. For example, in 2009, the percentage of senior management positions held by minorities ranged from a high of 18.7 percent within the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco's territory to a low of 4.0 percent within the Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis territory, indicating that diversity among senior managers does vary by district.

²⁷GAO, *Financial Services Industry: Overall Trends in Management-Level Diversity and Diversity Initiatives, 1993-2008, GAO-10-736T* (Washington, D.C.: May 12, 2010).



Gender (percentage)		Race and ethnicity	White	Asian	Hispanic Co	African-American	Other ^a
Men	Women	(percentage)					
Boston 70.8	29.2		94.3	2.5	1.5	1.3	0.4
New York 69.2	30.8		86.7	5.7	3.4	3.6	0.6
Philadelphia 72.8	27.2		92.5	2.3	1.7	3.0	0.5
Cleveland 72.3	27.8		93.4	2.4	1.3	2.7	0.4
Richmond 71.6	28.4		88.8	2.8	2.1	5.6	0.8
Atlanta 72.1	29.7		87.0	2.0	5.5	4.8	0.7
Chicago 72.3	27.7	3	92.9	2.7	2.0	2.8	0.5
St. Louis 73.0	27.0		93.2	1.3	1.6	3.3	0.6
Minneapolis 69.3	30.8		96.0	1.3	1.1	0.9	0.7
Kansas City 72.0	28.0		91.9	1.4	3.6	1.6	1.6
Dallas 75.4	24.6		86.5	2.7	7.1	2.8	0.9
San Francisco 71.3	28.8		81.3	9.6	5.4	1.9	1.9

Source: Equal Employment Opportunity Commission.

Reserve Banks Identify Potential Directors in a Variety of Ways, Often Relying on Networking

Reserve Banks select candidates to fill director vacancies based upon criteria in the Federal Reserve Act and guidance from the Federal Reserve Board. The act provides requirements for the nomination and election of directors. The act requires that member banks of each district be classified into three groups consisting of banks of similar capitalization-small, medium, and large. The member banks in each group nominate and elect one Class A director to represent that group's banks and one Class B director to represent the public. After the candidates are identified and a list of their names is forwarded to the member banks, each bank may cast one vote for a Class A director and one vote for a Class B director. Class C directors, who also represent the public, are recommended by the Reserve Banks and appointed by the Federal Reserve Board. The Federal Reserve Board also provides guidance on director election and eligibility requirements in the Federal Reserve Administrative Manual (FRAM).²⁸ Additionally, the act specifies that all directors shall be chosen without discrimination as to race, creed, color, sex, or national origin and that Class B and Class C directors who represent the public shall be elected "with due but not exclusive consideration to the interests of agriculture, commerce, industry, services,

²⁸The manual clarifies voting procedures for electing Class A and Class B directors and provides sample ballot forms and voting instructions.

labor, and consumers." Each year the Federal Reserve Board provides a memorandum to Reserve Banks with priority objectives for the recruitment of individuals with independent and diverse views and potential sources from which to obtain diverse directors. In addition, it distributes a yearly report on the demographic and industry characteristics of directors to each of the Reserve Banks for their use as they seek to identify and consider potential candidates.

Reserve Banks review the current demographics and areas of expertise of their boards when selecting candidates to fill director vacancies. At each Reserve Bank, the corporate secretary works collaboratively with the president and other senior bank staff to assess the demographics of their board and identify areas where additional representation may be needed. Several Reserve Bank officials with whom we spoke told us they also consider geography and educational background as selection criteria, in addition to those outlined in the act. Three Reserve Bank officials told us that while they strive to find diverse candidates from a variety of industries, they also want to find people who have the skills and knowledge that will fill a gap in the board's existing knowledge and skill set. Additionally, Reserve Bank officials said they generally focus their search on senior executives, usually chief executive officers (CEO) or presidents. For example, of the 108 directors serving in 2010, 82 were the president or CEO of their company. Further, we identified at least 23 who were employed by Fortune 500 companies in 2010.²⁹ Three Reserve Bank officials we spoke with indicated that CEOs generally have a better familiarity with the economic and business community of their district than less senior managers. However, as discussed previously, while having executives on the boards may elevate the stature of the board, it may limit the diversity of the pool of potential candidates.

Reserve Banks identify potential director candidates in a variety of ways and often use different recruitment methods. In general, Reserve Banks use a combination of personal networking and community outreach efforts to identify potential candidates. Two directors with whom we spoke told us they have recommended personal or business acquaintances they

²⁹An annual listing of the top 500 U.S. corporations compiled by *Fortune* magazine. The companies are ranked by 12 indexes, among them revenues; profits; assets; stockholders' equity; market value; profits as a percentage of revenues, assets, and stockholders' equity; earnings per share growth over a 10-year span; total return to investors in the year; and the 10-year annual rate of total return to investors.

believe would be gualified to serve as directors. In addition, some Reserve Banks contact former directors for help in identifying possible candidates. Several Reserve Bank presidents and senior staff also attend community roundtables and forums to network and identify potential candidates. Several Reserve Banks use their advisory councils and branch boards as a source for potential candidates. One Reserve Bank official told us that they look for candidates in a variety of industry lists such as a Forbes' magazine list of the most powerful women in business. At another Reserve Bank, member banks of the states represented in the district have agreed to a rotating nomination process for Class A and Class B directors to help ensure geographic representation. That is, when it is one particular state's turn to nominate a candidate, the state's Banking Association identifies potential candidates. At least one Class C director said he self-identified for the position and approached the Reserve Bank to express his interest in serving on the board when a vacancy came up.

Some Reserve Banks also use nominating committees to identify qualified director candidates. These committees may do so by recruiting candidates to fill vacant seats on the board, reviewing candidates recommended by the Reserve Banks and others, or conducting inquiries into the backgrounds and qualifications of potential candidates. Five Reserve Banks use nominating committees to identify potential candidates. For example, one Reserve Bank has a nominating committee that considers candidates for the Federal Reserve Board-appointed Class C directors. At another Reserve Bank, the nominating committee currently consists of three Class C directors and two Class A directors that meet to consider and make recommendations concerning board membership for all classes of directors. Guidelines in the FRAM require that nominating committees recommending Class A and Class B director candidates not include Reserve Bank officers and employees.

Typically, a Reserve Bank identifies and vets potential candidates for Class A and B directors, and communicates their names and credentials to member banks for their nomination and election. Reserve Banks generally submit an open call for nominations to the district's voting banks, even if they also have a nominating committee. Typically, the member banks will elect the Class A and B candidates identified and vetted by the Reserve Bank's nominating committee. However, member banks can nominate and elect a candidate that has not been vetted by the Reserve Bank. In such cases, the bank will inform the nominee of a director's eligibility requirements, to determine if the candidate is eligible to serve, if elected. We found that member bank voter turnout was often low at some Reserve Banks. Although the Federal Reserve Act sets forth specific procedures and voting requirements for director elections, shareholder elections of Reserve Bank directors do not have a requirement for a minimum number of votes.

The Federal Reserve Board requires every Reserve Bank to provide a slate of at least two candidates for each Class C vacancy to the Federal Reserve Board for appointment. Typically, the Federal Reserve Board will appoint a candidate from the slate provided by the Reserve Banks to serve as a Class C director. However, the Federal Reserve Board may ask for further explanation of why Reserve Banks selected certain candidates or ask for alternative candidates.

Several Reserve Banks indicated that recruiting directors for several groups-specifically women, minority, and labor or consumer representatives—can be challenging. According to Reserve Bank officials, recruiting labor and consumer representatives is particularly difficult because many of them are politically active and the Federal Reserve Board policy generally restricts a director's political activity. They also noted that Reserve Bank directors' roles and responsibilities can be time consuming and that compensation is low compared with that available in other opportunities to serve on private boards.³⁰ After the passage of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in 2002, directors are limited in the number of public company boards on which they can serve; therefore, Reserve Banks compete with other private corporations for these directors' time, especially women and minorities.³¹ In addition, some individuals do not want to divest of their stock holdings in the bankingrelated industry (which would be required for Class C) and also may not wish to refrain from political participation, according to Federal Reserve System officials.

³⁰Directors are compensated for travel expenses and given a daily fee for attendance at directors meetings, committee meetings, or while otherwise engaged in official business for the bank. The daily fee ranges from \$100 to \$300 depending on whether they are chairmen, deputy chairmen, or directors. Also, head office directors receive an annual retainers ranging from \$2,000 to \$5,000 depending on whether they are chairmen or directors.

³¹The 2010 National Association of Corporate Directors Annual Survey of Public Company Governance found that one-third of companies limited the number of boards that a director can serve on.
As we have previously reported, many private and public organizations have recognized the importance of recruiting and retaining minority and women candidates for key positions as the U.S. workforce has become increasingly diverse. Some Reserve Bank officials told us that many organizations are searching for diverse directors to have on their boards, and the Reserve Banks are competing with private corporations for the same small pool of gualified individuals. Although the policies of private corporate boards we reviewed do not have specific requirements for board diversity, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) recently started requiring companies to identify steps taken to ensure diversity of their boards in their proxy statement to shareholders. In our review of the proxy statements from the 10 largest bank holding companies in 2010, we found that companies generally did not list specific steps taken to identify and select diverse board members (see app. IV for a list of the 10 largest bank holding companies included in our review). Rather they provided a broad statement about diversity. For example, one company stated, "The [Nominating] Committee evaluates diversity in a broad sense, recognizing the benefits of racial and gender diversity, but also considering the breadth of backgrounds, skills, and experiences that directors and candidates may bring to our Board."

Having a demographically and economically diverse board strengthens an organization by bringing a wider variety of perspectives and approaches to the organization. While officials at some Reserve Banks told us they consider candidates who are not chief-level executives (i.e., not chief financial officers, chief operating officers, or executive vice presidents), the vast majority of directors in 2010 held such positions in their organizations. By broadening their pool of candidates, Reserve Banks may be able to improve diversity, and ultimately public representation, on the Reserve Bank boards. Such diversification can help ensure that the Federal Reserve System receives a broader spectrum of information useful for the formation and execution of monetary policy and the oversight of Reserve Bank operations.

Additional Steps Needed to Manage Directors' Actual or Potential Conflicts of Interest and Outside Affiliations	From the creation of the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Reserve Act has required the Reserve Banks to include Class A directors on their boards to be representative of the member banks, as each of the Reserve Banks is owned by the member banks in its district. While Class A directors are not required to be officers or employees of member banks, in practice, most Class A directors are officers or directors of member banks in the district. The requirement to have representatives of member banks creates an appearance of a conflict of interest because, as noted previously, the Federal Reserve System has supervisory authority over state-chartered member banks and bank holding companies. Conflicts of interest involving directors have been historically addressed through both federal law and Federal Reserve System policies and procedures, such as by defining roles and responsibilities and implementing codes of conduct to identify, manage, and mitigate potential conflicts. Nevertheless, directors' affiliations with Reserve Banks continue to pose reputational risks to the Federal Reserve System. When the Federal Reserve System played a key role in providing assistance to financial institutions during the 2007-2009 financial crisis, Reserve Bank board governance came under scrutiny because, among other things, a number of director-affiliated banks and nonbank financial institutions participated in the Federal Reserve System's emergency programs. Since then, Congress, the Federal Reserve Board, and Reserve Banks have made a number of changes to the policies and procedures that address Reserve Bank governance. However, without more complete documentation of the directors' roles and responsibilities with regard to the supervision and regulation functions, as well as increased public disclosure on governance practices to enhance accountability and transparency, questions about Reserve Bank governance will remain.
Some Directors' Affiliations Can Expose Reserve Banks to Reputational Risk	The three classes of Reserve Bank directors have varying degrees of involvement in the financial services industry, and their affiliations with financial companies could create reputational risk for the Reserve Banks. In addition, relationships between current and former directors and interactions between former directors and the Reserve Banks could also raise questions about the independence of the directors and actions of the Reserve Banks. Finally, questions about directors' involvement in the emergency programs authorized by the Federal Reserve Board during the financial crisis spurred allegations of conflicts of interest. As we

the development and implementation of emergency programs.³² Directors' Affiliations with Federal Reserve Bank directors often serve on the boards of a variety of financial firms as well as those of nonprofit, private, and public Financial Firms companies. For example, in 2010, 86 of 91 Reserve Bank directors responding to our survey held board positions at public and private companies, public and private universities, and nonprofit organizations. As noted earlier, our survey indicated that most of the Reserve Banks have directors who have held positions at financial services firms or insurance companies as well as banks. This includes Class A directors who are officials of banks that hold stock in the Reserve Bank, and Class C directors, who are required by the Federal Reserve Act to be persons of tested banking experience, which the Federal Reserve Board says has come to be interpreted as requiring familiarity with banking or financial services. In addition, as the financial services industry has evolved, more companies are involved in financial services or otherwise interconnected with financial institutions. These changes have resulted in a few Class B and Class C directors who were previously employed by financial institutions or have served on their boards. A recent example that raised questions about affiliations, and the nature

A recent example that raised questions about affiliations, and the nature of director affiliations with financial firms, involved the then-FRBNY chairman in late 2008, who was former chairman and a current board member and shareholder of the Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (Goldman Sachs). As illustrated in figure 10, when the then-FRBNY chairman joined the FRBNY board as a Class C director in January 2008, Goldman Sachs was an investment bank outside the supervisory authority of the Federal Reserve System. However, in September 2008, in response to the unfolding financial crisis, Goldman Sachs applied for and was approved by the Federal Reserve Board to become a bank holding company. As a result, under Federal Reserve Board policy, the then-FRBNY chairman became ineligible to serve as a Class C director because he was then a director and stockholder of a bank holding company.³³ Without

reported in our July 2010 report on the emergency programs, our review found that the boards of directors generally were not directly involved in

³²GAO-11-696.

³³Although there is no statutory prohibition, there is a Federal Reserve Board policy that prohibits individuals that hold bank holding company stocks from serving as Class C directors.

consultation with the full FRBNY board, FRBNY sought a waiver to allow the then-FRBNY chairman to continue to serve on the board. According to an FRBNY official, FRBNY sought the waiver in October 2008 for a number of reasons. First, finding a new chairman during the financial crisis would have been difficult, given that FRBNY already had one director vacancy on its board at the time. Further, the event leading to the need for a waiver was unexpected and unforeseen. In late November 2008, an additional concern was raised that the then-FRBNY president was expected to be nominated as the Secretary of the Treasury, thereby raising the potential that FRBNY would be searching for both a new president and a new chairman simultaneously, with the added complication that, as the chair of the FRBNY board, the then-FRBNY chairman would be heading the search committee for a new president. The waiver was granted by the Federal Reserve Board in January 2009 on the basis of these considerations. However, the Federal Reserve Board was unaware that the then-FRBNY chairman had purchased additional shares in Goldman Sachs via an automatic stock purchase program. The then-FRBNY chair resigned in May 2009. As discussed later, on the basis of this waiver experience, the Federal Reserve Board decided to develop and institute a formal policy governing the treatment of situations in which Class B or C directors' stockholdings unexpectedly become impermissible. This policy has since been adopted. FRBNY also changed its policy, which would require that waivers be discussed by the board of directors before going to the Federal Reserve Board.





Source: GAO's presentation of information from FRBNY and then-FRBNY chairman's legal representative.

Federal Reserve Board officials told us that after receiving the waiver request from FRBNY, they contacted other Reserve Bank boards to determine whether any other directors held stocks in companies that had recently converted to bank holding companies. According to these officials, this review identified a director from the Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis who held less than \$100,000 in stock in Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc., an investment bank, which had been acquired by Bank of America, a bank holding company. This director remained on the board and a waiver was granted by the Federal Reserve Board, but nonetheless, he subsequently divested the shares in January 2009.

Another situation that raised questions about affiliations involved a FRBNY Class B director. The director was the Chief Executive Officer of

Lehman Brothers Holdings, Inc. (Lehman), an investment bank that experienced significant financial problems during the unfolding financial crisis and ultimately failed. An FRBNY official said that he met with the FRBNY president and chairman about Lehman's deteriorating financial condition, without the full board, and concluded that FRBNY faced reputational risk regardless of the action taken. Specifically, it was concluded that although the board of directors was not involved in approving and implementing the emergency programs, a recusal from board meetings by the Lehman director might not have managed the appearance of a conflict and a public resignation might have sent a negative signal to the market and hastened the collapse of the firm. Under Federal Reserve Board practice, Reserve Bank directors affiliated with troubled financial institutions are encouraged to resign or risk removal from the board. Federal Reserve System officials said that the director voluntarily resigned before Lehman filed for bankruptcy.

Although directors' affiliations with financial firms do not necessarily create conflicts of interest, they may complicate the directors' relationships with the Reserve Banks and increase public scrutiny of them. One issue relates to directors' communications with Reserve Bank officials in their roles as senior executives of their companies. These situations have raised questions as to whether directors have greater access to Reserve Bank officials than other financial institution officials and whether they have influence over matters that may affect banks or institutions with which they are affiliated. Reserve Bank officials with whom we spoke said that there are no restrictions on directors communicating with Reserve Bank staff about their respective banks or holding companies in their capacity as officials of the bank nor are there restrictions on conversations about the financial markets. However, according to Federal Reserve Board officials, members of the Reserve Bank board of directors are not granted special access to supervisory staff, and it has been the practice of the Federal Reserve Board and the Reserve Banks to restrict their involvement in supervision issues. Further, Reserve Bank officials said that requests from other financial institutions to meet with Reserve Bank staff are processed in the same manner as those from the directors. As discussed later, the financial crisis highlighted situations where directors were in contact with Reserve Bank staff in their capacity as representatives of their financial institutions and market participants.

Interconnections among Current Directors, Former Directors, and the Reserve Banks Have Raised Questions

Reserve Bank Boards of Directors Generally Were Not Involved in the Development and Implementation of Emergency Programs After completing their terms, directors who had represented member banks or who have affiliations with other financial institutions may maintain contact with Federal Reserve Bank officials for various reasons. FRBNY officials said that actions such as the Reserve Banks' management of such communications may help safeguard against improprieties. For example, during the 2008 financial crisis, the company of a former FRBNY director was negotiating with FRBNY regarding assets the Reserve Bank had acquired when it extended credit against the assets of Bear Stearns Companies, Inc. The former director felt that there was a miscommunication and contacted a number of FRBNY staff he knew to discuss the issue. The director's preexisting relationship with FRBNY raised questions about the appropriateness of FRBNY's actions in its negotiations with the former director's firm. Recently, FRBNY implemented a procedure to document contacts involving directors by reporting calls and their content in a memo to the chairman of the board's Audit and Operational Risk Committee.

Reserve Bank officials said that many of the Reserve Banks maintain programs to keep in touch with former directors. These can be formal programs such as annual holiday functions or informal ways to continue to seek former directors' views on the economy and their industries. Reserve Bank officials described these contacts as "unobjectionable." A former Federal Reserve Board governor with whom we spoke also thought that these contacts are appropriate. As discussed later, indirect connections between directors' firms and Reserve Banks when the firms used the emergency programs or acted as service providers have also raised questions.

The Federal Reserve Board, and in some cases, the FOMC, authorized the creation and modification of most of the emergency programs under authorities granted by the Federal Reserve Act.³⁴ Although a number of Reserve Bank directors were affiliated with institutions that borrowed from the emergency programs, we did not find evidence that Reserve Bank boards of directors participated directly in making any decisions about authorizing, setting the terms of, or approving a borrower's participation in the emergency programs.

³⁴Among these authorities was Section 13(3) of the Federal Reserve Act of 1913, which, at the time of the authorizations, allowed the Federal Reserve Board, in "unusual and exigent circumstances," to authorize any Reserve Bank to extend credit to individuals, partnerships, or corporations under certain conditions.

Our review did not reveal that Reserve Bank directors received nonpublic information on the emergency programs. A review of minutes from the 12 Reserve Bank board meetings during the unfolding crisis revealed that discussions of emergency programs during board meetings appeared to have occurred after the emergency programs had been publicly announced. Further, presentations by Reserve Bank staff generally covered explanations of the related emergency lending authority, administration of the program, descriptive information about the programs' operations and risks, and the impact on the Reserve Banks' balance sheets. Moreover, Federal Reserve Board officials and Reserve Bank directors from all 12 Reserve Banks with whom we spoke told us that the Reserve Bank boards did not play a role in the creation or implementation of the emergency programs. Federal Reserve Board officials also pointed out that all Reserve Bank directors are prohibited from disclosing nonpublic information related to the programs and such disclosures may risk violating insider trading laws.

While all Reserve Banks implemented the Term Auction Facility, FRBNY implemented the majority of the emergency programs.³⁵ A number of FRBNY's directors played a limited oversight role as prescribed in a written Audit and Operational Risk Committee (AORC) protocol that states the oversight by the directors was focused on operational risks. For example, according to FRBNY officials, FRBNY staff periodically briefed the committee on the composition of an asset portfolio that was created to assist Bear Stearns when it was near failure to help ensure that the directors were aware of how the bank was managing certain high-risk assets. FRBNY has five directors on the audit committee. During the financial crisis, at least one Class A director served on this committee at any given time. According to FRBNY officials, to help ensure that one class of directors does not have undue influence, FRBNY strengthened its governance structure by revising its AORC charter to permit only two

³⁵The Term Auction Facility—one of the first emergency facilities created—auctioned onemonth and three-month discount window loans to eligible depository institutions. For a more a detailed discussion of this and other emergency programs, see appendix I.

out of five committee members to be Class A directors.³⁶ Although implemented after the unwinding of many of the emergency programs, the enhanced standards helped mitigate the appearance of actual and potential director conflicts by ensuring that Class A directors are not the majority on the AORC. Appendix III provides more information on the Reserve Bank committees.

As mentioned earlier, in their role as market participants, some FRBNY directors were consulted by FRBNY management and staff as certain emergency facilities were being created. According to FRBNY officials, a director providing information to FRBNY management and staff in his or her role as chief executive officer of an institution does not equate to "participating personally and substantially"—as defined by 18 U.S.C. § 208, discussed below—because the director is not playing a direct role with respect to approving a program or providing a recommendation. According to FRBNY officials, FRBNY's Capital Markets Group contacted representatives from primary dealers, commercial paper issuers, and other institutions to gain a sense of how to design and calibrate some of the emergency programs. For example, FRBNY officials said that General Electric Company (General Electric), whose chief executive officer was serving as a Class B director at the time, was one of the largest issuers of commercial paper and General Electric was one of the companies FRBNY consulted when creating the emergency program to assist with the commercial paper market. FRBNY officials said they contacted institutions for this purpose irrespective of whether one of FRBNY's directors was affiliated with the institution.

Some of the institutions that borrowed from the emergency programs had senior executives and stockholders that served on Reserve Banks' board of directors. These relationships contributed to questions about Reserve Bank governance and also raised concerns about conflicts of interest. We identified at least 18 former and current Class A, B, and C directors from 9 Reserve Banks who were affiliated with institutions that used at least one emergency program. In those cases, 11 Class A directors who

³⁶FRBNY's AORC is appointed by its board of directors to assist the board in monitoring (1) the integrity of the financial statements of the Reserve Bank, (2) the Reserve Bank's external auditor's qualifications and independence, (3) the performance of the Reserve Bank's internal audit function and external auditors, (4) internal controls and the measurement of operational risk, and (5) the compliance by the Reserve Bank with legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit and Operational Risk Committee also assesses the effectiveness of (2), (3), (4), and (5).

served between 2008 and 2010 worked for member banks that used an emergency program. There are 2 Class B directors who served between 2008 and 2010 and worked for companies that used an emergency program. Similarly, one Class C director who served between 2008 and 2009 was affiliated with a company that used at least one program. In addition, there are 4 former Class A directors who served between 2006 and 2007 whose companies used the emergency facilities. The Term Auction Facility was the most commonly used facility.

According to Federal Reserve Board officials, the Federal Reserve Board allowed borrowers to access its emergency programs only if they satisfied publicly announced eligibility criteria. Thus, Reserve Banks granted access to borrowing institutions affiliated with Reserve Bank directors only if these institutions satisfied the proper criteria, regardless of potential director-affiliated outreach or whether the institution was affiliated with a director. As we reported in our July report, our analysis did not find evidence indicating a systemic bias toward favoring one or more eligible institutions.³⁷ While some institutions that borrowed from these programs were affiliated with a Reserve Bank director, these institutions were subject to the same terms and conditions as those that had no such affiliation.

As another example, the Chief Executive Officer of JP Morgan Chase & Co. (JP Morgan Chase) served on the FRBNY board of directors at the same time that his bank participated in various emergency programs and served as one of the clearing banks for emergency lending programs. According to Federal Reserve Board officials, there are only two entities, including JP Morgan Chase, that offer services as clearing banks for triparty repurchase agreements and both banks served as clearing banks for the emergency programs.³⁸ Similarly, Lehman's Chief Executive Officer served on the FRBNY board while Lehman's broker-dealer subsidiary participated in emergency programs such as the Primary Dealer Credit Facility.³⁹

³⁷GAO-11-696, 81.

³⁸A clearing bank is a commercial bank that facilitates payment and settlement of financial transactions, such as check clearing or matching trades between the sellers and buyers of securities and other financial instruments and contracts.

³⁹The Primary Dealer Credit Facility provided overnight cash loans to primary dealers against eligible collateral.

Existing Policies and Procedures to Manage and Mitigate Actual and Potential Conflicts of Interest Involving Directors

Having the Class A directors, who represent member banks, and the Class B directors, who are elected by member banks, as required by the Federal Reserve Act, creates an appearance of a conflict of interest. This is because Class A or B directors might own stock in banks or Class A directors might work for banks that are supervised by the Reserve Bank while also overseeing aspects of the Reserve Banks' operations, including the bank presidents' evaluation and salary and personnel decisions for the supervision and regulation function.⁴⁰ In addition, Class B directors are involved in the president selection process. In turn, the president oversees the supervision and regulation function, which regulates the member banks that vote for the Class A and B directors. The president also may serve on the FOMC.

Conflicts of interest involving directors have been historically addressed through both federal law and Federal Reserve System policies and procedures. First, individuals serving on the boards of directors of the Reserve Banks are generally subject to the federal criminal conflict-ofinterest restrictions in section 208 of title 18 of the U.S. Code and its implementing regulations. 18 U.S.C. § 208 generally prohibits Reserve Bank directors from participating personally and substantially in their official capacities in any matter in which, to their knowledge, they have a financial interest, if the particular matter will have a direct and predictable effect on that interest.⁴¹ The Office of Government Ethics regulations implementing 18 U.S.C. § 208 include provisions concerning divestiture, disgualification (recusal), and waivers or exemptions from disgualification.⁴² The regulations also provide that Reserve Bank directors may participate in specified matters, even though they may be particular matters in which they have a disgualifying financial interest. These matters concern the establishment of rates to be charged to member banks for all advances and discounts; consideration of monetary

⁴¹18 U.S.C. § 208; 5 C.F.R. Parts 2635, 2640.

⁴²See 5 C.F.R. § 2635.402(c)-(e).

⁴⁰The Federal Reserve System is responsible for the supervision and regulation of statechartered banks that are members of the Federal Reserve, all bank holding companies, and certain other institutions that are in engaged in a foreign banking business and the United States activities of foreign banks. The Reserve Banks' Supervision and Regulation Department examines these institutions for safety and soundness under authority delegated from the Federal Reserve Board, and the Federal Reserve Board writes and issues regulations and guidelines regarding the structure and conduct of the financial institutions.

policy matters and other matters of broad applicability; and approval or ratification of extensions of credit, advances or discounts to healthy depository institutions, or in certain conditions, to depository institutions in hazardous condition.⁴³ As the rulemaking for these exemptions notes, because of their ties to the financial services industry and their communities, it is likely that at least some directors will have financial conflicts with their duties, and the exemptions adopted by the Office of Government Ethics were necessary to resolve any possible conflict between the directors' statutorily mandated function and the performance of their official duties.44 The Federal Reserve Board and Reserve Banks have policies and procedures to identify, manage, and mitigate conflicts of interest that could result from a Reserve Bank director having financial or other interests that conflict with the interests of the Reserve Bank. These steps include defining the roles and responsibilities of directors to avoid conflicts, managing and mitigating conflicts of interest through adherence to federal law and the Federal Reserve board's conflict-of-interest policies, and establishing internal controls and policies to identify and manage potential conflicts. The Federal Reserve Board, within the requirements of the Federal **Roles and Responsibilities** Reserve Act, defines Reserve Bank directors' overall roles and responsibilities. In doing so, it manages and mitigates conflicts with respect to directors' involvement with bank supervision and regulation by precluding director involvement in institution-specific supervision matters and establishes restrictions on directors' interaction with the Reserve Banks' supervision and regulation function. Additionally the Federal Reserve Board monitors the performance of the Supervision and Regulation Department of the Reserve Banks. Actual or potential conflicts of interest could arise if directors were consulted about supervisory matters because of their stock ownership or affiliation with the supervised entity or with a competitor or customer of the supervised entity. Our analysis of the board minutes, interviews, and survey of Reserve Bank directors reveals that interaction between the directors and the supervision and regulation staff was generally limited and that the

directors were not involved in the day-to-day operations of supervision

⁴³5 C.F.R. § 2640.203(h).

⁴⁴60 Fed. Reg. 47,208, 47,220 (Sept. 11, 1995).

and regulation or specific bank supervisory matters such as bank examination ratings or potential enforcement actions. Reserve Bank officials and directors told us that when supervision and regulation staff report on the operations in board meetings, they do not provide details on examination issues or identify institutions by name. Our review of board minutes showed a few instances where supervision and regulation staff shared summary information concerning the general condition of banking institutions in the district.

According to Federal Reserve Board and Reserve Bank officials, because the Federal Reserve Board has delegated the examination of bank and financial holding companies, member banks, and affiliates to the Reserve Bank staff, the staff report through the Reserve Bank presidents to the Federal Reserve Board and not directly to the boards of directors of the Reserve Bank. Further, although Supervision and Regulation generally reviews and approves member bank applications to purchase other banks or establish branch offices, among other things, applications that involve institutions affiliated with a Reserve Bank director are approved by the Federal Reserve Board. As an example, Goldman Sachs's application to become a bank holding company in September 2008 was reviewed by the Federal Reserve Board because one of the company's directors was also a director on the board of the Reserve Bank.

Questions also have been raised about the role of the Reserve Bank board in approving the Reserve Banks' discount window lending and whether conflicts of interest arise because officials from member banks that borrow from the discount window may serve as Class A directors on Reserve Bank boards. To avoid this potential conflict, no boards take part in loan approval, although some boards ratify loans that have already been granted under the discount window on a quarterly basis. Moreover, directors and Reserve Bank officials we spoke with said that Class A directors recuse themselves from the loan approval discussion when their institution has borrowed.

Conflict of Interest Policies As explained more fully earlier, Reserve Bank directors are subject to the federal criminal conflict of interest restrictions under 18 U.S.C. § 208, which generally prohibits Reserve Bank directors from participating personally and substantially in their official capacities in any matter in which, to their knowledge, they have a financial interest, if the particular matter will have a direct and predictable effect on that interest. In addition, Reserve Bank directors are expected to follow relevant policies in the FRAM developed by the Federal Reserve Board. As stated in the FRAM's "Guide to Conduct for Directors of the Federal Reserve Banks and

Branches," directors are expected to be "above reproach" in their personal financial dealings and should never use information they obtain as directors for personal gain. The FRAM states that in carrying out their responsibilities, directors should avoid any action that might result in or create the appearance of (1) affecting adversely the confidence of the public in the integrity of the Federal Reserve System, (2) using their position as director for private gain, or (3) giving unwarranted preferential treatment to any organization or person. Moreover, it states that directors should strictly preserve the confidentiality of Reserve Bank and Federal Reserve System information, and should avoid making public statements that suggest the nature of any monetary policy action that has not been officially disclosed. Directors also are expected to adhere to high ethical standards of conduct. In addition, directors are also expected to comply fully with all applicable laws and regulations governing their actions as directors and in their conduct outside of the Federal Reserve System.⁴⁵ The FRAM also prohibits directors from engaging in certain types of political activities. As a general principle, it states that directors should not engage in any political activity or serve in any public office where such activity or service might be interpreted as associating the Reserve Bank or the Federal Reserve System with any political party or partisan political activity, might embarrass the Reserve Bank or the Federal Reserve System in the conduct of its operations, or might raise any question as to the independence of the individual's judgment or ability to perform his or her duties with the Reserve Bank or System. The Federal Reserve Board's policy does not prohibit directors from participating in activities as individual voters or as members of nonpartisan public service bodies when that would not be potentially embarrassing to the Federal Reserve System.

Internal Controls The Reserve Banks have internal controls, including annual certifications, oaths, and affirmations, to help the banks monitor directors' compliance with the FRAM and conflict of interest policies and procedures. These mechanisms require directors to report new directorships or affiliations, and to reaffirm that they are free of conflicts of interest. While directors are not required to disclose their financial holdings, Reserve Banks provide updates to directors whenever there is a change to the list of prohibited investments and affiliations (based on institutions that become

⁴⁵For example, section 4(8) of the Federal Reserve Act requires the board of directors to administer the affairs of the Reserve Bank fairly and impartially and without discrimination in favor of or against any member bank or banks.

bank holding companies or other institutions supervised by the Federal Reserve System). Also, during the directors' selection process, Reserve Bank officials conduct a background check using publicly available information on the directors and the financial status of the directors' companies. Once directors are on the board, the Reserve Banks rely on the directors to self report any actual or potential conflicts of interest. Additionally, the directors receive training at the beginning of their terms, from both the Reserve Bank and the Federal Reserve Board. The Federal Reserve Board training includes meetings where the directors are able to meet the Board of Governors, Federal Reserve Board staff, and other directors from across the system. The training provided by the Reserve Banks includes information on the FRAM's "Guide to Conduct for Directors of Federal Reserve Banks and Branches." roles and responsibilities, ethics, oaths, affidavits, and certifications. Many directors also receive ethics training annually, in addition to the beginning of their terms. Reserve Banks provide training to directors to guide them in determining what investments/affiliations may be prohibited. The Federal Reserve Board also offers midterm training to all directors, which officials said is generally well attended.

According to Federal Reserve Board and Reserve Bank officials with whom we spoke, the most likely potential conflict of interest involves procurement matters, and the Reserve Banks have taken a variety of steps to address them. Some Reserve Bank boards are involved in approving the bank's vendor contracts. Because some directors are affiliated with businesses in the banks' district that may offer services the Reserve Bank seeks, they could potentially have a conflict of interest if their firms or competitors were to compete for the contracts. To help ensure that procurement practices are untainted by actual or potential conflicts of interest from directors, the Federal Reserve Board requires all of the Reserve Banks to have procurement policies that provide guidance for directors that includes the role of directors in procurements, the nature of the procurement, an education program for directors, written procedures for the directors to follow for recusal, written certification process, and record keeping of training materials and attendance, recusals, and procurement certifications. Our review noted that all banks require the directors to sign certifications stating whether or not they have a conflict of interest with a procurement that is being considered. All Reserve Banks have processes and certifications to help ensure that directors do not have conflicts. Likewise, all Reserve Banks have delegated certain procurement decisions to management.

Federal Reserve Banks' Ethics Policies and Practices Are Generally Consistent with Other Organizations' Policies and Practices, but Waiver Policies Could be Improved

and practices with those of other organizations, including other central banks, a self-regulatory organization whose members serve on its board of directors, a government-sponsored enterprise, and large bank holding companies. See appendix IV for a list of the 10 largest bank holding companies included in our review.

We compared the Federal Reserve System's ethics and related policies

Written Ethics Policies for Reserve Banks and Other Central Banks Reviewed Were Similar

The authorizing laws, policies, and procedures for all four central banks we studied, like the authorizing law, policies, and procedures for the Federal Reserve System, included provisions relating to ethical behavior and conduct. All four central banks and the U.S. Reserve Banks emphasized that directors must demonstrate a high level of ethical conduct and adhere to applicable laws and regulations, but policies for managing conflicts of interest varied. For example, the Reserve Bank of Australia waives all conflict of interest requirements for its board, and allows directors to participate in policy deliberations as long as they disclose their interests to the bank annually. However, the Reserve Bank of Australia prohibits directors from working for or having a material financial interest in private financial companies in Australia. Conversely, the Bank of Canada Act requires that directors (1) disclose any material interest in writing or in the minutes of board meetings, (2) disclose the conflict as quickly as possible after the conflict is discovered or realized, and (3) not vote in any resolution or action related to the conflict. Directors must also avoid or withdraw from participation in any activity or situation that places them in a real, potential, or apparent conflict of interest. The Bank of Canada prohibits directors from having affiliations with entities that perform clearing and settlement functions in the financial services industry, serving as a dealer for government securities, or being government employees. Table 2 provides additional information on the ethics and conflict-of-interest practices of the central banks we reviewed.

Table 2: Comparison of Key Ethics Policies for Board Members at Selected Central Banks and the U.S. Federal Reserve Banks, as of July 2011

	Reserve Bank of Australia	Bank of Canada	Bank of England	European Central Bank	U.S. Federal Reserve Banks
Directors are required to					
Maintain confidentiality of information obtained through the board	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Avoid even the appearance of a conflict of interest	Yes ^a	Yes	No ^b	Yes	Yes
Disclose conflicts of interest to the organization	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No ^c
Not vote on issues for which they have a conflict	Yes ^d	Yes	Yes	No ^e	Yes
Annually disclose nonfinancial affiliations	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No ^f
Annually disclose financial interests	Yes	No	No ^g	No ^h	No
Annually certify adherence to the ethics code	No	Yes ⁱ	No	No	No ^j

Source: GAO analysis of selected central bank authorizing legislation, ethics policies and procedures, and contact with central bank officials.

^aAustralia requires directors to avoid the appearance of using confidential information from the bank for personal profit. It does not require directors to avoid the appearance of conflicts in general, just to promptly disclose them to the board. However, board members must consult with the governor before committing themselves to any material personal interest that might be perceived as creating a risk of conflict of interest.

^bThe Bank of England Act 1998 states that directors must disclose any direct and indirect interests in any dealing or business with the bank.

^cThe *Federal Reserve Administrative Manual* does not explicitly require directors to disclose conflicts of interest. Directors are required to adhere to a high ethical standard of conduct and avoid actions that might impair the effectiveness of system operations or in any way tend to discredit the system. Each Reserve Bank requires directors to sign certifications stating whether or not they have a conflict of interest with any procurement that is being considered. Directors at each Reserve Bank told us that they would report conflicts or changes in affiliations to a Reserve Bank official, such as the corporate secretary, general counsel, or ethics officer.

^dMembers of the Reserve Bank board, including the governor and deputy governor, are subject to a "Class order" of the treasurer, which waives conflicts of interest and allows them to participate in the board's monetary and financial stability policy deliberations, and decisions on indemnities to board members, subject to them providing the treasurer with an annual statement of material personal interests. For issues other than monetary policy and financial stability policy, and decisions on indemnities to board members, members must disclose conflicts of interest to the board, which will determine whether or not they are allowed to participate in discussion and consideration about such matters.

^eThe "Code of Conduct for the Governing Council" does not explicitly exclude voting in situations in case of a conflict of interests but stipulates that members of the Governing Council should avoid any situation liable to give rise to a conflict of interests and that they should be in a position to act with full independence and impartiality. However Executive Board members are prohibited from voting in cases in which they are personally affected by a prospective decision under certain articles.

^fDirectors do not submit an annual disclosure, but Class B and Class C directors submit an annual certification stating that they do not have any prohibited affiliations. Class C directors also submit a similar annual certification stating that they do not have any prohibited stockholdings. The directors are required to notify the corporate secretary if there are any changes in their affiliations or stockholdings, as appropriate.

⁹Only governors on the Court of Directors are required to report financial transactions.

^hOnly Executive Board members must file a financial disclosure, but there is no specific requirement regarding the frequency of such filing.

The Bank of Canada does not have an ethics policy; directors have to certify compliance with its conflict-of-interest policy.

ⁱBanks make an annual ethics presentation to their boards and get written certifications to adhere to the ethics code from new directors each year. Some banks do not get written certification from every director each year.

Federal Reserve Banks' Written Ethics Policies Are Generally Consistent with Those of Comparable Organizations

Reserve Banks' ethics policies were generally consistent with those of FINRA and those required of the FHLBanks and public companies listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). FINRA prohibits directors who have a substantial financial interest or are affiliated with a regulated entity from participating in any regulatory matter, disciplinary action, investigation, or decision regarding an application from that entity for an exemption. The Federal Housing Finance Agency-FHLBanks' regulator-requires that FHLBanks have a conflict of interest policy and that directors promptly disclose any actual or apparent conflicts of interest and recuse themselves from issues in which they have a conflict. Public companies listed on the NYSE—including the 10 largest bank holding companies included in our review-must adopt and disclose a code of business conduct and ethics. The code must contain a policy that prohibits conflicts of interest and allows directors to communicate potential conflicts with the company. Table 3 shows the ethics and conflict of interest practices of the comparable organizations we reviewed.

 Table 3: Comparison of Key Ethics Policies for FINRA, FHLBanks, Large Bank

 Holding Companies, and the U.S. Federal Reserve Banks, as of July 2011

	Financial Industry Regulatory Authority	Federal Home Loan Banks	Large bank holding companies	U.S. Federal Reserve Banks
Directors are required to				
Maintain confidentiality of information obtained through the board	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Avoid even the appearance of a conflict of interest	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Disclose conflicts of interest to the organization	Yes	Yes	Yes	No ^a
Not vote on issues for which they have a conflict	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Annually disclose non- financial affiliations	Yes	Yes ^b	Yes ^b	No ^c
Annually disclose financial interests	Yes ^d	No ^e	No NYSE listing requirement	No
Annually certify adherence to the ethics code	Yes	Yes ^e	3 out of 10	No ^f

Source: GAO analysis of FINRA, FHLBank, and FRB ethics policies and NYSE listing standards, and contact with agency officials.

^aThe *Federal Reserve Administrative Manual* does not explicitly require directors to disclose conflicts of interest. Directors are required to adhere to a high ethical standard of conduct and avoid actions that might impair the effectiveness of system operations or in any way tend to discredit the system. Each Reserve Bank requires directors to sign certifications stating whether or not they have a conflict of interest with any procurement that is being considered. Directors at each Reserve Bank told us that they would report conflicts or changes in affiliations to a Reserve Bank official, such as the corporate secretary, general counsel, or ethics officer.

^bFHLBanks and other issuers of securities registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, such as most large bank holding companies, are required to file an annual report that includes, among other things, information on the directorships held by each director during the last 5 years at any other public company or investment company.

^cDirectors do not submit an annual disclosure, but Class B and Class C directors submit an annual certification stating that they do not have any prohibited affiliations. Class C directors also submit a similar annual certification stating that they do not have any prohibited stockholdings. The directors are required to notify the corporate secretary if there are any changes in their affiliations or stockholdings, as appropriate.

^dFINRA requires disclosure of board members' or his/her firm's financial interest in any covered entity—defined as any self-regulatory organization, broker-dealer, insurance company, investment company, investment adviser, or an affiliate of any such entity.

^eIndicates what most FHLBanks reported as their practice.

¹Banks make an annual ethics presentation to their boards and get written certifications to adhere to the ethics code from new directors each year. Some banks do not get written certification from every director each year.

Federal Reserve Banks' Requirements for Directors to Disclose Affiliations Were Comparable to Those of Other Organizations, but Waiver Policies Could Be Improved

Federal Reserve Banks do not require directors to periodically disclose their financial interests. Officials at the Federal Reserve Board stated that directors were doing a civic duty by serving on a Reserve Bank board and that the Federal Reserve Board does not want to make it burdensome for them to serve. The officials also noted that directors' investments may change frequently, so keeping accurate information on all investments would be difficult. Class C directors submit an annual certification stating that they do not have any prohibited stockholdings. Although Federal Reserve Bank directors do not submit an annual disclosure of nonfinancial interests, both Class B and Class C directors are required to submit an annual certification stating that they do not have any prohibited affiliations. The directors are required to notify the corporate secretary if there are any changes in their affiliations or stockholdings, as appropriate. All four central banks we reviewed required directors to disclose some information about their personal affiliations with other organizations, such as other directorships. The Reserve Bank of Australia requires directors to disclose material personal financial interests-including financial and nonfinancial—to the treasurer on a yearly basis. The European Central Bank (ECB) requires all Governing Council members (i.e., Executive Board members and governors of the National Central Banks) to annually disclose their public and private affiliations, and Executive Board members must also complete a yearly financial disclosure.

FINRA governors annually disclose their relationships with other organizations, such as other directorships, but do not typically provide financial information annually, according to FINRA officials. FHLBanks are required to file an annual report on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission. This form includes information about the directors' other directorships on the boards of publicly traded companies or investment companies. Most FHLBanks do not require directors to file a comprehensive annual financial disclosure, but most of the banks require directors to sign an annual certification agreeing to adhere to the ethics policies. All public companies—including the bank holding companies we reviewed—are also required by SEC to file a Form 10-K, which includes information about any other directorships of board members.

Other comparable organizations had a variety of policies on waiving ethics and related requirements. Central banks in our review varied in the extent to which they had policies or procedures for directors to apply for waivers to their ethics policies. The Bank of Canada does not have a waiver process. An official at the bank stated that waivers would be inconsistent with the bank's conflict of interest policy, which requires that directors avoid or withdraw from participation in any activity that places the director in a real, potential, or apparent conflict of interest. The European Central Bank Code of Conduct instructs Governing Council members to seek counsel from an ethics adviser if a conflict arises. The adviser either decides the issue or forwards it to the Governing Council. The NYSE requires that listed companies, including the large bank holding companies we reviewed, promptly disclose any waivers of codes of conduct for directors or executive directors. Only boards and board committees can grant waivers, which must be disclosed to shareholders within 4 business days, using either a press release, the institutional website, or an SEC Form 8-K. FINRA's code of conduct for directors states the board must approve waivers from the code. However, FINRA officials told us that in practice, its governors have chosen to manage conflicts through recusal rather than seeking waivers. About half of the FHLBanks reported that they have a process in place for directors to request a waiver of the code of conduct.

There are two types of waivers relevant to Reserve Bank directors. First, as discussed earlier, the Federal Reserve Board can grant waivers to directors in connection with 18 U.S.C. §208, pursuant to applicable federal regulations. Second, Reserve Banks may request waivers from the Federal Reserve Board's policies related to director eligibility, gualifications and rotation, such as allowing directors to remain on the Reserve Bank board despite having a prohibited investment or other prohibited affiliation. Federal Reserve Board officials said they have received few waiver requests. According to the officials, the Federal Reserve Board waiver process permits Reserve Banks to make informal inquiries of Federal Reserve Board staff as to whether a given action would be appropriate. The officials noted that most of the time Reserve Banks' questions could be resolved without an official waiver request. Additionally, Reserve Bank officials told us that they frequently receive questions from directors about the policies, which they either discuss and handle internally, or contact the ethics officer or corporate secretary at the Federal Reserve Board to determine the appropriate actions that should be taken. For example, one director checked with the general counsel at the Reserve Bank to discuss a situation in which family members had inherited bank stock that was held in a trust for which the director was named trustee. The general counsel discussed the issue with relevant officials at the Reserve Bank and advised the director to resign his position in the trust so that he would not have a conflict of interest.

Not all Reserve Banks have procedures in place for directors to request a waiver of the eligibility policy from the Federal Reserve Board. We found that the Reserve Banks are not required to have a waiver request process

and only FRBNY has a formal process in place to review waiver requests. An official from one Reserve Bank told us that the bank does not have a formal process for considering waiver requests nor has it had directors who needed to request a waiver from the Federal Reserve Board. When FRBNY sought the waiver on behalf of the then-FRBNY chairman from the Federal Reserve Board, FRBNY did not have a formal waiver process and did not consult with the board of directors before making a waiver request to the Federal Reserve Board. An FRBNY official told us that in hindsight the board should have been involved. On the basis of this experience, FRBNY implemented a formal waiver process. While we recognize that the need to request a waiver from Federal Reserve Board policies may be rare, a crisis situation may create unanticipated conflicts without providing time for comprehensive actions before a decision must be made. However, without a formal process in place to consider a request for a waiver from Federal Reserve Board policies. Reserve Banks risk inconsistent treatment of requests and being exposed to questions about their governance practice and the integrity of their decisions and actions.⁴⁶

If waivers to policies are granted, making the process and decisions transparent is vital. Given the public nature of Reserve Bank activities, disclosing waivers provided to directors is one way to improve transparency and accountability and reduce the appearance of conflicts of interest. Public companies listed on the NYSE are required to promptly disclose any waivers of the code of conduct for directors and executive officers, which can be made only by the board or a committee of the board. To the extent that a waiver of the code of conduct is granted, the waiver must be disclosed to shareholders within 4 business days of the decision, by distributing a press release, providing website disclose information to the public about waivers of the policy on director eligibility and qualifications for one of their directors that were granted by the Federal Reserve Board. As demonstrated during the recent financial crisis and the waiver request for the then-FRBNY chairman, a lack of

⁴⁶In 2009, the Federal Reserve Board formalized a waiver process in the Eligibility, Qualifications, and Rotation Policy. The policy provides, among other things, that in rare and exigent circumstances, the Board of Governors may approve a request from a Reserve Bank for a waiver. The Reserve Bank may submit a written request for a waiver upon a vote of the board of directors on whether to recommend a waiver. The Federal Reserve Board must approve the Reserve Bank's waiver request in order for it to become effective.

transparency around the waiver request process and outcome contributed to greater distrust of Reserve Bank governance.

Additional Steps Are Needed to Improve Transparency and Accountability	Congress and the Federal Reserve System have taken steps aimed at improving Reserve Bank governance. The Dodd-Frank Act, enacted on July 21, 2010, made several amendments to the Federal Reserve Act. One of these amendments changed the selection process for Reserve Bank presidents and first vice presidents. Before the amendment, all directors acted to appoint the president of the Reserve Bank, subject to the approval of the Federal Reserve Board. ⁴⁷ This created the appearance of a conflict because the Class A directors voted to appoint the Reserve Bank president, who would play a role in supervision and regulation and may be a voting member of the FOMC. ⁴⁸ After the amendment, only Class B directors (who are elected by district member banks to represent the public) and Class C directors (who are appoint the Reserve Bank presidents. Class A directors, who are elected by member banks to represent member banks, may no longer appoint presidents of the Federal Reserve Banks. This same change also affects the appointment of the first vice president.
	In part because of the financial crisis that started in mid 2007 and the increased scrutiny of the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Reserve Board conducted a study of the governance of the Federal Reserve Banks, which included a review of the roles and responsibilities of the Reserve Bank directors. In November 2009, the results of this study were presented to the Reserve Bank presidents, corporate secretaries, and board chairmen, which led some banks to conduct reviews of the roles and responsibilities of their bank directors. As a result of the Federal Reserve Board review, the board revised two policies governing directors.
	⁴⁷ Prior to the Dodd-Frank Act, all members of the board of directors of a Reserve Bank were authorized to appoint the Reserve Bank president, with the final selection subject to the approval of the Federal Reserve Board. Pursuant to section 1107 of the Dodd-Frank Act, however, only Class B and Class C directors are authorized to appoint Reserve Bank presidents, again with the approval of the Federal Reserve Board.
	⁴⁸ Pursuant to section 12A of the Federal Reserve Act, in addition to the governors of the Federal Reserve Board, the FOMC's members are five representatives of the Reserve

Federal Reserve Board, the FOMC's members are five representatives of the Reserve Banks who are to be either presidents or vice presidents of the banks. The president of FRBNY serves on a continuous basis, and the other members are elected annually on a rotating basis.

First, the board amended the eligibility policy to explicitly address situations in which Class B or C directors' stockholdings unexpectedly become impermissible, such as if a company in which a director holds stock converts to a bank holding company. Before this revision, the Federal Reserve Board did not have a formal policy governing the treatment of such situations. The revised policy requires directors to resign from the board or divest their interests within 60 days from the time the Reserve Bank or director learned about an impermissible situation. During this time, the director would have to recuse himself or herself from all duties related to service as a Reserve Bank director until the affiliation is severed. Second, the Federal Reserve Banks to adopt a policy that governs instances when directors are involved with procurement, as discussed previously.

Since this Federal Reserve Board study and the Dodd-Frank Act amendments, all of the Reserve Banks have changed the directors' roles to remove the Class A directors from the process of appointing the bank president. In addition, some banks have included additional restrictions on Class A directors' involvement in supervision and regulation personnel and other matters. For example, the Federal Reserve Banks of New York, Richmond, and Minneapolis restricted Class A directors' involvement in personnel appointments for supervision and regulation. Moreover, after the recent study, the board of the Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis reevaluated its procedures so that the Class A directors are not involved with personnel matters related to the senior vice president of its supervision and regulation function, or any institution-specific matters.

According to Federal Reserve System officials, it has been a standing practice, predating the enactment of the Dodd-Frank Act, that Reserve Bank directors do not vote on institution-specific supervisory matters. Beyond that practice, the Federal Reserve Banks of New York, Richmond, St. Louis, and Minneapolis recently revised their bylaws to include the role of their boards of directors with regard to supervision and regulation. FRBNY made clear that Class A directors are prohibited from voting on appointment, termination, and compensation of employees in the Financial Institutions Supervision group. Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond stated directors cannot vote on institution-specific supervision and regulation matters and that Class A directors should not vote on the budget for the supervision and regulation function and matters related to senior personnel in that function. Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis states that actions by the board of directors related to oversight of the supervision function shall be upon a vote of a majority of

	the Class B and Class C directors present at any such meeting. Similarly, Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis stated that directors are not involved in institution-specific supervision and regulation matters and Class A and Class B directors should not vote on matters of an administrative nature.
	Although there are restrictions on directors' involvement in supervision and regulation matters, the Reserve Banks are not required to document the directors' roles in their bylaws. As a result, 8 of the 12 Reserve Banks have not documented the extent of board of directors' involvement in supervision and regulation in their bylaws. The Federal Reserve Banks of Boston, Chicago, Cleveland, Dallas, Kansas City, Philadelphia, and San Francisco do not document the directors' roles and responsibilities to further clarify the extent of their involvement in supervision and regulation matters.
	Although Reserve Bank directors may be cognizant of their roles and responsibilities, a lack of a clear statement in the bylaws on the directors' involvement in supervision and regulation matters could contribute to lack of clarity around the directors' roles, create confusion for the public, and lead to questions about Reserve Bank governance. Moreover, by documenting the roles of directors with regard to such matters, the Federal Reserve System could help enhance the public's understanding of the roles of the directors and reduce the appearance of conflicts of interest.
Changes to the Structure of the Reserve Banks' Boards to Further Strengthen Governance Involve Trade-offs	Some officials, directors, and academics with whom we spoke also suggested potential changes to the Reserve Bank board structure that could further strengthen governance, but these changes would involve tradeoffs. First, some suggested that increasing the number of directors appointed by the Federal Reserve Board who represent the public could help alleviate the appearance of member bank control. This could be accomplished by expanding the Reserve Bank board size by increasing the number of Class C directors or by adding a fourth class of 3 directors appointed by the Federal Reserve Board. By adding 3 more appointed directors to the Reserve Bank board, the boards would have an equal number of directors elected by member banks and directors appointed by the Federal Reserve Board, therefore eliminating the perception of member bank control of the boards. We have previously reported that

board size is not one-size-fits-all and should be based on the needs and complexity of the organization.⁴⁹ As discussed later in the report, board size for other public and private organizations varies, but a board size of 12 members would still be within the range of board sizes at other comparable organizations such as central banks, self-regulatory organizations, and large bank holding companies. A larger board could also enhance opportunities for diverse candidates. However, adding 3 board members would create more positions for Reserve Banks to fill, and it may be more difficult for some of the Reserve Banks to fill these positions. As of September 16, 2011, there were two director positions in the 12 Reserve Banks open. Additionally, some Reserve Bank officials and directors stated that a larger board size could reduce the opportunity for directors to participate in the meeting and may increase absences or decrease committee participation because directors could feel that their contributions were less important because there were more directors to accomplish the necessary board work. Additionally, an increase in the size of the Reserve Bank board would require an amendment to the Federal Reserve Act.

Second, some Reserve Bank officials and directors suggested that the Federal Reserve Board could appoint Class B directors to represent the public rather than having them elected by member banks. The perception of conflicts of interest and member bank control could be reduced by making this change. However, we heard from several academics and Reserve Bank officials that the current system provides a set of checks and balances between the Federal Reserve Board in Washington, D.C., and the 12 Reserve Banks and their members. By allowing the Federal Reserve Board to appoint two-thirds of the Reserve Bank boards, the balance of power would shift to the Federal Reserve Board. Officials and directors we spoke with emphasized the importance of regional input in the Federal Reserve System, which includes the ability of the regions to select their representatives on the Reserve Bank board. Additionally, as discussed earlier, while the FRAM prohibits bank officials and employees from serving on nomination committees for Class A and B directors, Reserve Bank officials told us that they played a significant role in the identification, vetting, and recruiting of Class B directors before they are

⁴⁹GAO, Corporate Governance: NCUA's Controls and Related Procedures for Board Independence and Objectivity Are Similar to Other Financial Regulators, but Opportunities Exist to Enhance Its Governance Structure, GAO-07-72R (Washington, D.C.: Nov. 30, 2006).

ongress, academics, and others have offered a number of ways to hange the structure of the Federal Reserve System, which would have applications for governance and ongoing concerns about conflicts of iterest. First, some academics and others have commented that the eserve Banks should become offices or branches of the Federal eserve Board rather than independent entities within the system, which ould eliminate the boards of directors, or they said the boards of irectors should be converted into advisory councils. One academic told is that making them branches would help address concerns about the
urrent governance structure because it would eliminate the need for oards of directors and thereby eliminate conflicts. As an example, the entral bank of Germany follows this model. However, others we iterviewed noted that this would concentrate all of the power and fluence with the Federal Reserve Board. Moreover, it would increase he size of the federal agency. In addition, others have said that converting boards to advisory councils in the districts would undermine overnance by reducing the responsibility of the boards and would make harder to attract quality candidates to serve on the councils.
econd, some have questioned the need for 12 Reserve Banks given hanges in the financial markets and advances in technology. The views f Federal Reserve System officials varied. A few of the individuals we terviewed thought there could be fewer banks because the current tructure was outdated and reflected a U.S. economy that existed 100 ears ago. However, others believe that the structure is still appropriate iven differences in regional economies and perspectives. Federal eserve System officials also point to the greater efficiencies that have een implemented through the Reserve Banks' consolidation of certain ngoing operations such as check clearing and information technology.

policy and that supervision and regulation should be conducted by another regulatory entity. Others viewed the two functions as critically intertwined, and ultimately, this approach to reform was not pursued by Congress in the Dodd-Frank Act. Rather, the Federal Reserve System's supervisory role was increased to include thrift holding companies and systemically important financial institutions. Others have taken a less sweeping approach to reform by questioning the Federal Reserve Board's delegation of supervision to the Reserve Banks. However, consolidating supervision with the Federal Reserve Board would require a substantial increase in the federal workforce for the Federal Reserve Board to conduct this function. Currently, the supervision and regulation staff at the Reserve Banks are not federal employees because they are employees of the Reserve Banks and not the Federal Reserve Board. Rather, the Reserve Bank supervision and regulation staff act under authority delegated from and are overseen by the Federal Reserve Board. With the exception of the delegation of authority. these other structural changes involve policy decisions that would require changes to the Federal Reserve Act.

Reserve Bank boards are generally similar in size, composition, and term **Although Most** lengths and limits to the boards of comparable organizations. Additionally, **Federal Reserve** they employ similar accountability measures, such as annual performance reviews of the organization and management, as other comparable Banks' Governance organizations. However, Reserve Banks lack transparency in their **Practices** Are governance practices compared with those of other organizations we reviewed. For example, while most all of the other organizations we Consistent with Those reviewed make key governance documents, such as board bylaws, ethics of Other policies, committee mission statements, and committee assignments, available to the public, most Reserve Banks do not post this information on Organizations, Board their websites. Governance Could Be More Transparent

Reserve Banks' Board Structure and Independence Requirements Are Similar to Those of Comparable Organizations

As previously discussed, the size of Reserve Bank boards is established by the Federal Reserve Act of 1913 and sets each board's size at nine directors. The size of the Reserve Bank boards is within the range of board sizes and composition that we identified at comparable organizations. As we have seen, the boards of the organizations we studied had from 9 to 23 members (see table 4). Neither the NYSE nor SEC has size requirements for the boards of listed and public companies, and most of the bank holding companies we reviewed included provisions in their bylaws that allowed for flexibility in board size. For example, one company's bylaws state the board has the authority to determine the number of directors and that the number should be in the range of 13 to 19, with the flexibility to increase the size as needs and circumstances change. The number of allowable directors under the bylaws of bank holding companies we studied ranged from 3 to 36, while the actual number of directors on the boards of bank holding companies included in our study ranged from 11 to 15.

Table 4: Size and Composition of Boards of Directors of Federal Reserve Banks Compared with Those of Selected Entities, as of August 2011

Characteristics	Reserve Bank of Australia	Bank of Canada	Bank of England	European Central Bank	Financial Industry Regulatory Authority	Federal Home Loan Banks	Federal Reserve Bank
Size of board	9	15	12	23	22 ^a	13-18 ^b	9
Number of board members who are independent ^c	5-6 ^d	12	9	0 ^e	11	At least 2/5 of board	6 ^f
Number of board members representing member institutions	Not applicable	Not applicable	Not applicable	17	10 ^g	No more than 3/5	3 ^h
Number of board members employed by the institution or government	3-4	3 ⁱ	3	6	1	0	0

Source: GAO analysis of selected central bank authorizing legislation, and FINRA and FHLB bylaws and websites reviewed between March 8, 2011 and August 24, 2011.

^aFINRA bylaws provide that the board shall consist of between 16 and 25 governors; the number of public governors must exceed the number of industry governors.

^bSection 7(a) of the Federal Home Loan Bank Act, as amended, generally sets the size of a Bank's board of directors at 13, but the size of each FHLB board can vary because of another statutory provision.

^c"Independent" means not affiliated with the organization, the government, or a member institution.

^dOne of the six "other" board members can be an official (Reserve Bank of Australia [RBA] or Australian government) who holds office at the pleasure of the treasurer. Therefore, there could be 5-6 board members who are unaffiliated with the RBA and 3-4 board members who work for the RBA or Australian government.

^eThe European Central Bank's Governing Council includes the governors of the national central banks of the 17 euro area countries.

¹Federal Reserve Banks have six directors who represent the public. Three of these directors (Class B) are elected by member banks, but cannot be officers, directors, or employees at any bank. The other three directors (Class C) are appointed by the Federal Reserve Board and also cannot be officers, directors, shareholders, or employees at any bank.

^gThree of these governors are not required to be from institutions that are members of FINRA, but they are required to be affiliated with one of the following industry groups (1) a floor broker, (2) an independent broker-dealer or insurance company, or (3) a registered investment company.

^hThese three directors (Class A) are not required to be officers or directors of member banks, but they generally are.

ⁱThe Deputy Minister of Finance is a member of the board but does not have the right to vote.

According to NYSE, independence for directors means having no material relationship with the listed company, either directly or as a partner, shareholder, or officer of an organization that has a relationship with the company. Central bank literature typically refers to independence in terms of the central bank being independent of the government; therefore, independent directors are those who do not work for the central bank or other government entity. Independence is an important aspect of board governance because it provides accountability and an outside perspective. Further, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) notes that boards must be able to exercise objective judgment in order to fulfill their duties and that, to accomplish this goal, a sufficient number of board members should be independent of management.⁵⁰

Reserve Bank directors have varying levels of independence. As discussed earlier in this report. Class C directors are appointed by the Federal Reserve Board. These directors are independent—that is, they are not employees or managers of the Reserve Banks at which they serve, nor are they a partner, shareholder, or officer of an organization that has a relationship with the Reserve Bank, such as a member bank. Class B directors are elected by member banks and are statutorily required to represent the public. They meet almost all of the independence requirements listed above, with the exception that they can be a stockholder in a bank. Class A directors, who represent the member banks that elect them, are the least independent of the Reserve Bank directors. Some have questioned whether Reserve Bank boards have enough independence from the member banks that the Reserve Banks supervise. FINRA's bylaws balance public and industry representation by requiring that members representing the public outnumber those representing industry on the board. No FHLBank managers serve on the FHLBank boards, and by law at least two-fifths of the directors must be independent and not affiliated with member banks.⁵¹ Additionally, at least

⁵⁰Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Principles of Corporate Governance, 2004. Available at www.oecd.org/daf/corporateaffairs/principles/text

⁵¹12 U.S.C. § 1427(a)(2).

two of the independent directors must be "public interest" directors with at least 4 years of experience representing community or consumer interests in banking services, credit needs, housing, or consumer financial protections.

Term Lengths and Limits and Selection Procedures Were Comparable across Organizations

Reserve Bank directors' term lengths and limits were also within the range of term lengths and limits we observed for other comparable entities. For example, both Reserve Bank and FINRA directors can serve up to two consecutive 3-year terms. At the other four central banks we reviewed, independent directors—who are not government or central bank officials, or for the ECB, the board members from national central banks—served 3- to 5-year terms. Other board members (including governors and other government officials) served 5- to 8-year terms. FHLB directors may serve up to three consecutive 4-year terms. The NYSE and SEC do not have requirements for listed or public companies regarding term length or limits. Two of the large bank holding companies we reviewed opted to have directors serve 1-year terms so that each director had to be reelected by the stockholders each year, but none of the companies enacted term limits for their directors. One company noted in its annual proxy statement that although term limits might be a source of fresh ideas and viewpoints, they had the disadvantage of potentially reducing the knowledge and insight that experienced directors gained over time. Another bank holding company's proxy statement said that the company favored monitoring individual director performance over term limits.

Selection procedures for directors varied across the entities we examined. As we have discussed, Federal Reserve Bank boards consist of both appointed and elected directors. However, all the boards of the four central banks we reviewed had directors who were appointed to the board by various entities. For example, for the ECB Executive Board, members are nominated by the governments of euro-area member states. Both the ECB's Governing Council and the European Parliament are consulted on prospective candidates and issue opinions on them. The European Parliament holds a hearing for the nominated candidate, and the European Council (only member states that have adopted the euro) votes to appoint a new Executive Board member. The 17 euro-area National Central Bank governors who are members of the Governing Council in addition to the 6 Executive Board members are selected according to national procedures. The directors of the Reserve Bank of Australia and independent directors of the Bank of Canada are appointed by the Treasurer and Minister of Finance, respectively. The Queen of

England appoints governors and nonexecutive directors to the Court of Directors at the Bank of England.

The other comparable organizations we studied had a combination of elected and appointed members and used nominating committees as part of the director selection process. FINRA's bylaws require that all members be nominated by a committee and certified by the corporate secretary. Of the 10 industry directors, 7 are elected by their constituents. The 3 remaining industry directors and all of the public directors are appointed by FINRA's Board of Governors after nomination by the committee. FHLBank member directors are nominated and voted on by member institutions within their state, whereas independent directors are nominated by the FHLBank's board of directors, after consultation with its Advisory Council, and elected by the FHLBanks' members at-large. Companies listed on the NYSE must have nominating/corporate governance committees composed entirely of independent directors to identify qualified individuals and select them or recommend them to the board for selection. Stockholders elect the directors of the 10 largest bank holding companies we reviewed.

Like the Reserve Banks, other comparable entities also considered skills and experience as key factors in selecting board members. Reserve Banks recruit directors in accordance with the requirements in the Federal Reserve Act, which stipulate that directors shall be chosen without discrimination as to race, creed, color, sex, or national origin and that Class B and Class C directors who represent the public shall be elected "with due but not exclusive consideration to the interests of agriculture, commerce, industry, services, labor, and consumers." Some Reserve Bank officials told us that while they strive to find diverse candidates from a variety of industries, they primarily want to find people who have the skills and knowledge that will fill gaps in the board's existing knowledge and skill set. Similarly, all four central banks we reviewed had skill or experience qualifications for board members. For example, the Bank of Canada focuses on the collective skills of the board of directors in areas such as accounting, human resources, corporate governance, and financial markets.

FHLBanks and FINRA also look for directors with particular skills and experience to complement the boards. FHLBank nonmember directors are required to have experience in, or knowledge of, one or more of the following areas: auditing and accounting, derivatives, financial management, organizational management, project development, risk management practices, and the law. FINRA officials stated that they had

	no written qualifications but added that for each opening they analyzed the type of expertise the board lacked—for example, technological, legal, or academic—to identify skills that would complement the existing expertise. SEC requires public companies to disclose information about the qualifications of directors and nominees for director and to provide reasons why each should serve but does not require specific types of experience or expertise.
	As with the Federal Reserve Banks, none of the comparable entities had specific requirements for gender or race and ethnic diversity for their boards. One central bank required that directors represent different geographies and industries within the country. As discussed earlier, public companies must report in their proxy and information statement on how the nominating committee considered diversity when reviewing candidates for director. In our analysis of the 10 largest bank holding companies in 2010, proxy statements indicated that companies primarily value candidates that will bring complementary skills and experience to the board but also consider diversity in selecting them.
Federal Reserve Banks' Accountability Measures Are Consistent with Comparable Organizations' Measures	Reserve Banks and comparable institutions, both public and private, have a variety of accountability measures in place, including annual performance reviews of the organization and management, internal and self-assessments, and external audits. All 12 Reserve Bank boards conduct bankwide performance reviews on a yearly basis. Similarly, a committee of the board at the Bank of England—the Committee of the Court (NedCo)—is responsible for reviewing the bank's performance in relation to its objectives and strategy, monitoring the extent to which its financial management objectives are met, reviewing the procedures of the Monetary Policy Committee and the bank's internal controls, and determining the pay and terms of employment of the governors, executive directors and external Monetary Policy Committee members. To a large extent, NedCo's work is done through the Court of Directors; it is chaired by the Court's chairman and consists of all nonexecutive members.
	Internal reviews and self-assessments are also part of board accountability practices across the institutions that we reviewed. Within the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Reserve Board relies on RBOPS to oversee Reserve Banks' management and operations. RBOPS reviews each Reserve Bank at least every 3 years. In addition, 6 of the 12 Federal Reserve Bank boards of directors conduct an annual self-evaluation. Some of the other organizations that we reviewed had similar evaluations conducted by their boards. For example, the Bank of

similar evaluations conducted by their boards. For example, the Bank of Canada's board conducts an annual self-assessment through one-on-one interviews between each director and the lead director, supported by a survey that solicits directors' views on various elements of the board's operations, governance, and effectiveness. The survey is completed electronically and aggregated results are distributed to directors for discussion in open session. The board also has developed and maintains a skills map of the current directors' competencies and takes note of any gaps or deficiencies. Further, companies listed on the NYSE must adopt corporate governance guidelines that include provisions for the board to conduct a self-evaluation at least annually to determine whether it and its committees are functioning effectively.

Reserve Bank boards and publicly listed companies also hold meetings of nonmanagement directors to promote accountability by encouraging nonmanagement directors to serve as a more effective check on management. All Federal Reserve Bank boards have executive committees that vary across banks in terms of the composition of Class A, B, and C directors (see app. III for more information on the Reserve Bank committees). The NYSE requires that nonmanagement directors of each listed company meet at regularly scheduled executive sessions without management.

Some of the organizations that we reviewed, including the Federal Reserve Banks, had audit committees in place. Each Reserve Bank has an audit committee that oversees the bank's internal auditor and reviews and approves the annual audit plan. The audit committee is also responsible for coordinating with external auditors and helping ensure that audit recommendations and concerns are properly addressed. Similarly, the Bank of England has two committees that play a role in accountability. First, as previously discussed, the Committee of the Court, NedCo, is responsible for conducting a performance assessment of the central bank. Second, the Risk and Audit Committee provides independent assurance to the Court of Directors that the bank's internal controls are appropriate. The committee meets regularly and reviews the work of internal and external auditors, annual financial statements, and the appropriateness of the accounting policies and procedures adopted. It also makes recommendations on the appointment of the external auditors, including their independence and fees, and reviews the bank's risk matrix and specific business controls. The Reserve Bank of Australia and the Bank of Canada also have audit committees that play a role similar to that of the Reserve Banks' committees.

	FINRA's bylaws require the board to have an audit committee of four or five governors, none of them officers or employees of the corporation and including at least two public governors. The audit committee's functions are similar to those of committees at other organizations previously discussed. Finally, NYSE-listed companies are required to have audit committees with at least three independent members. NYSE guidelines stipulate that audit committees must assist with board oversight of the company's financial statements, compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the independent auditor's qualifications and independence, and the performance of the company's internal audit function and independent auditors. The audit committees are also responsible for SEC's required disclosures on committee activity. ⁵²
Although Reserve Banks Have Taken Steps to Make Their Governance Practices More Transparent, More Needs to Be Done	Governance practices should be transparent to protect organizational reputation and help ensure accountability. Reserve Bank governance practices lack transparency compared with those of comparable institutions that we reviewed. We have previously reported that good governance, transparency, and accountability are critical in both the private and public sectors. ⁵³ In the private sector, they promote efficiency and effectiveness in the capital and credit markets, and overall economic growth, both domestically and internationally. In the public sector, they are essential to the effective and credible functioning of a healthy democracy and to fulfilling the government's responsibility to citizens and taxpayers. Additionally, the World Bank, the International Monetary Fund, OECD, and other researchers agree that transparency is an important principle in good governance. ⁵⁴ While the Federal Reserve System has begun to increase the disclosure of information, more can be done to enhance the transparency of the Reserve Banks' governance practices.

⁵²Item 407(d)(3)(i) of Regulation S-K.

⁵³GAO, *Federal Oversight: The Need of Good Governance, Transparency, and Accountability,* GAO-07-788CG (Washington, D.C.: Apr. 16, 2007).

⁵⁴World Bank, *Annual Review of Development Effectiveness: Getting Results* (Washington, D.C., 2006); International Monetary Fund, *Code of Good Practices on Transparency in Monetary and Financial Policies*, 1999, available at http://www.imf.org/external/np/mae/mft/code/index.htm; and Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, *Principles of Corporate Governance*, 2004, available at www.oecd.org/daf/corporateaffairs/principles/text.

Most Federal Reserve Banks Do Not Disclose Significant Information about Governance

Most Reserve Banks do not routinely disclose governance practices to the public, while most comparable institutions we reviewed do. For example, all four central banks we studied had public websites that displayed information about board governance, including information about the committee structure and conflict of interest policies. FINRA bylaws, including committee mission statements and conflict-of-interest rules, are also available on the FINRA website. The Federal Housing Finance Agency does not have any reporting requirements for FHLBanks, and while FHLBanks vary in what they publish on their websites, most provide some information. For example, three-guarters of the FHLBanks post information about their code of ethics, bylaws, or both, and half provide information about the election process, including time frames and independent director applications. One-third of the FHLBanks post biographical information about the directors beyond the director's company, position, and location, 6 of the 12 FHLBanks post information about the board committees-either a description of each committee and its purpose or board members serving on each committee, and six FHLBanks publish the audit committee charter on their websites.

Publicly traded companies were subject to the most stringent disclosure guidelines of the institutions we examined. The NYSE requires that listed companies publicly disclose corporate governance guidelines that address director qualification standards, responsibilities, compensation, and access to management and independent advisers, as well as director orientation and continuing education, management succession, and annual performance evaluations of the board. Corporate websites must be accessible from the United States, must clearly indicate in the English language the location of governance documents, and documents must be available in printable versions in English.

By comparison, few of the Reserve Banks post information about board governance, such as committee structure and assignments, or conflict of interest and ethics policies on their websites. While the Federal Reserve Board notes vacant positions among its list of Reserve Bank board directors, the Reserve Banks do not publish information about vacant director positions on their websites. Additionally, all Reserve Banks have publicly accessible websites, but most banks post only the names, titles, and employers of current directors rather than richer biographical information. Four of the Reserve Banks provide descriptions of the board and their roles, and two banks post more comprehensive information. For example, FRBNY includes the board's bylaws, biographies for current board members, the members and charters of each of the board's committees, and the bank president's daily schedule. Federal Reserve
Bank of Kansas City posts information about the directors' selection and roles, biographies for current directors, and lists alumni directors from 1992 to the present.

A few individuals we spoke with noted that, in particular, Reserve Banks could be more transparent about director elections. One researcher stated that as a result of the lack of transparency around the director election process, there is a lack of understanding of how and why directors were chosen to serve on Reserve Bank boards. This can also cause increased concern about potential conflicts of interest among the directors because how and why certain individuals were selected for the board is not clear to the public. Further, in our survey of Reserve Bank directors, one director noted that transparency around the election process should be improved. The director noted that the topic was not discussed in board meetings or executive sessions of board meetings. Federal Reserve Board officials said that two Reserve Banks are publicly announcing board vacancies, but because Class A and B directors are elected by the member banks, Class C directors were the only vacancies for which the general public could apply. Further, officials said that while they could enhance transparency by advertising a vacant Class C position, the nature of the job and the need for a specific skill set generally meant that it was better for the banks themselves to recruit candidates instead of publicly seeking applications.

Enhanced transparency of the director selection process, including posting director vacancies and selection procedures, could not only make the election process more transparent but also help increase the diversity of the candidate pool. Some of the institutions we reviewed have taken steps to increase transparency of their director selection process. Two of the central banks we reviewed publicized and solicited applications for governor/director positions. It was announced in July 2008 that the Bank of England would advertise vacant positions. Additionally, in Canada, a government website permits individuals to submit their names for consideration as directors of government. Also ministers responsible for entities requiring directors maintain a pool of all eligible candidates, so the Minister of Finance develops this pool of candidates for the Bank of Canada. As previously noted, about half of the FHLBanks publish information on their websites about the director election process and provide applications for potential candidates to submit to be considered by the nomination committee. Further, as previously mentioned, some Members of Congress and others raised questions about the governance of the Reserve Banks, including the selection and roles of directors. Improving the transparency of the Reserve Bank director selection

process is one way to help address concerns about Reserve Bank governance.

The Federal Reserve System Can Take Additional Steps to Increase Transparency The Federal Reserve System has taken some important steps to increase transparency. For example, the Federal Reserve Board has recently taken steps to increase transparency of the monetary policy-making process. In March, the Federal Reserve Board announced that the Chairman would hold press briefings four times per year to present the Federal Open Market Committee's current economic projections and to provide additional context for its policy decisions. The first press conference was held in April 2011. Additionally, some Reserve Banks have begun placing additional information about governance arrangements on their public websites. The Federal Reserve Board describes these postings as a recent trend and said that FRBNY has been a leader in this area.

Further, the Reserve Bank boards conduct community outreach that focuses primarily on financial literacy and informing the public on their role in monetary policy. One of the three main roles for Reserve Bank directors is to be a liaison between the bank and the community. Several directors and bank officials told us that they believe that public outreach was necessary to help reduce the public's misperception about the roles and responsibilities of the Reserve Banks. In our survey of Reserve Bank directors, some directors noted that outreach should be continued to create a more transparent environment and strengthen governance. For example, one director said that one way to strengthen Reserve Bank governance was to continue to foster an environment of transparency, with open and frequent communication. Further, the director noted that not everyone understood the difference between monetary and fiscal policy and that the Reserve Banks could help to educate the general public and the media. One director also noted that outreach activities generated goodwill and awareness throughout the community and the district and led to better public representation on Reserve Bank boards. Additionally, another director noted that the Reserve Banks needed to continue their outreach to educate the public about monetary policy and the need for an independent Federal Reserve System but cited the Reserve Banks' budget constraints as a limitation to their outreach efforts.

Officials at the Federal Reserve Board noted that the Federal Reserve System functions more effectively and efficiently when each Reserve Bank is implementing good governance procedures because good corporate governance is a key element in improving economic efficiency. Additionally, in a time when the relationships between directors and financial firms are being questioned, transparent governance practices can help in managing reputational risk. Moreover, when there is increased public interest in governance, the Federal Reserve System would be well served by making clear the roles and responsibilities of Reserve Bank directors. Moreover, without more public disclosure of governance arrangements, such as board bylaws and conflict-of-interest policies, there will be continued concerns about Reserve Bank governance.

Conclusions

The Federal Reserve System was designed as a decentralized entity with a governmental institution and 12 separately incorporated Reserve Banks. Under this public-private partnership, the Reserve Bank directors serve a role in bringing information from their communities to inform the monetary policy deliberations of the central bank and helping oversee the operations of the Reserve Banks. The directors, like the Federal Reserve Board, are also part of the governance framework of the Reserve Banks. However, the operations and governance of the Federal Reserve System came to the forefront during the 2007-2009 financial crisis when it played a prominent role in stabilizing financial markets through the use of its emergency lending authorities. These unprecedented actions resulted in Congress and the public raising questions about the Reserve Banks' governance practices and potential conflicts of interest involving the directors.

Specifically, some questioned how well the Reserve Bank boards represent the public, which in part could be measured by the economic and demographic diversity of the directors. Our analysis shows that from 2006 through 2010 labor and consumer groups tended to be less represented than other industry groups on both head office and branch boards. While the Federal Reserve Board encouraged the Reserve Banks to recruit directors from consumer and labor organizations, restrictions on directors' political activities appeared to be a challenge in recruiting representatives from these organizations, who tend to be politically active. Our analysis also shows that while there is some variation among the Reserve Banks in the representation of women and minorities at head office and branch boards, overall, it has remained limited. Although it is difficult to know whether the board's decisions would have been different had there been greater diversity on the boards, the public that the board represents is becoming increasingly diverse. Officials from most Reserve Banks generally focus their search for candidates on senior corporate executives, who are perceived to have a relatively broad perspective on the economy. However, seeking directors from among senior or chieflevel executives may contribute to the limited diversity on the boards because as our analysis of EEOC data shows, diversity at the senior executive level is more limited than at the senior manager level across industries. To the extent that director searches are limited to chief-level executives, the Reserve Banks not only limit the diversity of the pool of potential candidates but also risk limiting the perspectives shared about the economy in the formation of monetary policy.

The statutory requirement for three classes of directors was intended to provide representation of both stockholding banks and the public. However, the existence of Class A and to a lesser extent Class B directors on the boards creates an appearance of a conflict of interest, particularly in matters involving supervision and regulation. Moreover, directors from all three classes could have past and current affiliations with financial institutions. These affiliations have given rise to relationships that pose reputational risk to the Reserve Banks. While director conflicts can be identified and managed, interconnectedness between directors and financial institutions cannot be eliminated: therefore, ongoing challenges remain. For example, the credibility of the Federal Reserve System will be affected by the perceived effectiveness of its ability to manage conflict issues. While the Federal Reserve System has recognized the importance of public perception and made changes to Reserve Bank governance practices, more could be done to increase the flow of information on the directors' roles to the public and strengthen controls. Specifically, greater transparency could assist the public in understanding the roles and functioning of the Reserve Bank boards, such as clarifying the limited nature of Reserve Bank directors' involvement in supervision and regulation operations with a statement in the Reserve Bank board bylaws could help to improve the public's confidence in Reserve Bank governance. While waivers are one way the Federal Reserve System mitigates conflicts involving Federal Reserve Board eligibility requirements, not all Reserve Banks have procedures for requesting a waiver from the Federal Reserve Board. Moreover, if waivers are granted, there is no requirement to make that information public. Failing to make the process and decisions more transparent can decrease confidence in the Federal Reserve System and has resulted in questions about the integrity of Reserve Banks' operations and the appearance of conflicts of interest.

Finally, while the Federal Reserve System has taken steps to increase transparency of governance practices as well as transparency overall, Reserve Bank governance practices were generally not as transparent as those of other central banks and financial institutions that we studied. In a

	time when the Federal Reserve System's emergency actions have resulted in relationships between Reserve Banks and directors and the relationships between directors and financial firms being questioned, more transparent governance practices are essential to the effective and credible functioning of the Reserve Banks and the Federal Reserve System as a whole. While the Federal Reserve System has taken some steps to increase the transparency of its governance practices, such as conducting quarterly press conferences after the FOMC meetings, additional actions such as making key governance documents easily accessible to the public could enhance transparency and protect organizational reputation. Moreover, without more public disclosure of governance arrangements, such as board of director bylaws and director eligibility and ethics policies, there may be continued concerns about Reserve Bank governance and the integrity of the Federal Reserve System.
Recommendations for Executive Action	While the Federal Reserve System recently has made changes to Reserve Bank governance, it can take additional steps to strengthen controls designed to manage conflicts of interest involving Reserve Bank directors and increase public disclosure of directors' roles and responsibilities. As such, we recommend that the Chairman of the Federal Reserve Board take the following four actions:
	• To help enhance economic and demographic diversity and broaden perspectives among Reserve Bank directors who are elected to represent the public, encourage all Reserve Banks to consider ways to broaden their pools of potential candidates for directors, such as including officers who are below the senior executive level at their organizations.
	 To further promote transparency, direct all Reserve Banks to clearly document the roles and responsibilities of the directors, including restrictions on their involvement in supervision and regulation activities, in their bylaws.
	 As part of the Federal Reserve System's continued focus on strengthening governance practices, develop, document, and require all Reserve Banks to adopt a process for requesting waivers from the Federal Reserve Board director eligibility policy and ethics policy for directors. Further, consider requiring Reserve Banks to publicly disclose waivers that are granted to the extent disclosure would not violate a director's personal privacy.

	• To enhance the transparency of Reserve Bank board governance, direct the Reserve Banks to make key governance documents, such as such as board of director bylaws, committee charters and membership, and Federal Reserve Board director eligibility policy and ethics policy, available on their websites or otherwise easily accessible to the public.
Agency Comments and Our Evaluation	We provided copies of this draft report to the Federal Reserve Board and the 12 Federal Reserve Banks for their review and comment. The Federal Reserve Board and the Reserve Banks provided written comments that we have reprinted in appendixes V and VI, respectively. The Federal Reserve Board and Reserve Banks also provided technical comments that we have incorporated as appropriate.
	In its written comments, the Federal Reserve Board agreed that our recommendations have merit and to work to implement each of them. In particular, regarding our first recommendation on broadening the pools of candidates for the Reserve Bank directors, the Federal Reserve Board stated that, as we did in the report, several of the Reserve Banks are already considering qualified candidates who are not chief executives, as we have recommended, and the Federal Reserve Board will continue to explore ways to broaden the pool of candidates to increase diversity on Reserve Bank boards. We believe that diverse perspectives can enhance the formation of monetary policies.
	With respect to our three recommendations to improve transparency, the Federal Reserve Board stated that it will work with the Reserve Banks to consider ways to more clearly include the directors' roles and responsibilities in the bylaws and the Federal Reserve System will continue to ensure that Reserve Bank directors are fully aware of their roles and the policies that govern their positions on the Reserve Bank boards. Further, as we noted in the report, the Federal Reserve Board stated that in 2009 it adopted a process for Reserve Banks to request waivers from the eligibility policy and will consider adopting a process for waivers to the Guide to Conduct as well. In addition, it will consider making public any waivers granted, with due regard for protecting personal privacy. The Federal Reserve Board also stated that it will post various Reserve Bank director-related publications on its website and will work with the Reserve Banks to make available to the public other relevant governance documents and information. We believe that greater transparency could assist the public in understanding the roles and

functioning of the Reserve Bank boards and help increase public confidence in the Federal Reserve System.

In its written comments, the Federal Reserve Banks stated that diversity and transparency are attributes valued and supported uniformly by all Reserve Banks. They stated that they welcomed our recommendation for Reserve Banks to consider ways to broaden the pool of potential candidates and reiterated that some Reserve Banks have already been considering qualified candidates who are not chief executives. They also agreed that transparency could be enhanced by our other recommendations.

We are sending copies of this report to the majority and minority leaders of the Senate and the House of Representatives, appropriate congressional committees, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the 12 Federal Reserve Banks, and other interested parties. In addition, the report is available at no charge on the GAO website at http://www.gao.gov.

If you or your staffs have any questions about this report, please contact Orice Williams Brown at williamso@gao.gov or (202) 512-8678. Contact points for our Offices of Congressional Relations and Public Affairs may be found on the last page of this report. GAO staff who made major contributions to this report are listed in appendix VII.

· Williams Brown

Orice Williams Brown Managing Director, Financial Markets and Community Investment

List of Congressional Addressees

The Honorable Harry Reid Majority Leader United States Senate

The Honorable Mitch McConnell Minority Leader United States Senate

The Honorable Tim Johnson Chairman The Honorable Richard C. Shelby Ranking Member Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs United States Senate

The Honorable Bernie Sanders United States Senate

The Honorable John Boehner Speaker of the House of Representatives

The Honorable Eric Cantor Majority Leader House of Representatives

The Honorable Nancy Pelosi Minority Leader House of Representatives

The Honorable Kevin McCarthy House Majority Whip House of Representatives

The Honorable Steny Hoyer House Minority Whip House of Representatives

The Honorable Spencer Bachus Chairman The Honorable Barney Frank Ranking Member Committee on Financial Services House of Representatives

Appendix I: Federal Reserve Emergency Programs and Reserve Bank Involvement

The Federal Reserve Board Used Emergency and Other Authorities to Authorize Liquidity Programs to Stabilize Markets and Institutions

Between late 2007 and early 2009, the Federal Reserve Board created more than a dozen new emergency programs to stabilize financial markets and provided financial assistance to avert the failures of a few individual institutions.¹ The Federal Reserve Board authorized most of this emergency assistance under emergency authority contained in section 13(3) of the Federal Reserve Act.² Three of the programs covered by this review—Term Auction Facility (TAF), dollar swap lines with foreign central banks, and the Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities (MBS) Purchase program—were authorized under other provisions of the Federal Reserve Act that do not require a determination that emergency conditions exist, although the swap lines and the Agency MBS Purchase Program did require authorization by the Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC). In many cases, the decisions by the Federal Reserve Board, the FOMC, and the Reserve Banks about the authorization, initial terms of, and implementation of the Federal Reserve System's emergency assistance were made over the course of only days or weeks as the Federal Reserve Board sought to act guickly to address rapidly deteriorating market conditions. As illustrated in table 5, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (FRBNY) implemented most of these emergency activities under authorization from the Federal Reserve Board.

¹For this appendix, we use Federal Reserve Board to refer to the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, and Federal Reserve System to refer collectively to the Federal Reserve Board and the Reserve Banks,

²At the time of these authorizations, section 13(3) allowed the Federal Reserve Board, in "unusual and exigent circumstances," to authorize any Reserve Bank to extend credit in the form of a discount to individuals, partnerships, or corporations when the credit was indorsed or otherwise secured to the satisfaction of the Reserve Bank, after obtaining evidence that the individual, partnership, or corporation was unable to secure adequate credit accommodations from other banking institutions. As a result of amendments to section 13(3) made by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Pub. L. No. 111-203), the Federal Reserve Board can now authorize 13(3) lending only through programs or facilities with broad-based eligibility.

Table 5: List of Federal Reserve Emergency Programs and Reserve Banks That Conducted the Operations

Program and assistance	Description	Reserve Bank
Broad-based programs		
Term Auction Facility (Dec. 12, 2007)	Auctioned one-month and three-month discount window loans to eligible depository institutions	All 12 Reserve Banks
Dollar Swap Lines (Dec. 12, 2007)	Exchanged dollars with foreign central banks for foreign currency to help address disruptions in dollar funding markets abroad	FRBNY
Term Securities Lending Facility (Mar. 11, 2008)	Auctioned loans of U.S. Treasury securities to primary dealers against eligible collateral	FRBNY
Primary Dealer Credit Facility (Mar. 16, 2008)	Provided overnight cash loans to primary dealers against eligible collateral	FRBNY ^a
Asset-Backed Commercial Paper Money Market Mutual Fund Liquidity Facility (Sept. 19, 2008)	Provided loans to depository institutions and their affiliates to finance purchases of eligible asset-backed commercial paper from money market mutual funds	Federal Reserve Bank of Boston (FRBB)
Commercial Paper Funding Facility (Oct. 7, 2008)	Provided loans to a special-purpose vehicle to finance purchases of new issues of asset-backed commercial paper and unsecured commercial paper from eligible issuers	FRBNY
Money Market Investor Funding Facility (Oct. 21, 2008, but never used)	Created to finance the purchase of eligible short-term debt obligations held by money market mutual funds	FRBNY
Term Asset-Backed Securities Loan Facility (Nov. 25, 2008)	Provided loans to eligible investors to finance purchases of eligible asset-backed securities	FRBNY
Assistance to individual institutions		
Bear Stearns Companies, Inc. acquisition I	by JP Morgan Chase & Co.	
Bridge Loan (Mar. 14, 2008)	Overnight loan provided to JP Morgan Chase & Co. bank subsidiary, with which this subsidiary made a direct loan to Bear Stearns Companies, Inc.	FRBNY
Maiden Lane (Mar. 16, 2008)	Special purpose vehicle created to purchase approximately \$30 billion of Bear Stearns's mortgage- related assets	FRBNY
American International Group, Inc. (AIG)		
Revolving Credit Facility (Sept. 16, 2008)	Revolving loan for the general corporate purposes of AIG and its subsidiaries, and to pay obligations as they came due	FRBNY
Securities Borrowing Facility (Oct. 8, 2008)	Provided collateralized cash loans to reduce pressure on AIG to liquidate residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS) in its securities lending reinvestment portfolio	FRBNY
Maiden Lane II (Nov.10, 2008)	Special purpose vehicle created to purchase residential mortgage-backed securities from the securities lending portfolios of AIG subsidiaries	FRBNY
Maiden Lane III (Nov.10, 2008)	Special purpose vehicle created to purchase collateralized debt obligations on which AIG Financial Products had written credit default swaps	FRBNY

Program and assistance	Description	Reserve Bank
Life Insurance Securitization (March 2, 2009, but never used)	Authorized to provide credit to AIG that would be repaid with cash flows from its life insurance businesses	FRBNY
Credit extensions to affiliates of some primary dealers (Sept. 21, 2008)	Loans provided to broker-dealer affiliates of four primary dealers on terms similar to those for Primary Dealer Credit Facility	FRBNY
Citigroup lending commitment (Nov. 23, 2008)	Commitment to provide nonrecourse loan to Citigroup against ring-fence assets if losses on asset pool reached \$56.2 billion	FRBNY
Bank of America lending commitment (<i>Jan. 16, 2009</i>)	Commitment to provide nonrecourse loan facility to Bank of America if losses on ring-fence assets exceeded \$18 billion (agreement never finalized)	Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond (FRBR)
Open market operations		
Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities Purchase Program (Nov. 25, 2008)	Purchased agency mortgage-backed securities to provide support to mortgage and housing markets and to foster improved conditions in the financial markets more generally	FRBNY
So	urce: GAO summary of Federal Reserve System documents.	
pr au au °F	otes: Dates in parentheses are the program announcement dates, ar ogram or assistance was closed or terminated. On October 3, 2008, uthorized the Direct Money Market Mutual Fund Lending Facility (DM uthorization 1 week later. DMLF was not implemented.	the Federal Reserve Board
	PDCF was administered by FRBNY with operational assistance provious anks of Atlanta and Chicago .	ded by the Federal Reserve
pi ei M to fii bi pi	a 2009, FRBNY, at the direction of the FOMC, beg urchases of MBS issued by the housing governme nterprises, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, or guara lae. ³ Purchases of these agency MBS were intend the mortgage and housing markets and to foster nancial markets more generally. Most of the Feder road-based emergency programs closed on Febru rovides a timeline for the establishment, modificati ederal Reserve System emergency programs sub	ent-sponsored anteed by Ginnie ded to provide support improved conditions in ral Reserve Board's uary 1, 2010. Figure 11 ion, and termination of

³Mortgage-backed securities are securities that represent claims to the cash flows from pools of mortgage loans, such as mortgages on residential property





Source: Federal Reserve System documents and press releases.

In December 2007, the Federal Reserve Board Created TAF and Opened Swap Lines under Nonemergency Authorities to Address Global Strains in Interbank Lending Markets

In the months before the authorization of TAF and new swap line arrangements, which were the first of the emergency programs subject to this review, the Federal Reserve Board took steps to ease emerging strains in credit markets through its traditional monetary policy tools. In late summer 2007, sudden strains in term interbank lending markets emerged primarily due to intensifying investor concerns about commercial banks' actual exposures to various mortgage-related securities. The cost of term funding (loans provided at terms of 1 month or longer) spiked suddenly in August 2007, and commercial banks increasingly had to borrow overnight to meet their funding needs.⁴ The Federal Reserve Board feared that the disorderly functioning of interbank lending markets would impair the ability of commercial banks to provide credit to households and businesses. To ease stresses in these markets, on August 17, 2007, the Federal Reserve Board made two temporary changes to the terms at which Reserve Banks extended loans through the discount window. First, it approved the reduction of the discount rate—the interest rate at which the Reserve Banks extended collateralized loans at the discount window—by 50 basis points.⁵ Second, to address specific strains in term-funding markets, the Federal Reserve Board approved extending the discount window lending term from overnight to up to 30 days, with the possibility of renewal. According to a Federal Reserve Board study, this change initially resulted in little additional borrowing from the discount window.⁶ In addition to the discount window changes, starting in September 2007, the FOMC announced a series of reductions in the target federal funds rate-the FOMC-established target interest rate that banks charge each other for loans. In October 2007, tension in term funding subsided temporarily. However, issues reappeared in late November and early December, possibly driven in part by a seasonal contraction in the supply of year-end funding.

⁵One basis point is equivalent to 0.01 percent or 1/100th of a percent.

⁴The sudden spike in the cost of term funding followed the August 9, 2007, announcement by BNP Paribas, a large banking organization based in France, that it could not value certain mortgage-related assets in three of its investment funds because of a lack of liquidity in U.S. securitization markets. Greater reliance on overnight borrowing increased the volatility of banks' funding costs and increased "roll-over" risk, or the risk that banks would not be able to renew their funding as loans matured.

⁶Federal Reserve Board, *Monetary Policy Report to the Congress* (February 27, 2008). Available at http://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/hh/2008/february/fullreport.pdf. This paper observed that the average interest rate in interbank lending markets was almost equal, on average, to the lower discount rate. In addition, because of the perceived stigma associated with borrowing from the discount window, depository institutions may have been reluctant to turn to the discount window for funding support.

Term Auction Facility

On December 12, 2007, the Federal Reserve Board announced the creation of TAF to address continuing disruptions in U.S. term interbank lending markets. The Federal Reserve Board authorized Reserve Banks to extend credit through TAF by revising the regulations governing Reserve Bank discount window lending. TAF was intended to help provide term funding to depository institutions eligible to borrow from the discount window.⁷ In contrast to the traditional discount window program, which loaned funds to individual institutions at the discount rate. TAF was designed to auction loans to many eligible institutions at once at a market-determined interest rate. Federal Reserve Board officials noted that one important advantage of this auction approach was that it could address concerns among eligible borrowers about the perceived stigma of discount window borrowing.⁸ Federal Reserve Board officials noted that an institution might be reluctant to borrow from the discount window out of concern that its creditors and other counterparties might become aware of its discount window use and perceive it as a sign of distress. The auction format allowed banks to approach the Reserve Banks collectively rather than individually and obtain funds at an interest rate set by auction rather than at a premium set by the Federal Reserve Board.⁹ Additionally, whereas discount window loan funds could be obtained immediately by an institution facing severe funding pressures, TAF borrowers did not receive loan funds until 3 days after the auction. For these reasons, TAF-eligible borrowers may have attached less of a stigma to auctions than to traditional discount window borrowing. The first TAF auction was held on December 17, 2007, with subsequent auctions

⁷Section 10B of the Federal Reserve Act provides the Reserve Banks broad authority to extend credit to depository institutions.

⁹When TAF auction demand was less than the total amount offered for the TAF auction, the interest rate resulting from the auction was the minimum bid rate set by the Federal Reserve Board—not a competitively determined rated.

⁸Another important advantage of TAF relative to encouraging greater use of the discount window was that the Federal Reserve Board could more easily control the impact of auctioned funds on monetary policy. While the Federal Reserve Board could not predict with certainty the demand for discount window loans, it could control the amount of TAF loans provided at each auction. As a result, the FOMC and FRBNY could more easily coordinate monetary policy operations to offset the impact of TAF auctions. For example, to offset the injection of \$75 billion of reserves into the financial system in the form of TAF loans, FRBNY could sell \$75 billion of Treasury securities through its open market operations. All else equal, the net effect of these two actions would be to have no impact on total reserves.

	occurring approximately every 2 weeks until the final TAF auction on March 8, 2010.
Dollar Swap Lines	Concurrent with the announcement of TAF, the FOMC announced the establishment of dollar swap arrangements with two foreign central banks to address similar disruptions in dollar funding markets abroad. In a typical swap line transaction, FRBNY exchanged dollars for the foreign central bank's currency at the prevailing exchange rate, and the foreign central bank agreed to buy back its currency (to "unwind" the exchange) at this same exchange rate at an agreed upon future date. The market for interbank funding in U.S. dollars is global, and many foreign banks hold U.Sdollar-denominated assets and fund these assets by borrowing in U.S. dollars. In contrast to U.S. commercial banks, foreign banks did not hold significant U.Sdollar deposits, and as a result, dollar funding disruptions were particularly acute for many foreign banks during the recent crisis. In December 2007, the European Central Bank and Swiss National Bank requested dollar swap arrangements with the Federal Reserve System to increase their ability to provide U.S. dollar loans to banks in their jurisdictions. Federal Reserve Board staff memorandums recommending that the FOMC approve these swap arrangements noted that continuing tension in dollar funding markets abroad could further exacerbate tensions in U.S. funding markets. ¹⁰ On December 6, 2007, the FOMC approved requests from the European Central Bank and Swiss National Bank and authorized FRBNY to establish temporary swap lines under section 14 of the Federal Reserve Act. ¹¹ During 2008, the FOMC

¹⁰For example, an FRBNY staff paper observed that by facilitating access to dollar funding the swap lines could reduce the need for foreign banks to sell dollar assets into stressed markets, which could have further reduced prices for these dollar assets.

¹¹The Federal Reserve Board has interpreted section 14 of the Federal Reserve Act to permit the Federal Reserve Banks to conduct open market operations in foreign exchange markets and to open and maintain accounts in foreign currency with foreign central banks. Section 14 states that "[a]ny Federal reserve bank may... purchase and sell in the open market, at home or abroad, either from or to domestic or foreign banks, firms, corporations, or individuals, cable transfers..." The Federal Reserve Board has interpreted "cable transfers" to mean foreign exchange. Section 14(e) authorizes Reserve Banks to "open and maintain accounts in foreign countries, appoint correspondents, and establish agencies in such countries..." and "to open and maintain banking accounts for...foreign banks or bankers...." The use of swap lines under section 14 of the Federal Reserve Act is not new. For example, FRBNY instituted temporary swap arrangements following September 11, 2001, with the European Central Bank and the Bank of England.

approved temporary swap lines with 12 other foreign central banks.¹² FRBNY's swap lines with the 14 central banks closed on February 1, 2010. In May 2010, to address the re-emergence of strains in dollar funding markets, FRBNY reopened swap lines with the Bank of Canada, the Bank of England, the European Central Bank, the Bank of Japan, and the Swiss National Bank through January 2011. On December 21, 2010, the FOMC announced an extension of these lines through August 1, 2011. On June 29, 2011, the Federal Reserve Board announced an extension of these swap lines through August 1, 2012.

In March 2008, the Federal Reserve Board Invoked Emergency Authority to Facilitate Sale of Bear Stearns and Expansion of Liquidity Support to Primary Dealers

In early March 2008, the Federal Reserve Board observed growing tension in the repurchase agreement markets-large, short-term collateralized funding markets-that many financial institutions rely on to finance a wide range of securities. Under a repurchase agreement, a borrowing institution generally acquires funds by selling securities to a lending institution and agreeing to repurchase the securities after a specified time at a given price. The securities, in effect, are collateral provided by the borrower to the lender. In the event of a borrower's default on the repurchase transaction, the lender would be able to take (and sell) the collateral provided by the borrower. Lenders typically will not provide a loan for the full market value of the posted securities, and the difference between the values of the securities and the loan is called a margin or haircut. This deduction is intended to protect the lenders against a decline in the price of the securities provided as collateral.¹³ In early March, the Federal Reserve Board found that repurchase agreement lenders were requiring higher haircuts for loans against a range of securities and were becoming reluctant to lend against mortgage-related securities. As a result, many financial institutions increasingly had to rely on higher-quality collateral, such as U.S. Treasury securities, to obtain cash in these markets, and a shortage of such high-guality collateral emerged.¹⁴ In March 2008, the

¹³When the market value of assets used to secure or collateralize repurchase transactions declines, borrowers are usually required to post additional collateral.

¹⁴Unusually high demand for certain U.S. Treasury securities resulted in negative yields on these securities at times during the crisis, indicating that investors were willing to accept a small loss in return for the relative safety of these securities.

¹²These foreign central banks were the Reserve Bank of Australia, the Banco Central do Brasil, the Bank of Canada, Danmarks Nationalbank (Denmark), the Bank of England (United Kingdom), the Bank of Japan, the Bank of Korea (South Korea), the Banco de Mexico, the Reserve Bank of New Zealand, Norges Bank (Norway), the Monetary Authority of Singapore, and Sveriges Riksbank (Sweden).

	Federal Reserve Board cited "unusual and exigent circumstances" in invoking section 13(3) of the Federal Reserve Act to authorize FRBNY to implement four emergency actions to address deteriorating conditions in these markets: (1) TSLF, (2) a bridge loan to Bear Stearns, (3) a commitment to lend up to \$30 billion against Bear Stearns assets that resulted in the creation of Maiden Lane LLC, and (4) PDCF.
Term Securities Lending Facility	On March 11, 2008, the Federal Reserve Board announced the creation of the TSLF to auction 28-day loans of U.S. Treasury securities to primary dealers to increase the amount of high-quality collateral available for these dealers to borrow against in the repurchase agreement markets. Through competitive auctions that allowed dealers to bid a fee to exchange harder-to-finance collateral for easier-to-finance Treasury securities, TSLF was intended to promote confidence among lenders and to reduce the need for dealers to sell illiquid assets into the markets, which could have further depressed the prices of these assets and contributed to a downward price spiral. ¹⁵ TSLF auctioned loans of Treasury securities against two schedules of collateral. Schedule 1 collateral included treasuries, agency debt, and agency MBS collateral that FRBNY accepted in repurchase agreements for traditional open market operations with primary dealers. ¹⁶ Schedule 2 included schedule 1 collateral as well as a broader range of assets, including highly rated mortgage-backed securities. ¹⁷ The Federal Reserve Board determined that providing funding support for private mortgage-backed securities through the schedule 2 auctions fell outside the scope of FRBNY's authority to conduct its securities lending program under section 14 of the Federal Reserve Act. Accordingly, for the first time during this crisis, the
	¹⁵ For more information about the potential causes and impacts of downward price spirals, see GAO, <i>Financial Markets Regulation: Financial Crisis Highlights Need to Improve Oversight of Leverage at Financial Institutions and across System</i> , GAO-09-739 (Washington, D.C.: July 22, 2009).
	¹⁶ Before the crisis, FRBNY ran an overnight securities lending facility, the terms of which involved the lending of certain Treasury securities by FRBNY to primary dealers against other Treasury securities as collateral. Certain of the legal infrastructure for the traditional securities lending program was used for TSLF. Other legal and operational infrastructure had to be created specifically for TSLF.
	¹⁷ TSLF held separate auctions of Treasury securities against two different schedules of collateral to better calibrate the interest rate on TSLF loans to the level of risk associated with the collateral. The Federal Reserve Board set a higher minimum interest rate for schedule 2 TSLF auctions, which accepted riskier collateral types than schedule 1 auctions.

	Federal Reserve Board invoked section 13(3) of the Federal Reserve Act to authorize the extension of credit, in this case in the form of Treasury securities, to nondepository institutions—in this case, the primary dealers. As discussed later in this appendix the Federal Reserve Board later expanded the range of collateral eligible for TSLF as the crisis intensified. TSLF closed on February 1, 2010.
Bridge Loan to Bear Stearns	Shortly following the announcement of TSLF, the Federal Reserve Board invoked its emergency authority for a second time to authorize an emergency loan to avert a disorderly failure of Bear Stearns. ¹⁸ TSLF was announced on March 11, 2008, and the first TSLF auction was held on March 27, 2008. Federal Reserve Board officials noted that although TSLF was announced to address market tensions affecting many firms, some market participants concluded that its establishment was driven by specific concerns about Bear Stearns. Over a few days, Bear Stearns experienced a run on its liquidity as many of its lenders grew concerned that the firm would suffer greater losses in the future and stopped providing funding to the firm, even on a fully secured basis with high-quality assets provided as collateral. ¹⁹ Late on Thursday, March 13, 2008, the senior management of Bear Stearns notified the Federal Reserve that it would likely have to file for bankruptcy protection the following day unless the Federal Reserve provided the firm with an emergency loan. The Federal Reserve Board feared that the sudden failure of Bear Stearns stearns was a significant participant, including the repurchase agreements market. In particular, a Bear Stearns failure may have threatened the liquidity and solvency of other large institutions that relied heavily on short-term secured funding markets. On Friday, March 14, 2008, the Federal Reserve Board voted to authorize FRBNY to provide a
	¹⁸ Bear Stearns was one of the largest primary dealers and engaged in a broad range of activities, including investment banking, securities and derivatives trading, brokerage services, and origination and securitization of mortgage loans.
	¹⁹ In our prior work on the financial crisis, Securities and Exchange Commission officials told us that neither they nor the broader regulatory community anticipated this development and that the Securities and Exchange Commission had not directed large broker-dealer holding companies to plan for the unavailability of secured funding in their contingent funding plans. Securities and Exchange Commission officials stated that no financial institution could survive without secured funding. Rumors about clients moving cash and security balances elsewhere and, more importantly, counterparties not

transacting with Bear Stearns also placed strains on the firm's ability to obtain secured

financing. See GAO-09-739.

\$12.9 billion loan to Bear Stearns through JP Morgan Chase Bank, National Association, the largest bank subsidiary of JP Morgan Chase & Co. (JPMC), and to accept \$13.8 billion of Bear Stearns assets as collateral.²⁰ This back-to-back loan transaction was repaid on Monday, March 17, 2008, with almost \$4 million of interest. This emergency loan enabled Bear Stearns to avoid bankruptcy and continue to operate through the weekend. This provided time for potential acquirers, including JPMC, to assess Bear Stearns's financial condition and for FRBNY to prepare a new liquidity program, PDCF, to address strains that could emerge from a possible Bear Stearns bankruptcy announcement the following Monday. Federal Reserve Board and FRBNY officials hoped that bankruptcy could be averted by the announcement that a private sector firm would acquire Bear Stearns and stand behind its liabilities when the markets reopened on the following Monday.

Maiden Lane LLC On Sunday, March 16, 2008, the Federal Reserve Board announced that FRBNY would lend up to \$30 billion against certain Bear Stearns assets to facilitate JPMC's acquisition of Bear Stearns. Over the weekend, JPMC had emerged as the only viable acquirer of Bear Stearns. In congressional testimony, Timothy Geithner, who was the President of FRBNY in March 2008, provided the following account:

> "Bear approached several major financial institutions, beginning on March 13. Those discussions intensified on Friday and Saturday. Bear's management provided us with periodic progress reports about a possible merger. Although several different institutions expressed interest in acquiring all or part of Bear, it was clear that the size of Bear, the apparent risk in its balance sheet, and the limited amount of time available for a possible acquirer to conduct due diligence compounded the difficulty. Ultimately, only JPMorgan Chase was willing to consider an

²⁰The loan was made through JP Morgan Chase Bank, National Association pursuant to FRBNY's discount window authority under section 10B of the Federal Reserve Act. Recognizing that the ultimate borrower was Bear Stearns, a nondepository institution, the Board of Governors voted on the afternoon of March 14, 2008, to authorize the loan under section 13(3) authority. Federal Reserve Board officials explained that the use of JP Morgan Chase Bank, National Association as an intermediary was not strictly required as section 13(3) permitted a direct loan to Bear Stearns. However, they used the back-to-back loan structure because this was the structure FRBNY lawyers had prepared for in developing required legal documentation late on Thursday, March 13, 2008.

offer of a binding commitment to acquire the firm and to stand behind Bear's substantial short-term obligations."²¹

According to FRBNY officials, on the morning of Sunday, March 16, 2008, JPMC's Chief Executive Officer told FRBNY that the merger would be possible only if certain mortgage-related assets were taken off Bear Stearns's balance sheet. Negotiations between JPMC and FRBNY senior management resulted in a preliminary agreement under which FRBNY would make a \$30 billion nonrecourse loan to JPMC collateralized by these Bear Stearns assets. A March 16, 2008, letter from then-FRBNY president Geithner to JPMC's Chief Executive Officer documented the terms of the preliminary agreement.²²

Significant issues that threatened to unravel the merger agreement emerged soon after the announcement. Bear Stearns board members and shareholders thought JPMC's offer to purchase the firm at \$2 per share was too low and threatened to vote against the merger. Perceived ambiguity in the terms of the merger agreement raised further concerns that JPMC could be forced to stand behind Bear Stearns's obligations even in the event that the merger was rejected. Moreover, some Bear Stearns counterparties stopped trading with Bear Stearns because of uncertainty about whether JPMC would honor certain Bear Stearns obligations. FRBNY also had concerns with the level of protection provided under the preliminary lending agreement, under which FRBNY had agreed to lend on a nonrecourse basis against risky collateral. The risks of an unraveled merger agreement included a possible Bear Stearns

²¹Timothy F. Geithner, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs (Washington, D.C., Apr. 3, 2008).

²²Under the terms outlined in this letter and approved by the Federal Reserve Board, FRBNY agreed to lend up to \$30 billion to JPMC against eligible Bear Stearns collateral listed in an attachment to the letter. The types and amounts of eligible collateral under this agreement were broadly similar to the assets ultimately included under the final lending structure, Maiden Lane LLC. The agreed price of the collateral was to be based on Bear Stearns's valuation of the collateral as of March 14, 2008, regardless of the date of any lending to JPMC under this agreement. JPMC would not have been required to post margin in any amount to secure any borrowing under this agreement. The letter also included certain regulatory exemptions for JPMC in connection with its agreement to acquire Bear Stearns. For example, the Federal Reserve Board granted an 18-month exemption to JPMC from the Federal Reserve Board's risk-based and leverage capital requirements for bank holding companies. The exemption would allow JPMC to exclude the assets and exposures of Bear Stearns from its risk-weighted assets for purposes of applying the risk-based capital requirements at the parent bank holding company.

bankruptcy and losses for JPMC, which might have been legally required to stand behind the obligations of a failed institution. Recognizing the risk that an unraveled merger posed to JPMC and the broader financial markets, FRBNY officials sought to renegotiate the lending agreement. During the following week, the terms of this agreement were renegotiated, resulting in the creation of a new lending structure in the form of Maiden Lane LLC. From March 17 to March 24, 2008, FRBNY, JPMC, and Bear Stearns engaged in dual track negotiations to address each party's concerns with the preliminary merger and lending agreements. On March 24, 2008, FRBNY and JPMC agreed to a new lending structure that incorporated greater loss protections for FRBNY. Specifically, FRBNY created a special-purpose vehicle (SPV), Maiden Lane LLC, that used proceeds from a \$28.82 billion FRBNY senior loan and a \$1.15 billion JPMC subordinated loan to purchase Bear Stearns assets. While one team of Federal Reserve Board and FRBNY staff worked on **Primary Dealer Credit Facility** options to avert a Bear Stearns failure, another team worked to ready PDCF for launch by Monday, March 17, 2008, when Federal Reserve Board officials feared a Bear Stearns bankruptcy announcement might trigger runs on the liquidity of other primary dealers. The liquidity support from TSLF would not become available until the first TSLF auction later in the month. On March 16, 2008, the Federal Reserve Board announced the creation of PDCF to provide overnight collateralized cash loans to the primary dealers. FRBNY quickly implemented PDCF by leveraging its existing legal and operational infrastructure for its existing repurchase agreement relationships with the primary dealers.²³ Although the Bear Stearns bankruptcy was averted, PDCF commenced operation on March 17, 2008, and in its first week extended loans to 10 primary dealers. Bear Stearns was consistently the largest PDCF borrower until June 2008. Eligible PDCF collateral initially included investment-grade corporate securities, municipal securities, and asset-backed securities, including mortgage-backed securities. The Federal Reserve Board authorized an

²³Before the crisis, FRBNY regularly undertook traditional temporary open market operations—repurchase agreement transactions—with primary dealers. The repurchase transactions, in normal times, are used by FRBNY to attempt to meet the target federal funds rate, as directed by the FOMC, by temporarily increasing the amount of reserves. The repurchase transactions undertaken pursuant to PDCF were not for the purpose of increasing reserves (although they did do that), but rather for extending credit as authorized by the Federal Reserve Board.

expansion of collateral types eligible for PDCF loans later in the crisis. This program was terminated on February 1, 2010.

In Fall 2008, the Federal Reserve Board Modified Existing Programs and Launched Additional Programs to Support Other Key Markets

In September 2008, the bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers triggered an intensification of the financial crisis, and the Federal Reserve Board modified the terms for its existing liquidity programs to address worsening conditions. On September 14, 2008, shortly before Lehman Brothers announced it would file for bankruptcy, the Federal Reserve Board announced changes to TSLF and PDCF to provide expanded liquidity support to primary dealers. Specifically, the Federal Reserve Board announced that TSLF-eligible collateral would be expanded to include all investment-grade debt securities and PDCF-eligible collateral would be expanded to include all securities eligible to be pledged in the triparty repurchase agreements system, including noninvestment grade securities and equities.²⁴ In addition, TSLF schedule 2 auctions would take place weekly rather than only biweekly. On September 21, 2008, the Federal Reserve Board announced that it would extend credit—on terms similar to those applicable for PDCF loans-to the U.S. and London broker-dealer subsidiaries of Merrill Lynch & Co. (Merrill Lynch), Goldman Sachs Group Inc. (Goldman Sachs), and Morgan Stanley to provide support to these subsidiaries as they became part of bank holding companies that would be regulated by the Federal Reserve System.²⁵ On September 29, 2008, the Federal Reserve Board also announced expanded support through TAF and the dollar swap lines. Specifically, the Federal Reserve Board doubled the amount of funds that would be available in each TAF auction cycle from

²⁴For TSLF, previously, only Treasury securities, agency securities, and AAA-rated mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities could be pledged. For PDCF, previously, eligible collateral had to have at least an investment-grade rating. Tri-party repurchase agreements include three parties: the borrower, the lender, and a tri-party agent that facilitates the repurchase agreement transaction by providing custody of the securities posted as collateral and valuing the collateral, among other services.

²⁵Concurrently, the Federal Reserve Board announced that it had approved applications by Goldman Sachs and Morgan Stanley to become bank holding companies. In addition, Bank of America agreed to acquire Merrill Lynch, which would become part of a bank holding company pending completion of its merger with Bank of America, a bank holding company supervised by the Federal Reserve System. On November 23, 2008, in connection with other actions taken by Treasury, FDIC, and the Federal Reserve Board to assist Citigroup Inc., the Federal Reserve Board authorized FRBNY to extend credit to the London-based broker-dealer of Citigroup on terms similar to those applicable to PDCF loans. The other actions taken to assist Citigroup Inc. are discussed later in this appendix.

\$150 billion to \$300 billion, and the FOMC authorized a \$330 billion expansion of the swap line arrangements with foreign central banks.

In the months following Lehman's bankruptcy, the Federal Reserve Board authorized several new liquidity programs under section 13(3) of the Federal Reserve Act to provide support to other key funding markets, such as the commercial paper and the asset-backed security markets. In contrast to earlier emergency programs that represented relatively modest extensions of established Federal Reserve System lending or open market operation activities, these newer programs incorporated more novel design features and targeted new market participants with which the Reserve Banks had not historically transacted. As was the case with the earlier programs, many of these newer programs were designed and launched under extraordinary time constraints as the Federal Reserve Board sought to address rapidly deteriorating market conditions. In order of their announcement, these programs included (1) Asset-Backed Commercial Paper Money Market Mutual Fund Liquidity Facility (AMLF) to provide liquidity support to money market mutual funds (MMMF) in meeting redemption demands from investors and to foster liquidity in the asset-backed commercial paper (ABCP) market, (2) Commercial Paper Funding Facility (CPFF) to provide a liquidity backstop to eligible issuers of commercial paper, (3) the Money Market Investor Funding Facility (MMIFF) to serve as an additional backstop for MMMFs, and (4) the Term Asset-Backed Securities Loan Facility (TALF) to assist certain securitization markets that supported the flow of credit to households and businesses.

Asset-Backed Commercial Paper Money Market Mutual Fund Liquidity Facility

On September 19, 2008, the Federal Reserve Board authorized FRBB to establish AMLF to provide liquidity support to MMMFs facing redemption pressures.²⁶ According to FRBB staff, the processes and procedures to implement AMLF were designed over the weekend before FRBB commenced operation of AMLF on September 22, 2008. MMMFs were a major source of short-term credit for financial institutions, including through MMMFs' purchases and holdings of ABCP. ABCP continued to be an important source of funding for many businesses.²⁷ Following the announcement that a large MMMF had "broken the buck"-net asset value fell below \$1 per share—as a result of losses on Lehman's commercial paper, other MMMFs faced a large wave of redemption requests as investors sought to limit their potential exposures to the financial sector. The Federal Reserve Board was concerned that attempts by MMMFs to raise cash through forced sales of ABCP and other assets into illiquid markets could further depress the prices of these assets and exacerbate strains in short-term funding markets. AMLF's design, which relied on intermediary borrowers to use Reserve Bank loans to fund the same-day purchase of eligible ABCP from MMMFs, reflected the need to overcome practical constraints in lending to MMMFs directly. According to Federal Reserve System officials, MMMFs would have had limited

²⁶A mutual fund is a company that pools money from many investors and invests the money in stocks, bonds, short-term money market instruments, other securities or assets, or some combination of these investments. These investments constitute the fund's portfolio. Mutual funds are registered and regulated under the Investment Company Act of 1940, and are supervised by the Securities and Exchange Commission. Mutual funds sell shares to public investors. Each share represents an investor's proportionate ownership in the fund's holdings and the income those holdings generate. Mutual fund shares are "redeemable," which means that when mutual fund investors want to sell their shares, the investors sell them back to the fund, or to a broker acting for the fund, at their current net asset value per share, minus any fees the fund may charge. MMMFs are mutual funds that are registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, and regulated under Securities and Exchange Commission rule 2a-7 under that act. MMMFs invest in highquality, short-term debt instruments such as commercial paper, treasury bills, and repurchase agreements. Generally, these funds, unlike other investment companies, seek to maintain a stable net asset value per share (market value of assets minus liabilities divided by number of shares outstanding), typically \$1 per share.

²⁷Many financial institutions created ABCP conduits that would purchase various assets, including mortgage-related securities, financial institution debt, and receivables from industrial businesses. To obtain funds to purchase these assets, these conduits borrowed using shorter-term debt instruments, such as ABCP and medium-term notes. The difference between the interest paid to the ABCP or note holders and the income earned on the entity's assets produced fee and other income for the sponsoring institution. However, these structures carried the risk that the entity would find it difficult or costly to renew its debt financing under less-favorable market conditions.

	capacity to borrow directly from the Reserve Banks in amounts that would be sufficient to meet redemption requests because of statutory and fund- specific limitations on fund borrowing. To quickly support the MMMF market, the Federal Reserve Board authorized loans to entities that conduct funding and custodial activities, which include holding and administering the accounts with MMMF assets, with MMMFs to fund the purchase of ABCP from MMMFs. Eligible borrowers were identified as discount-window-eligible depository institutions (U.S. depository institutions and U.S. branches and agencies of foreign banks) and U.S. bank holding companies and their U.S. broker-dealer affiliates. ²⁸ The interest rate on AMLF loans was lower than the returns on eligible ABCP, providing incentives for eligible intermediary borrowers to participate. AMLF closed on February 1, 2010.
Commercial Paper Funding Facility	On October 7, 2008, the Federal Reserve Board announced the creation of CPFF to provide a liquidity backstop to U.S. issuers of commercial paper. Commercial paper is an important source of short-term funding for U.S. financial and nonfinancial businesses. ²⁹ CPFF became operational on October 27, 2008, and was operated by FRBNY. In establishing CPFF, FRBNY created an SPV that was to directly purchase new issues of eligible ABCP and unsecured commercial paper with the proceeds of loans it received from FRBNY for that purpose. ³⁰ In the weeks leading up to CPFF's announcement, the commercial paper markets showed clear signs of strain: the volume of commercial paper outstanding declined, interest rates on longer-term commercial paper increased significantly, and increasing amounts of commercial paper were issued on an overnight basis as money market funds and other investors became reluctant to purchase commercial paper at longer-dated maturities. ³¹

²⁸A branch or agency of a foreign bank is a legal extension of the foreign bank and is not a freestanding entity in the United States. Foreign bank branches and agencies operating in the United States are subject to Federal Reserve regulations, and the Federal Reserve examines most foreign bank branches and agencies annually.

²⁹There are two main types of commercial paper: unsecured and asset-backed. Unsecured paper is not backed by collateral, and the credit rating of the issuing institution is a key variable in determining the cost of its issuance. In contrast, ABCP is collateralized by assets and therefore is a secured form of borrowing.

³⁰The CPFF SPV was needed to allow FRBNY to engage in market transactions (purchases of commercial paper) outside its traditional operating framework for discount window lending.

³¹Commercial paper generally has fixed maturities of 1 to 270 days.

	During this time, MMMFs faced a surge of redemption demands from investors concerned about losses on presumably safe instruments. The Federal Reserve Board concluded that disruptions in the commercial paper markets, combined with tension in other credit markets, threatened the broader economy as many large commercial paper issuers promoted the flow of credit to households and businesses. By standing ready to purchase eligible commercial paper, CPFF was intended to eliminate much of the risk that commercial paper issuers would be unable to issue new commercial paper to replace their maturing commercial paper obligations. By reducing this risk, CPFF was expected to encourage investors to continue or resume their purchases of commercial paper at longer maturities. CPFF closed on February 1, 2010.
Money Market Investor Funding Facility	On October 21, 2008, the Federal Reserve Board authorized FRBNY to work with the private sector to create MMIFF to serve as an additional backstop for MMMFs. MMIFF complemented AMLF by standing ready to purchase a broader range of short-term debt instruments held by MMMFs, including certificates of deposit and bank notes. MMIFF's design featured a complex lending structure through which five SPVs would purchase eligible instruments from eligible funds. In contrast to other Federal Reserve Board programs that created SPVs, MMIFF SPVs were set up and managed by private sector entities. According to FRBNY staff, JPMC, in collaboration with other firms that sponsored large MMMFs, brought the idea for an MMIFF-like facility to FRBNY in early October 2008, FRBNY worked with JPMC to set up the MMIFF SPVs but did not contract directly with JPMC or the firm that managed the MMIFF program. While MMIFF became operational in late November 2008, it was never used.
Term Asset-Backed Securities Loan Facility	In November 2008, the Federal Reserve Board authorized FRBNY to create TALF to reopen the securitization markets in an effort to improve access to credit for consumers and businesses. ³² During the recent financial crisis, the value of many asset-backed securities (ABS) dropped precipitously, bringing originations in the securitization markets to a virtual halt. Problems in the securitization markets threatened to make it more

³²Securitization is a process by which similar debt instruments—such as loans, leases, or receivables—are aggregated into pools, and interest-bearing securities backed by such pools are then sold to investors. These asset-backed securities provide a source of liquidity for consumers and small businesses because financial institutions can take assets that they would otherwise hold on their balance sheets, sell them as securities, and use the proceeds to originate new loans, among other purposes.

	difficult for households and small businesses to access the credit that they needed to, among other things, buy cars and homes and expand inventories and operations. ³³ TALF provided nonrecourse loans to eligible U.S. companies and individuals in return for collateral in the form of securities that could be forfeited if the loans were not repaid. ³⁴ TALF was one of the more operationally complex programs, and the first TALF subscription was not held until March 2009. In contrast to other programs that had been launched in days or weeks, TALF required several months of preparation to refine program terms and conditions and consider how to leverage vendor firms to best achieve TALF policy objectives. TALF closed on June 30, 2010.
In Late 2008 and Early 2009, the Federal Reserve Board Announced Its Participation in Government Assistance to Individual Institutions	In late 2008 and early 2009, the Federal Reserve Board again invoked its authority under section 13(3) of the Federal Reserve Act to authorize assistance to avert the failures of three institutions that it determined to be systemically significant (1) American International Group, Inc. (AIG); (2) Citigroup, Inc. (Citigroup); and (3) Bank of America Corporation (Bank of America).
AIG	In September 2008, the Federal Reserve Board and the Treasury determined through analysis of information provided by AIG and insurance regulators, as well as publicly available information, that market events could cause AIG to fail, which would pose systemic risk to financial markets. The Federal Reserve Board and subsequently Treasury took steps to ensure that AIG obtained sufficient liquidity and could complete an orderly sale of some of its operating assets and continue to meet its obligations. On September 16, 2008, one day after the Lehman Brothers bankruptcy announcement, the Federal Reserve Board authorized FRBNY to provide a revolving credit facility (RCF) of up to \$85 billion to help AIG meet its obligations. The AIG RCF was created

³³Initially, securities backed by automobile, credit card, student loans, and loans guaranteed by the Small Business Administration were deemed eligible for TALF because of the need to make credit in these sectors more widely available. The Federal Reserve Board later expanded TALF-eligibility to other ABS classes, including commercial mortgage-backed securities.

³⁴TALF loans were made without recourse to the intermediary borrower. However, under the TALF lending agreement, if FRBNY found that the collateral provided for a TALF loan or a borrower who had participated in the program was found to be ineligible, the nonrecourse feature of the loan would become inapplicable.

to provide AIG with a revolving loan that AIG and its subsidiaries could use to address strains on their liquidity. The announcement of this assistance followed a downgrade of the firm's credit rating, which had prompted collateral calls by its counterparties and raised concerns that a rapid failure of the company would further destabilize financial markets. Two key sources of AIG's difficulties were AIG Financial Products Corp. (AIGFP) and a securities lending program operated by insurance subsidiaries of AIG.³⁵ AIGFP faced growing collateral calls on credit default swaps it had written on collateralized debt obligations (CDO).³⁶ Meanwhile, AIG faced demands on its liquidity from securities lending counterparties who were returning borrowed securities and demanding that AIG return their cash collateral. Despite the announcement of the AIG RCF, AIG's condition continued to decline rapidly in fall 2008.

On subsequent occasions, the Federal Reserve Board invoked section 13(3) of the Federal Reserve Act to authorize either new assistance or a restructuring of existing assistance to AIG.

- First, in October 2008, the Federal Reserve Board authorized the creation of the securities borrowing facility (SBF) to provide up to \$37.8 billion of direct funding support to a securities lending program operated by AIG's domestic insurance companies. From October 8, 2008, through December 11, 2008, FRBNY provided cash loans to AIG's domestic life insurance companies, collateralized by investment grade debt obligations.
- In November 2008, as part of plans to restructure the assistance to AIG to further strengthen its financial condition, and once again avert the failure of the company, the Federal Reserve Board and Treasury restructured AIG's debt. Under the restructured terms, Treasury purchased \$40 billion in shares of AIG preferred stock and the cash

³⁵Through AIGFP—a financial products subsidiary that engaged in a variety of financial transactions, including standard and customized financial products—AIG was a participant in the derivatives market. The securities lending program allowed insurance companies, primarily life insurance companies, to lend securities in return for cash collateral that was invested in residential mortgage-backed securities.

³⁶Credit default swaps are bilateral contracts that are sold over the counter and transfer credit risks from one party to another. The seller, who is offering credit protection, agrees, in return for a periodic fee, to compensate the buyer if a specified credit event, such as default, occurs. Collateralized debt obligations are securities backed by a pool of bonds, loans, or other assets.

from the sale was used to pay down a portion of AIG's outstanding balance from the AIG RCF. The limit on the facility also was reduced to \$60 billion, and other changes were made.

- Also in November 2008, the Federal Reserve Board authorized the creation of two SPVs—Maiden Lane II LLC and Maiden Lane III LLC—to purchase certain AIG-related assets. Similar to Maiden Lane LLC, these SPVs funded most of these asset purchases with a senior loan from FRBNY.³⁷ Maiden Lane II replaced the AIG SBF and served as a longer-term solution to the liquidity problems facing AIG's securities lending program. Maiden Lane III purchased the underlying CDOs from AIG counterparties in connection with the termination of credit default swap contracts issued by AIGFP and thus the elimination of liquidity drain from collateral calls on the credit default swaps sold by AIGFP.
- In March 2009, the Federal Reserve Board and Treasury announced plans to further restructure AIG's assistance. According to the Federal Reserve Board, debt owed by AIG on the AIG RCF would be reduced by \$25 billion in exchange for FRBNY's receipt of preferred equity interests totaling \$25 billion in two SPVs. AIG created both SPVs to hold the outstanding common stock of two life insurance company subsidiaries—American Life Insurance Company and AIA Group Limited.³⁸
- Also in March 2009, the Federal Reserve Board authorized FRBNY to provide additional liquidity to AIG by extending credit by purchasing a contemplated securitization of income from certain AIG life insurance operations. FRBNY staff said this life insurance securitization option was abandoned for a number of reasons, including that it would have

³⁷All three Maiden Lane SPVs incorporated a first-loss position for the private sector that was equal to the difference between the total purchase price of the assets and the amount of the FRBNY loan.

³⁸On January 14, 2011, using proceeds from the initial public offering of AIA Group Limited and the sale of American Life Insurance Company to another insurance company, AIG repaid its outstanding balance on the AIG RCF.

	required FRBNY to manage a long-term exposure to life insurance businesses with which it had little experience. ³⁹
Citigroup	On November 23, 2008, the Federal Reserve Board authorized FRBNY to provide a lending commitment to Citigroup as part of a package of coordinated actions by Treasury, FDIC, and the Federal Reserve Board to avert a disorderly failure of the company. ⁴⁰ As discussed in our April 2010 report on Treasury's use of the systemic risk determination, Treasury, FDIC, and the Federal Reserve Board said they provided emergency assistance to Citigroup because they were concerned that the failure of a firm of Citigroup's size and interconnectedness would have had systemic implications. ⁴¹ FRBNY agreed to lend against the residual value of approximately \$300 billion of Citigroup assets if losses on these assets exceeded certain thresholds. On the basis of analyses by the various parties and an outside vendor, FRBNY determined that it would be unlikely that losses on the Citigroup "ring-fence" assets would reach the amount at which FRBNY would be obligated to provide a loan. ⁴² At Citigroup's request, Treasury, FDIC, and FRBNY agreed to terminate this loss sharing agreement in December 2009. As part of the termination agreement, Citigroup agreed to pay a \$50 million termination fee to FRBNY. FRBNY never provided a loan to Citigroup under this lending commitment. ⁴³

⁴¹For more information about the basis for the federal government's assistance to Citigroup, see GAO-10-100.

⁴²The amount of this "attachment point" for FRBNY was approximately \$56.17 billion. Even in stress scenarios, FRBNY did not expect losses to reach this level.

⁴³Although FRBNY did not lend to Citigroup under this lending commitment, FRBNY staff confirmed that Citigroup subsidiaries were permitted under the agreement to pledge ringfence assets as collateral to the Federal Reserve Board's emergency loan programs, such as PDCF, TSLF, and TAF, subject to the terms and conditions for these programs. The Citigroup loss sharing agreement was clear, however, that if FRBNY ever were to lend to Citigroup under the agreement, all such pledges would need to be removed.

³⁹See also GAO, *Troubled Asset Relief Program: Status of Government Assistance Provided to AIG,* GAO-09-975 (Washington, D.C.: Sept. 21, 2009).

⁴⁰As of September 30, 2008, Citigroup was the second largest banking organization in the United States, with total consolidated assets of approximately \$2 trillion. Citigroup was and remains a major supplier of credit and one of the largest deposit holders in the United States and the world.

Bank of America

On January 15, 2009, the Federal Reserve Board authorized FRBR to provide a lending commitment to Bank of America. As with Citigroup, the Federal Reserve Board authorized this assistance as part of a coordinated effort with Treasury and FDIC to assist an institution that the agencies determined to be systemically important. The circumstances surrounding the agencies' decision to provide this arrangement for Bank of America, however, were somewhat different and were the subject of congressional hearings.⁴⁴ While the Citigroup loss-sharing agreement emerged during a weekend over which the agencies attempted to avert an impending failure of the firm, the agencies' discussions with Bank of America about a possible similar arrangement occurred over several weeks during which Bank of America was not facing imminent failure. According to Federal Reserve Board officials, possible assistance for Bank of America was first discussed in late December 2008 when Bank of America management raised concerns about the financial impact of completing the merger with Merrill Lynch, which was expected at the time to announce larger than anticipated losses (and did in fact announce these losses the following month). Following the January 1, 2009, completion of Bank of America's acquisition of Merrill Lynch, the Federal Reserve Board and the other agencies agreed to provide a loss-sharing agreement on selected Merrill Lynch and Bank of America assets to assure markets that unusually large losses on these assets would not destabilize Bank of America. On September 21, 2009, the agencies and FRBR terminated the agreement in principle to enter into a loss sharing agreement with Bank of America. The agreement was never finalized, and FRBR never provided a loan to Bank of America under this lending commitment. As part of the agreement to terminate the agreement in principle, Bank of America paid \$57 million to FRBR in compensation for out-of-pocket expenses incurred by FRBR and an amount equal to the commitment fees required by the agreement.

⁴⁴In June and December 2009, the House of Representatives Subcommittee on Domestic Policy, Committee on Government Oversight and Reform, held hearings on the events that led to federal government assistance to protect Bank of America against losses from Merrill Lynch assets. Committee members expressed concerns about the reasons for this intervention when Bank of America had already agreed to acquire Merrill Lynch without government assistance.

In 2009 and 2010, FRBNY Executed Large-Scale Purchases of Agency MBS to Provide Broader Support to the Economy	On November 25, 2008, the FOMC announced that FRBNY would purchase up to \$500 billion of agency mortgage-backed securities to support the housing market and the broader economy. ⁴⁵ The FOMC authorized the Agency MBS program under its authority to direct open market operations under section 14 of Federal Reserve Act. By purchasing MBS securities with longer maturities, the Agency MBS program was intended to lower long-term interest rates and to improve conditions in mortgage and other financial markets. The Agency MBS program commenced purchases on January 5, 2009, a little more than a month after the initial announcement. FRBNY staff noted that a key operational challenge for the program was its size. FRBNY hired external investment managers to provide execution support and advisory services needed to help execute purchases on such a large scale. In March 2009, the FOMC increased the total amount of planned purchases from \$500 billion to up to \$1.25 trillion. The program executed its final purchases in March 2010 and settlement was completed in August 2010.
Most Programs Were Extended a Few Times before Closing in Early 2010	On several occasions, the Federal Reserve Board authorized extensions of its emergency loan programs, and most of these programs closed on February 1, 2010. For example, AMLF, PDCF, and TSLF were extended three times. The Federal Reserve Board cited continuing disruptions in financial markets in announcing each of these extensions. Table 6 provides a summary of the extensions for the emergency programs.

Table 6: Summary of Extensions for Broad-Based Emergency Programs

Programs extended	Date extension announced	Term of extension	
AMLF, PDCF, and TSLF	December 2, 2008	Original expiration:	January 30, 2009
		New expiration:	April 30, 2009
AMLF, CPFF, MMIFF, PDCF, TSLF, and swap lines with foreign central banks	February 3, 2009	Planned expiration:	April 30, 2009
		New expiration:	October 30, 2009
AMLF, CPFF, PDCF, TSLF, and swap lines with foreign central banks	June 25, 2009	Planned expiration:	October 30, 2009
		New expiration:	February 1, 2010

Source: GAO analysis of Federal Reserve Board press releases and program terms and conditions.

⁴⁵Agency MBS include MBS issued by the housing government-sponsored enterprises, which are Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, or guaranteed by Ginnie Mae.

Note: MMIFF was never used and the Federal Reserve Board allowed it to expire on October 30, 2009. In November 2008, TALF was authorized to make new loans until December 31, 2009, and the Federal Reserve Board later authorized an extension for new loans against most eligible collateral until March 31, 2010, and against one eligible collateral type until June 30, 2010. Other extensions of swap line arrangements were announced on May 2, 2008, and September 29, 2008. In May 2010, FRBNY reopened swap lines with the Bank of Canada, the Bank of England, the European Central Bank, the Bank of Japan, and the Swiss National Bank. These swap lines were initially set to expire on August 1, 2011. On June 29, 2011, the Federal Reserve Board announced an extension of these swap lines through August 1, 2012.

Appendix II: Federal Reserve Bank Director Survey Methodology and Results

Federal Reserve Bank Directors Survey: Survey Methodology	We conducted a brief Web-based survey of all Federal Reserve Bank (FRB) directors that served in 2010. The purpose of this survey was to gather basic information from FRB directors to fulfill GAO's congressional mandate to assess Federal Reserve Bank governance. Specifically, the survey asked about each director's (1) educational and professional background; (2) roles and responsibilities as a FRB director; and (3) opinions on FRB governance. The survey questions and summary results can be found below.
	We sent a survey to all 105 directors that served for the full year during 2010. ¹ We received completed surveys from 91 directors (87 percent response rate). The web-based survey was administered from April 4, 2011, to May 6, 2011. Directors were sent an e-mail invitation to complete the survey on a GAO web server using a unique username and password. Nonrespondents received a reminder e-mail from GAO to complete the survey. We also contacted the corporate secretaries at every bank and asked them to encourage their directors to participate in the survey. Even though we received responses from a majority of directors in all 12 banks, it is possible some bias may exist in certain survey responses if characteristics of respondents differed from those of nonrespondents in ways that affect the responses (e.g., if any knew of a potential conflict of interest at their bank they may or may not be less likely to respond to the survey).
	The practical difficulties of conducting any survey may introduce additional nonsampling errors, such as difficulties interpreting a particular question, which can introduce unwanted variability into the survey results. We took steps to minimize nonsampling errors by pretesting the questionnaire with three directors in February and March 2011. We conducted pretests to make sure that the questions were clear and unbiased and that the questionnaire did not place an undue burden on respondents. An independent reviewer within GAO also reviewed a draft of the questionnaire prior to its administration. We made appropriate revisions to the content and format of the questionnaire after the pretests and independent review. All data analysis programs were independently verified for accuracy.

¹Three Reserve Banks had a vacant director position at some time during 2010, reducing the total number of directors who served the full year during 2010 from 108 to 105.

Survey of Federal Reserve Bank Directors: Survey Questions and Results

Section I: Your Background:

We are interested in learning about the breadth of experience that Federal Reserve Bank directors bring to their positions on the Board.

1. How many years have you served as a Federal Reserve Bank head office director?

Responses	Missing	Mean	Low	High
89	2	3.3483	1	9

2. Educational Background of Federal Reserve Bank directors.

Degrees	Number of Directors Reporting Degree Completed
Associate's degree (for example: AA, AS)	8
Bachelor's degree (for example: BA,BS)	80
At least one Advanced Degree (Master's, Professional, or Doctorate) ^a	55
Master's degree (for example: MA, MS, MBA)	42
Professional degree (for example: MD, DDS, JD)	17
Doctorate (for example: PhD, EdD)	4

^aSome respondents may have more than one advanced degree

3. Work experience of Federal Reserve Bank directors.

Industries	Number of Directors Reporting Experience in the Industry
Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Hunting	12
Mining, Quarrying, and Oil and Gas Extraction	9
Utilities	8
Construction	14
Manufacturing	25
Wholesale Trade	11
Retail Trade	16
Transportation and Warehousing	14
Information (Publishing, Broadcasting, and Telecommunications)	2
Financial Services (directors who selected at least one of the following five categories)	56

Industries	Number of Directors Reporting Experience in the Industry
Credit Intermediation and Related Activities	21
Securities, Commodity Contracts, and Other Financial Investments and Related Activities	21
Insurance Carriers and Related Activities	9
Funds, Trusts, and Other Financial Vehicles	23
Offices of bank or other holding companies/ Corporate, Subsidiary, and Regional Managing Offices	41
Real Estate and Rental and Leasing	16
Professional, Scientific, and Technical Services (Legal, accounting, consulting, design, advertising, and public relations services)	21
Administrative and Support and Waste Management and Remediation Services	2
Educational Services	10
Health Care or Social Assistance	10
Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation	5
Accommodation and Food Services	4
Public Administration	12

Note: This list of industries is based on the 2007 North American Industry Classification System (NAICS).

4. Do you currently serve on any other boards (i.e., nonprofit, private or public company boards)?

	Frequency	Percent
Yes	86	94.51
No	5	5.49

5. Has someone from your current employer served as a Federal Reserve Bank (FRB) board director in the past 10 years?

	Frequency	Percent
Yes	6	6.59
No	83	91.21
Not sure	2	2.2
Section II: Your Roles and Responsibilities as a FRB Director

We are interested in learning about your duties as a Federal Reserve Bank director.

6. As a FRB Director, which of the following do you primarily represent? (check only one box)

	Frequency	Percent
The public	56	61.54
Your business/company	3	3.3
Banks in your district	23	25.27
Other businesses/companies in your district	3	3.3
Other (please specify below):	6	6.59

Seven directors provided an open-ended response to describe who they represent. Four directors indicated that their constituencies included the public, their business or industry, and other businesses or industries in the district. The other three directors listed food manufacturing and private equity, labor, transportation, communications, construction, and the public sector, and civic leadership and the nonprofit sector as the industries that they represent.

7. The three principal functions of FRB directors are listed below. Within each of these principal functions, which activities have you been involved in at your FRB? (check one box per question)

Responsibility & Activities	Yes	No	Not Checked
i. Overseeing the management of the Reserve Banks and Branches, with directors using their outside experience and judgment			
Appointing senior bank officers	62	27	2
Reviewing and approving the final FRB budget	82	8	1
Overseeing bank operations, such as cash and check clearing, or payment systems, etc.	57	29	5
Making procurement decisions	13	72	6
ii. Participating in the formulation of national monetary and credit policies			
 Collecting information from business and community leaders on the status of the regional and local economy to share with the FRB Board and Bank President 		1	1

Responsibility & Activities	Yes	No	Not Checked
 Submitting a written report on local economic conditions to the FRB Board and Bank President 	21	64	6
 Presenting an oral report on local economic conditions to the FRB Board and Bank President 	88	1	2
iii. Acting as a link between the Federal Reserve and the private sector			
Giving speeches to local community groups	42	46	3
 Talking to smaller, informal groups about the Federal Reserve Bank's mission 	72	19	0

8. How frequently do you communicate with the following Reserve Bank personnel while carrying out your official duties? (check one box per person)

	Frequ	uently	Occasio	onally	Infreque as nee		Nota	at All	Not Che	ecked
Bank Official	#	%	#	%	#	%	#	%	#	%
Bank President	52	57.14	30	32.97	9	9.89	0	0	0	0
First Vice President	42	46.15	35	38.46	13	14.29	1	1.1	0	0
Corporate Secretary	37	40.66	38	41.76	16	17.58	0	0	0	0
General Counsel	17	18.68	35	38.46	34	37.36	5	5.49	0	0
Ethics Officer (may be the same person who serves as Corporate Secretary or General Counsel)	8	8.79	32	35.16	39	42.86	11	12.09	1	1.1
Director of Research	17	18.68	41	45.05	24	26.37	7	7.69	2	2.2
Director of Supervision and Regulation	3	3.3	32	35.16	28	30.77	28	30.77	0	0
General Auditor	36	39.56	24	26.37	22	24.18	9	9.89	0	0
Other members of senior management	7	7.69	42	46.15	36	39.56	5	5.49	1	1.1
Other (please specify below):	4	4.4	2	2.2	7	7.69	8	8.79	70	76.92

In the open-ended question that asked directors to specify what "other" FRB staff with whom they interacted, directors listed the following staff members: assistants to senior management, executive vice president of operations, vice president of Information Technology, assistant general auditor, librarian, Federal Reserve Information Technology officers, members of the Federal Reserve Board, presidents of other Reserve Banks, other staff as questions arise, and vice president of Human Resources/Diversity.

9. In the past year, in your role as a director, have you been involved in any Division of Supervision and Regulation matters in which you did any of the following: (check one box per question)

Su	pervision and Regulation Activities	Yes	No	Not Checked
•	Were involved in making decisions about specific banks that the FRB supervises?	0	91	0
•	Received general information about the supervisory status of banks in the district?	35	56	0
•	Received supervisory information about the status of any specific banks?	2	89	0
•	Were involved in making personnel decisions about pay or promotion for employees in the Division of Supervision and Regulation?	21	69	1
•	Were involved in making decisions about the budget for the Division of Supervision and Regulation?	22	68	1
•	Had other involvement with the Division of Supervision and Regulation not described above?	6	85	0

GAO asked directors who answered "yes" to any of these questions to explain their answer. We analyzed the open ended answers for this question and no improper conflicts of interest were identified.

10. The following questions are about the FRB's code or standards of conduct for directors (code). Did you do any of the following? (check one box per question)

Sta	indard of Conduct	Yes	No	Don't Remember	Not Checked
•	Receive training on the code at your FRB at the beginning of your term in office?	90	0	1	0
•	Receive training on the code in Washington, D.C. at the beginning of your term in office?	67	9	15	0
•	Sign an oath of office at the beginning of your term agreeing to adhere to the code?	77	1	13	0
•	Receive an annual briefing on the code of conduct by a member of the bank's senior management?	79	3	7	2
•	Sign an annual certification agreeing to adhere to the code?	65	4	21	1

GAO asked directors who answered "no" to any of the above questions to provide an explanation. Four directors stated they were unable to attend the training in Washington, D.C. Two directors said they attended the training but did not receive training on the code of conduct and two other directors said they did not recall if they signed an annual certification.

11. Are you aware of any past or current conflicts of interest with any FRB directors in your district?

Aware of Conflicts	Frequency	Percent
Yes	5	5.49
No	86	94.51

GAO asked directors who responded "yes" to this question to explain the conflict and how it was resolved. Five directors provided responses to this open-ended question on the survey. Two of the responses described actual or potential conflicts of interest involving procurement matters and the directors recused themselves from voting on the matter. One of those directors also noted that the CEO of Lehman Brothers, Inc., resigned as a director because the company was requesting assistance from the FRB. Another described a director who resigned because he expressed a desire to be involved in a political campaign. One director declined a board position at another entity because of perceived conflicts of interest. Another director noted that the board was apprised of a potential conflict of interest between a branch director and FRB auditors, and that the situation was resolved and reported to the Audit Committee.

Section III: Your Opinions on FRB Governance

We are interested in learning about your views on how, if at all, Federal Reserve Bank governance practices could be strengthened.

- 12. In terms of Federal Reserve Bank governance, how would you strengthen achievement in the following areas, if at all? Please include examples of practices in your district or from other relevant board experience that may assist the Federal Reserve System in strengthening achievement in the following areas.
 - a. Improve public representation on FRB Boards?
 - b. Eliminate actual or potential conflicts of interest of Reserve Bank directors?

- c. Increase the availability of information useful for the formation and execution of monetary policy?
- d. Increase the effectiveness or efficiency of reserve banks?

The open-ended responses were analyzed and included as examples in the report when appropriate.

Appendix III: Federal Reserve Banks Board Committees

The Reserve Bank boards use committees to help oversee the operations of the Reserve Banks and their branches. The Federal Reserve Board requires all Reserve Banks to have standing audit committees and as needed search committees for the selection and appointment of a president. The Reserve Banks use various other committees, including budget and governance committees.

Table 7: Federal Reserve Banks Board Committees

Federal Reserve Bank	Committee	Description
Boston		
	Audit Committee	Assists the board in overseeing the bank's internal audit function, external auditor, risk management program, and system of internal controls
	Nominating and Governance Committee	Assists the board by identifying and recommending candidates for open director positions, selecting members of board committees in accordance with the bylaws, and reviewing and recommending improvements to board governance practices
	Business Commitments and Performance Committee	Reviews and makes recommendations to the board regarding the bank's annual plan and budget, significant capital expenditures, and operating performance including centrally provided Federal Reserve System services affecting the bank
	Research and Regional Outreach Committee	Reviews and provides advice to the president on the economic research program and other activities of the Research Department, public and community affairs programs, and other outreach efforts undertaken by the bank
	Executive Committee	Subject to the supervision and control of the board, has the power, between meetings of the board, to direct the business of the bank, and to exercise all the power and authority vested by law in the board
New York		
	Audit and Operational Risk Committee	Assists the board in monitoring (1) the integrity of the financial statements of the bank, (2) the bank's external auditor's qualifications and independence, (3) the performance of the bank's internal audit function and external auditors, (4) internal controls and the measurement of operational risk, and (5) the compliance by the bank with legal and regulatory requirements
	Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee	Considers and makes recommendations concerning board and board committee membership; assigns board members to board committees; evaluates the performance of the board committees and their members; and reviews and revises the charters of board committees
	Management and Budget Committee	Reviews and endorses the bank's strategic plan, budget and self-evaluation of the bank's performance, prepared by bank management, prior to submission to the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System for action
	Executive Committee	Has the power to direct the business of the bank, and to exercise all the power and authority vested by law in the board insofar as such power and authority may lawfully be delegated to the Executive Committee

Federal Reserve	Committee	Description
Bank Philadelphia	Committee	Description
	Audit Committee	Responsible for ensuring the effectiveness and independence of the internal audit function, as well as to provide assistance to the board of directors by ensuring that management maintains an effective system of internal control
	Nominating and Governance Committee	Responsible for reviewing, evaluating, and recommending changes to board practices; considering all matters of corporate governance; and supporting bank management in its cultivation of quality director candidates
	Management and Budget Committee	Responsible for reviewing operating targets and objectives, as well as the financial costs associated with their accomplishment
	Executive Committee	Has the power to direct the business of the bank, and to exercise all the power and authority vested by law in the board insofar as such power and authority may lawfully be delegated to the committee
Cleveland		
	Audit Review Committee	Has the primary responsibility for maintaining contact with the General Auditor and satisfying itself that appropriate audit programs and procedures are maintained by the Audit Department
	Corporate Governance Committee	Responsible for reviewing the bank's bylaws and governance-related management policies, as well as conducting the board's annual evaluation, reviewing compensation and performance plans for the president and first vice president, and assisting the board in the appointment of branch directors
	Operations/Resource Committee	Responsible for assisting the board of directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities related to strategy and budget, major personnel policies, and initiatives including diversity and inclusion, talent management and compensation, and overall bank operations. The committee also serves as the oversight body responsible for ensuring the bank has implemented an effective enterprise risk management program and practices
	Executive Committee	Has the power to direct the affairs of the bank and to exercise all the power and authority vested by law in the board
Richmond		
	Audit Committee	Has the primary responsibility for maintaining contact with the General Auditor and shall satisfy itself that appropriate audit programs and procedures are maintained by the Audit Department and that the General Auditor has proper official status and sufficient staff, both numerically and qualitatively, to discharge the responsibilities of the General Auditor's office
	Committee on Planning & Operations	Oversees the strategic plan and strategic planning process and budget, budget process, and financial performance
	Committee on Human Resources	Meets with the president, first vice president, and senior officer in charge of Human Resources to develop recommendations concerning adjustments in executive vice president and senior vice president salary structures. The committee also reviews and approves official executive vice president and senior vice president appointments, promotions, and other recommendations made by the president and first vice president before approval by the board of directors

Federal Reserve Bank	Committee	Description
Dank	Executive Committee	Has the power (1) to establish from time to time, as required by law, rates of discount and purchase for each class of paper, subject to review and determination of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and (2) to exercise generally between meetings of the board all other powers of the board of directors, except as may be otherwise provided in the bylaws
Atlanta		
	Audit Committee	Performs functions necessary to assess the effectiveness and independence of the bank's internal and external audit function in providing an independent and objective assessment of the bank's risk management, control, and governance processes
	Operations Oversight Committee	Provides board oversight and linkage to the district and national business operations of the bank
	Executive Committee	Has the power to direct the business of the bank, including the power to establish discount rates and to exercise all powers and authority vested by law in the board of directors in so far as such powers and authority may lawfully be delegated to the Executive Committee
Chicago		
	Audit Committee	Responsible for assessing the effectiveness and independence of the bank's internal audit function and for those other matters specified in the Audit Committee charter
	Governance and Human Resources Committee	Finds and encourages qualified individuals to run for elected director positions or agree to have their names submitted to the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the board for appointed positions and considers matters of corporate governance and human resources and for those matters specified in the Governance and Human Resources Committee charter
	System Activities, Bank Operations and Risk Committee	Oversees the bank's local and national business operations to ensure adherence to strategies and standards set for the Federal Reserve System, the bank's operations, performance and budget and for those matters specified in the committee charter
	Executive Committee	Available to act for the board between board meetings or whenever a quorum is not present at a board meeting
St. Louis		
	Audit Committee	Has the primary responsibility for maintaining contact with the General Auditor, and shall satisfy itself that appropriate audit programs and procedures are maintained, and that the General Auditor has proper official status and sufficient staff, both numerically and qualitatively, to discharge the responsibilities of the office
	Governance and Operations Committee	Subject to the supervision and control of the board of directors, shall consider matters pertaining to the material activities of the bank, its human resources policies and practices, and shall review the practices of the board of directors and its committees
	Executive Committee	Has the power to direct the business of the bank and to excise all the power and authority vested by law in the board of directors

Federal Reserve	O musitte e	Description
Bank Minneapolis	Committee	Description
	Audit Committee	Assesses the effectiveness and independence of the internal audit function and reports the results of those assessments to the board of directors
	Nominating Committee	Considers candidates for Board of Governors-appointed directorships at Minneapolis and the two Board of Governors-appointed directorships at the Helena branch
	Executive Committee	Has the general power, during intervals between meetings of the bank board, to supervise and control the business of the bank, and the power, subject to review and determination of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, to set the discount rates of the bank
	Budget/Evaluation Committee	Primary responsibility is to review in detail the Bank's annual planning and budgeting prior to consideration by the board of directors. The committee also serves to acquaint directors with Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System's' evaluations of bank performance and with the rationale for bank responses to such evaluations, including resource tradeoffs and unique needs of the district
Kansas City		
	Audit Committee	Primary purpose is to assist the board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to (1) the integrity of the bank's financial statements, (2) the evaluation and retention of the independent auditor, (3) the performance of the bank's Internal Audit function, (4) the bank's compliance with its Code of Conduct, and (5) the bank's risk management policies and practices
	Buildings Committee	Provides general oversight on behalf of the bank's board of directors for significant construction or renovation projects undertaken by the bank
	Compensation Committee	Responsible for approving the limits of the bank's compensation program subject to such approvals as may be required by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
	Search Committee	Responsible for leading the search process to identify qualified candidates for the position of president, chief executive officer, and first vice president
	Executive Committee	Has the authority to conduct the business of the bank in the interims between meetings of the board of directors, including the authority to establish rates of discount pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Reserve Act
Dallas		
	Audit Committee	Provides assistance to the board of directors in fulfilling their responsibility to ensure that management maintains an effective system of internal control
	Budget, Planning and Compensation Committee	Has the authority to review and comment on the bank's budget document, which includes the bank's general approach to salary administration for officers and employees, prior to its presentation to the full board of directors
	Nominating and Governance Committee	Provides assistance to the board of directors in fulfilling its responsibilities on matters relating to (1) guiding the board in an annual review of the board's performance and the performance of board committees, (2) assisting the identification of candidates qualified to become Class B and Class C directors, and (3) recommending to the board the director nominees for each committee of the board

Federal Reserve Bank	Committee	Description
	Executive Committee	Has the power to conduct the business of the bank in the interims between meetings of the board of directors, including the power to establish from time to time rates of discount in pursuance of the provisions of Section 14 of the Federal Reserve Act
San Francisco		
	Audit & Risk Management Committee	Assists the board of directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibility to ensure that management achieves organizational objectives principally by promoting and evaluating the effectiveness and independence of the internal audit function
	Bank Performance Committee	Reviews the bank's strategic direction and the performance of the bank, the president, and the first vice president on behalf of the board of directors
	Community & Public Affairs Committee	Assists the bank in carrying out its outreach and education programs
	Executive Committee	Has the power to conduct the business of the bank, and to exercise all the power and authority vested by law in the Board insofar as such power and authority may lawfully be delegated to the committee

Source: GAO summary of various Reserve Bank bylaws and committee charters (2009-2011) and Reserve Bank officials.

Appendix IV: Ten Largest Domestic Bank Holding Companies by Total Asset Size as of December 31, 2010

Domestic bank holding companies	Total Assets as of 12/31/10 (Dollars in thousands)
1. Bank of America Corporation	\$2,268,347,377
2. JPMorgan Chase & Co.	\$2,117,605,000
3. Citigroup Inc.	\$1,913,902,000
4. Wells Fargo & Company	\$1,258,128,000
5. The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.	\$911,330,000
6. Morgan Stanley	\$807,698,000
7. Metlife, Inc.	\$730,905,863
8. U.S. Bancorp	\$307,786,000
9. The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.	\$264,414,112
10. The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation	\$247,222,000

Source: GAO analysis of data from the National Information Center

Appendix V: Comments from the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System

	BOARD OF GOVERNORS
	WASHINGTON, D. C. 2055
	BEN S. BERNANKE
	October 12, 2011 CHAIRMAN
	Ms. Orice Williams Brown
	Managing Director
	Financial Markets and Community Investment
	Government Accountability Office
	441 G Street, N.W. Workington, D.C. 20548
	Washington, D.C. 20548
	Dear Ms. Brown:
	Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the GAO's draft report on
	Federal Reserve Bank Governance (GAO-12-18). The Federal Reserve
	Board and Reserve Banks appreciate the hard work and completeness of the
	review by the GAO of Federal Reserve Bank governance.
	The Federal Reserve System has a unique structure and governance
	framework that was established by Congress in 1913. In creating a central
	bank for the United States nearly a century ago, Congress determined in the
	Federal Reserve Act to blend a policy-making government agency with
	12 banks in regions across the nation that had strong and direct ties to their
	respective regions. By adopting a structure that provides representatives from all parts of the nation a direct voice in the development and
	implementation of monetary policy, Congress hoped to encourage the
	development of national policies that are informed by information and
	insights about local economies and businesses throughout the United States
	rather than by the needs or opinions of only a single region. Moreover, by
	establishing the Reserve Banks as government chartered entities with private shareholders and corporate boards of directors that include bankers,
	Congress also was able to fund the Federal Reserve without reliance on
	taxpayer money and to provide that the banking operations of each regional
	Reserve Bank would be overseen by a board of directors that includes some
	directors with banking expertise.
1	





4 The final recommendation by GAO is that the Reserve Banks publish their key governance documents and policies. The Federal Reserve Board agrees that publication of its Eligibility Policy as well as the Guide to Conduct would help directors, potential candidates and the public understand the duties and expectations placed on Reserve Bank directors. Consequently, the Federal Reserve Board will post these policies on our public website. We will also work with the Reserve Banks to make available to the public other relevant governance documents and information, such as Reserve Bank bylaws, general information about the director appointment and election processes, and information about the identity of directors and their terms of office. The unique nature and structure of the Federal Reserve System raises important issues of governance for the Federal Reserve. We appreciate the attention of the GAO to this matter and are committed to continuing to act within the framework of the Federal Reserve Act to improve governance throughout the Federal Reserve System. Sincerely,

Appendix VI: Comments from the Federal Reserve Banks

HEERNE BANK			
	FEDERAL RESERVE BANK		
	OF DALLAS		
CERTIN DISTING			
RICHARD W. FISHER PRESIDENT	2200 N. PEARL ST.		
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER	DALLAS, TX 75201-2272		
	October 12, 2011		
Ms. Orice Williams Bro	wn		
Managing Director			
Financial Markets and C	•		
Government Accountab 441 G Street, NW	lity Office		
Washington, D.C. 2054	3		
5,			
Dear Ms. Brown:			
Thank you for the	e opportunity to respond to the GAO's draft report on Federal Reserve		
Bank Governance (GAC	0-12-18). I am writing this response as Chair of the Conference of		
Presidents of the Federa	Reserve Banks, and the thoughts expressed here represent the		
consensus opinion of all			
Chairman Dama			
	nke has sent you a letter in response to the GAO report, and the Reserve		
Bank governance. The	Bank presidents would like to add our thanks to his for your thorough review of Federal Reserve Bank governance. The presidents share the perspectives expressed by the Chairman regarding		
the structure and govern	ance framework of the Federal Reserve System, and we are sending this		
letter to express our unit	ed views with respect to the GAO's recommendations.		
The four recomm	conditions in the manufacture in succession (b, D, 1, 1, D, D, 1, 1)		
The four recommendations in the report address improving the Federal Reserve Banks'			
governance through increased diversity and transparency. These attributes are valued and supported uniformly by all Reserve Banks.			
	en and continues to be supported by the Federal Reserve's director-		
selection process, which	began with the establishment of the Federal Reserve System almost 100		
years ago. For instance,	the Federal Reserve Act and its subsequent amendments provide that:		
Directors	are to be chosen with due consideration to the interests of agriculture,		
	e, industry, services, labor and consumers, without discrimination on the		
basis of r	ace, creed, color, sex, or national origin.		
• Cortain d	inactors are to represent the interacts of months have been been been been been been been be		
legally re	irectors are to represent the interests of member banks, while others are quired to represent the public.		
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	ectors are elected by local member banks, while others are appointed by		
the Feder	al Reserve Board, in order to balance regional and national perspectives.		
	· ·		
	P.O. BOX 655906 DALLAS, TEXAS 75265-5906		

Ms. Orice Williams Brown -2-October 12, 2011 As Bank presidents, we believe that monetary policy is strongest when formed through multiple, differing perspectives; thus, various types of diversity are invaluable to us Accordingly, we welcome the GAO's recommendation that our Banks consider ways to broaden the pool of potential candidates for directors. In fact, as noted in Chairman Bernanke's letter, several Reserve Banks have already broadened the pool of candidates for Class A and Class B positions to consider qualified candidates who are not chief executives, as the GAO recommends. Regarding the GAO's other recommendations, we agree that transparency could be enhanced by: More clearly documenting the roles and responsibilities of the Reserve Bank directors in our bylaws, Formalizing a process for Reserve Banks to request waivers from the director eligibility policy, and Publishing our key governance documents on our websites. • We appreciate the GAO's acknowledgement of the considerable amount of work already being done within Reserve Banks to increase transparency. We also appreciate the GAO's recognition of the many safeguards already in place to address potential conflicts of interest. Federal Reserve governance has proved to be remarkably effective and resilient since its inception in 1913. Nevertheless, any such system can benefit from an objective review in search of how it might be improved. We appreciate the GAO's efforts in this regard, and we will give serious consideration to implementing the recommendations made. Sincerely, Kichand John

Appendix VII: GAO Contact and Staff Acknowledgments

GAO Contact	Orice Williams Brown, (202) 512-8678 or williamso@gao.gov
GAO Acknowledgments	In addition to the contact named above, Karen Tremba (Assistant Director), Sonja Bensen, Kathleen Boggs, Tania Calhoun, Emily Chalmers, Helen Culbertson, Rachel DeMarcus, Heather Hampton, Grace Haskins, Camille Keith, Jill Lacey, Marc Molino, Rubin Montes de Oca, and Andrew Stavisky made significant contributions to this report.

GAO's Mission	The Government Accountability Office, the audit, evaluation, and investigative arm of Congress, exists to support Congress in meeting its constitutional responsibilities and to help improve the performance and accountability of the federal government for the American people. GAO examines the use of public funds; evaluates federal programs and policies; and provides analyses, recommendations, and other assistance to help Congress make informed oversight, policy, and funding decisions. GAO's commitment to good government is reflected in its core values of accountability, integrity, and reliability.
Obtaining Copies of GAO Reports and Testimony	The fastest and easiest way to obtain copies of GAO documents at no cost is through GAO's website (www.gao.gov). Each weekday afternoon, GAO posts on its website newly released reports, testimony, and correspondence. To have GAO e-mail you a list of newly posted products, go to www.gao.gov and select "E-mail Updates."
Order by Phone	The price of each GAO publication reflects GAO's actual cost of production and distribution and depends on the number of pages in the publication and whether the publication is printed in color or black and white. Pricing and ordering information is posted on GAO's website, http://www.gao.gov/ordering.htm.
	Place orders by calling (202) 512-6000, toll free (866) 801-7077, or TDD (202) 512-2537.
	Orders may be paid for using American Express, Discover Card, MasterCard, Visa, check, or money order. Call for additional information.
Connect with GAO	Connect with GAO on Facebook, Flickr, Twitter, and YouTube. Subscribe to our RSS Feeds or E-mail Updates. Listen to our Podcasts. Visit GAO on the web at www.gao.gov.
To Report Fraud,	Contact:
Waste, and Abuse in Federal Programs	Website: www.gao.gov/fraudnet/fraudnet.htm E-mail: fraudnet@gao.gov Automated answering system: (800) 424-5454 or (202) 512-7470
Congressional Relations	Ralph Dawn, Managing Director, dawnr@gao.gov, (202) 512-4400 U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7125 Washington, DC 20548
Public Affairs	Chuck Young, Managing Director, youngc1@gao.gov, (202) 512-4800 U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7149 Washington, DC 20548